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PART I  

ITEM 1. BUSINESS  
General  
Highwoods Properties, Inc. (the "Company") is a self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust ("REIT") that began 
operations through a predecessor in 1978. Originally founded to over-see the development, leasing and management of the 201-acre 
Highwoods Office Center in Raleigh, North Carolina, the Company has since evolved into one of the largest full service real estate companies 
in the Southeastern United States. Historically, the Company's real estate operations have been focused in the Raleigh-Durham, North Carolina 
market, an area also known as the Research Triangle, one of the nation's premier business centers. On June 14, 1994, the Company completed 
an initial public offering of 8,510,000 shares of Common Stock in connection with the reorganization of the Company's predecessor, whereby 
the Company succeeded to the ownership of 36 suburban office buildings, four service center properties, one warehouse facility and 94 acres of 
undeveloped land (the "Formation Transaction"). As of December 31, 1995, the Company owned a portfolio of 191 in-service office and 
industrial properties (the "Properties") and 203 acres of undeveloped land suitable for future development (the "Development Land"). The 
Properties consist of 87 suburban office properties and 104 industrial properties (including 68 service centers) located in Raleigh-Durham, 
Winston-Salem, Greensboro and Charlotte, North Carolina and Richmond, Virginia.  
The Company currently conducts all of its business and owns all of its assets through Highwoods/Forsyth Limited Partnership (the "Operating 
Partnership") and its subsidiaries. The Company is the sole general partner and also a limited partner of the Operating Partnership and currently 
holds approximately 84% of the partnership interests ("Units"). The Company currently provides management services for 23 properties owned 
by third parties, comprising approximately 847,000 square feet, and exclusive leasing services with respect to 29 third-party-owned properties, 
comprising approximately 1.7 million square feet. The Company conducts its third-party fee-based services through two subsidiaries, 
Highwoods Services, Inc. and Forsyth Properties Services, Inc. (the "Service Companies"), as well as through Forsyth-Carter Brokerage of 
North Carolina, L.L.C., a joint venture with Carter-Oncor International.  
The Company's executive offices are located at 3100 Smoketree Court, Suite 600, Raleigh, North Carolina 27604, and its telephone number is 
(919) 872-4924. The Company also maintains divisional offices at 380 Knollwood, Suite 430, Winston-Salem, North Carolina 27103, 
telephone number (910) 631-9000 and 4405 Cox Road, Suite 220, Glen Allen, Virginia 23060, telephone number (804) 747-7800.  
Business Objectives and Strategy of the Company The Company seeks to maximize the total return to its stockholders (i) through contractual 
increases in rental rates from existing leases, (ii) by renewing or re-leasing space with expiring leases at higher effective rental rates, (iii) by 
increasing occupancy levels in properties, (iv) by acquiring new properties, (v) by developing new properties, including properties on the 
Development Land, and (vi) by providing a complete line of real estate services to the Company's tenants and to third parties. The Company 
believes that its in-house development, acquisition, construction management, leasing, brokerage and management services allow it to respond 
to many demands of its existing and potential tenant base, and enable it to provide its tenants cost-effective services such as build-to-suit 
construction and space modification, including tenant improvements and expansions. In addition, the breadth of the Company's capabilities and 
resources, particularly its in-house leasing and third-party brokerage services, provides it with market information not generally available and 
gives the Company increased access to development, acquisition and management opportunities. The Company believes that the operating 
efficiencies achieved through its fully integrated organization also provide a competitive advantage in setting its lease rates and pricing its other 
services.  
The Company's strategy is to focus its real estate activities in markets where it believes its extensive local knowledge gives it a competitive 
advantage over other real estate developers and operators with less local experience, particularly with regard to site selection, market 
information and clients. Through its 1995 business combinations with Forsyth Properties, Inc. and Ross-Kreckman Management Corporation, 
the Company was able to diversify its portfolio to include industrial properties and to expand its geographic  
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focus beyond the Raleigh-Durham market to include Winston-Salem/Greensboro and the Richmond, Virginia markets, while maintaining its 
localized approach to real estate. The Company continued to diversify its portfolio with its acquisitions in Charlotte, North Carolina. See 
"Recent Developments." In addition, the Company has recently entered into a letter of intent to purchase a significant portfolio in Nashville, 
Tennessee. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." The Company's executive officers 
have an average of approximately 18 years of experience in the real estate industry almost exclusively in their local markets.  
The Company seeks to acquire suburban office and industrial properties at prices below replacement cost that offer attractive returns, including 
acquisitions of underperforming, high-quality assets in situations offering opportunities for the Company to improve such assets' operating 
performance. In evaluating potential acquisition opportunities, the Company will continue to rely on the extensive experience of its 
management and its research capabilities in considering a number of factors, including: (i) whether the property is strategically located, (ii) the 
construction quality and condition of the property, (iii) the occupancy and demand of properties of a similar type in the market and (iv) whether 
the property is able to generate returns at or above levels of expected growth and appreciation in the property's value. (See "Recent 
Developments" for a discussion of the Company's acquisition and development activities during 1995.) The Company also believes that its 203 
acres of development land should provide it with a competitive advantage in its future development activities.  
The Company may from time to time acquire properties from property owners through the exchange of Units in the Operating Partnership for 
the property owner's equity in the acquired property. The Units received by these property owners would be exchangeable into shares of 
Common Stock of the Company under certain circumstances. In connection with the transactions, the Company may also assume outstanding 
indebtedness associated with the acquired properties. The Company believes that this acquisition method may permit the Company to acquire 
properties at attractive prices from property owners wishing to enter into tax-deferred transactions. Using the foregoing structure, the Company 
has acquired 87 properties since its inception, comprising 4.9 million rentable square feet. The acquisitions include the Forsyth, Research 
Commons, and Hock properties, and a portion of the properties in the Bissell portfolio and the Richmond expansion. See "Recent 
Developments." The Company will also selectively seek opportunities for fee-producing development, management and brokerage business 
with third-party owners through the Service Companies and Forsyth-Carter Brokerage.  
The Company is also committed to maintaining a capital structure that will allow it to grow through development and acquisition opportunities. 
As part of this commitment, the Company intends to operate with a ratio of debt to total market capitalization below 40%. At March 1, 1996, 
the ratio of debt to total market capitalization (based on a Common Stock price of $30 per share) is approximately 21%. The Company believes 
that as a result of this debt level it should be able to borrow funds at attractive rates. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations -- Liquidity and Capital Resources."  
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Recent Developments  
Merger and Acquisition Activity  
The following table summarizes the mergers and acquisitions completed during the year ended December 31, 1995 (dollars in thousands):  

 

A significant portion of the Company's growth during 1995 resulted from its expansion into new markets. The Company entered three new 
markets and established two divisional offices as a result of the Forsyth Transaction and the Richmond Expansion (both transactions defined 
below). Forsyth Transaction  
On February 23, 1995, the Company consummated a transaction with Forsyth Properties, Inc. and its affiliates (collectively, "Forsyth"), 
pursuant to which the Company and Forsyth combined their respective property portfolios, management teams and business operations (the 
"Forsyth Transaction"). As part of the Forsyth Transaction, the Company succeeded to the ownership of an additional 20 suburban office 
properties, 37 industrial properties and approximately 76 acres of development land located primarily in Winston-Salem and Greensboro, North 
Carolina, an area known as the Piedmont Triad. The Forsyth-owned properties totaled approximately 3.6 million square feet. As consideration 
for the Forsyth Transaction, the Company assumed approximately $122.8 million of indebtedness, paid approximately $6.0 million in cash to 
certain non-continuing investors, and issued 904,478 Units in the Operating Partnership to certain executive officers of Forsyth and certain 
holders of direct or indirect interests in the Forsyth properties. In connection with the Forsyth Transaction, the Company completed a second 
public offering of 5,640,000 shares of Common Stock at $20.75 per share.  
Richmond Expansion  
On July 12, 1995, the Company acquired two suburban office properties located in Innsbrook Office Center in Richmond, Virginia. The 
properties, encompassing 97,672 rentable square feet, were purchased for the aggregate purchase price of $8.3 million. The purchase price was 
paid through the assumption of $7.9 million of indebtedness and cash of $0.4 million.  
On September 1, 1995, the Company established a Richmond office upon the completion of its acquisition of the Ross-Kreckman Management 
Corporation. Furthermore, on September 20, 1995, and October 10, 1995, the Company completed the acquisition of six suburban office 
properties and two service center properties encompassing 265,172 square feet in the Innsbrook Office Center in Richmond, Virginia. The 
purchase price for the properties totaled approximately $20.4 million and was funded through the assumption of $5.7 million of indebtedness, 
the issuance of 40,319 Units and the payment of $13.7 million in cash.  
The Company has entered into a contract with the original developer of the Innsbrook Office Center to acquire 64 acres of development land in 
the park at a fixed price of $10.2 million. In January, 1996, the Company acquired the first 10 acres of this land for an aggregate purchase price 
of $1.8 million in cash. The Company will acquire the remaining 54 acres over a five-year period commencing with the closing date.  
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                                                                             Number of     Rentable       Initial 
              Property                              Location                 Properties   Square Feet      Cost 
Forsyth Transaction                   Piedmont Tria d/Charlotte                   57        3,630,565     $ 169,900  
Richmond Expansion                    Richmond                                   10          362,844        28,700  
Research Commons                      Research Tria ngle                           6          539,310        60,000  
Creekstone Crossing                   Research Tria ngle                           1           59,299         4,500  
Bissell Portfolio                     Piedmont Tria d/Charlotte                   56          920,283        36,900  
Hock Portfolio                        Research Tria ngle                           5          274,604        21,200  
Six Forks I & II                      Research Tria ngle                           2           89,470         8,800  
Cotton                                Research Tria ngle                           1           40,035         2,400  
Parkway Plaza                         Charlotte                                   6          440,134        37,500  
                              Total                                             144        6,356,544     $ 369,900  



The consolidated transaction described above (the "Richmond Expansion") encompasses 362,844 square feet and 64 acres of development land 
in eight suburban office and two service center properties. The total cost, excluding the 64 acres of development land, was $28.7 million. 
Research Commons  
On February 10, 1995, the Company acquired six suburban office buildings located within the confines of Research Triangle Park from the 
Research Commons Group. The buildings are situated in an office park known as Research Commons, contain approximately 538,000 rentable 
square feet. The Company also acquired all of the Research Commons office park, which contains approximately 60 acres of land, 10 of which 
is undeveloped but zoned for office and other commercial development. As consideration for the Research Commons Acquisition, the 
Company assumed approximately $26.2 million of indebtedness owed to a financial institution, assumed a $5.0 million promissory note to 
Beaunit, an affiliate of certain members of the Research Commons Group, and issued 1,390,179 Units in the Operating Partnership to the 
Research Commons Group. In the event the buildings at Research Commons meet certain operating results in the future, the Company agreed 
to issue to the Research Commons Group up to an additional 40,000 Units. The Company agreed to allow the current property manager of 
Research Commons, Practical Management Inc., to continue to manage the properties following consummation of the acquisition. The 
Company however, has the right to terminate such arrangement upon 180 days notice.  
Creekstone Crossing  
On May 25, 1995, the Company acquired Creekstone Crossings, a 59,000-square foot service center property adjacent to the Research Triangle 
Park in Raleigh-Durham, North Carolina. Creekstone Crossings is located in the Company-owned Creekstone Park development, which 
includes the Riverbirch building and 22 acres of development land. The aggregate purchase price of $4.5 million was paid through the issuance 
of 4,640 Units and the assumption of approximately $4.4 million of indebtedness, which was repaid at closing from a draw under the 
Company's credit facility. Certain directors and officers of the Company owned an interest in Creekstone Crossings. Bissell Portfolio  
On July 12, 1995, the Company acquired a 914,000-square foot industrial and service center portfolio consisting of 47 buildings located in 
Greensboro and nine buildings located in Charlotte, North Carolina (the "Bissell Portfolio"). As part of the acquisition, the Company initially 
acquired six acres of development land and will acquire 20 additional acres over a five-year period. The aggregate purchase price of 
approximately $38.7 million was paid through the issuance of 81,716 Units, the assumption of $6.7 million of indebtedness, the payment of 
$28.3 million in cash and a deferred payment of $1.6 million. The $28.3 million cash payment was financed with a $12.3 million first mortgage 
loan and a $16.0 million draw under the Company's credit facility. The deferred payment will be payable in installments as the balance of the 
20 acres of development land are placed in service or five years from the closing, whichever occurs first. The Bissell Portfolio contains 167,000 
square feet of warehouse space and 747,000 square feet of service center space. Hock Portfolio  
On July 20, 1995, the Company acquired a 275,000-square foot, five-building, suburban office complex located in Durham, North Carolina 
(the "Hock Portfolio").The aggregate purchase price of approximately $21.6 million was paid through the issuance of 183,000 Units and the 
assumption of approximately $17.0 million of indebtedness, which was repaid at closing through a draw under the Company's credit facility. 
As part of the transaction, the Company was granted certain development rights with respect to approximately 78 acres of development land 
adjacent to the Hock Portfolio. Six Forks I & II  
On November 23, 1995, the Company closed on the acquisition of two suburban office properties (Six Forks I and II) encompassing 89,000 
square feet. The properties are located adjacent to the Company's Six Forks Center III property. As consideration for the purchase, the 
Company paid $8.8 million in cash.  

6  



Cotton Building  
On December 5, 1995, the Company closed the 40,000 square-foot Cotton Building for $2.3 million. The purchase price was funded through 
the issuance of 23,466 Units and the assumption of $1.7 million of indebtedness, which was repaid simultaneously at closing.  
Parkway Plaza  
On December 19, 1995, the Company completed a $37.5 million acquisition of Parkway Plaza located in Charlotte, North Carolina. The 
portfolio consists of 330,000 square feet of office space in four buildings and 110,000 square feet of industrial space in a single building and is 
located in the I-77 Southwest Charlotte submarket. The 110,000-square foot industrial property is 32% finished office space. The purchase 
price was comprised of $32.6 million in cash and the assumption of a $4.9 million, 9.75% mortgage with a maturity date of February 1, 1998. 
The buildings are situated on 40.2 acres. Of these 40.2 acres, 23.6 are on a ground lease which expires in 2082 and includes a purchase option 
allowing the Company to acquire the land at any time at 85% of the appraised value. Development Activity  
The following table summarizes the three development projects placed in service during the year ended December 31, 1995 (dollars in 
thousands):  

 

The Company has six suburban office properties and one industrial property under development totaling 718,300 square feet of office and 
industrial space. The following table summarizes these development projects in process as of December 31, 1995 (dollars in thousands):  

 

Financing Activity  
During the quarter ended March 31, 1995, the Company completed a 5,640,000 share public offering of Common Stock (including 640,000 
shares issued pursuant to the underwriters' over allotment option, the "Second Offering"). The net proceeds of the offering totaled $109.8 
million and were used primarily to retire indebtedness assumed in connection with the Forsyth Transaction.  
Also during the quarter ended March 31, 1995, the Company received the proceeds from a $41 million, 20-year fixed rate (8.97%) mortgage 
loan. After 10 years the loan provides for a rate reset, with each party  
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                                          Number of        Rentable       Initial  
Property            Location              Propertie s     Square Feet      Cost 
Rexwoods IV         Research Triangle          1            42,003       $ 4,300  
Willow Oak          Research Triangle          1            88,783         8,100  
West Point 5        Piedmont Triad             1            25,200         1,200  
Total or Average                               3           155,986       $13,600  

                                                                                              Estimate d 
                                                    Rentable       Budgeted      Percent      Completi on 
Office Properties            Location              Square Feet       Cost       Preleased        Date 
Hewlett-Packard              Piedmont Triad           18,000       $ 1,000          77%          1Q96 
Global Software              Research Triangle        92,700         7,500          76           1Q96 
MSA                          Research Triangle        57,000         5,500         100           4Q96 
Healthsource                 Research Triangle       180,000        15,300         100           4Q96 
Shockoe Plaza                Richmond                117,000        15,100          85           4Q96 
Innsbrook                    Richmond                126,000        12,500           0           4Q96 
Total or Weighted Average                            590,700       $56,900          71% 
Industrial Property 
Regency One                  Piedmont Triad          127,600         3,500         100%          1Q96 
Total or Weighted 
Averager                                             718,300       $60,400          76% 



having the option at that time to put or call the loan, as the case may be. The proceeds from the loan were used, together with the offering 
proceeds discussed above, to fund the Forsyth Transaction.  
During the quarter ended September 30, 1995, the Company completed a 4,774,989 share public offering of Common Stock (including 574,989 
shares issued pursuant to the underwriter's over allotment option, the "Third Offering"). The net proceeds of the offering totaled $110.0 million 
and were used primarily to retire amounts outstanding under the Company's credit facility, to fund the Richmond Expansion, to fund the cost of 
the Company's various development projects and to provide working capital.  
Also, during the quarter ended September 30, 1995, the Company received the proceeds from a $32 million, 20-year fixed rate (8.15%) 
mortgage loan. After 10 years the loan provides for a rate reset and a put/call option (as described above). The proceeds from the loan were 
used to fund property acquisitions made during the quarter.  
In connection with the acquisition of the Bissell Portfolio, the Company entered into a $12.2 million, 15-year variable rate (1.35% over 30 days 
LIBOR) mortgage loan with a put/call option at the end of years five and ten.  
In connection with the Company's 1995 acquisitions, the Company assumed 13 loans with an aggregate outstanding balance on the closing 
dates of $72.5 million and issued 2,676,000 Units valued at $57.3 million.  
The Company has received a commitment from three commercial banks providing for a $140.0 million unsecured credit facility. The unsecured 
credit facility, which is expected to close March 31, 1996 subject to completion of final documentation, will replace the current $80.0 million 
secured credit facility and will have a maturity date of June 14, 1999. Competition  
The Properties compete for tenants with similar properties located in the Company's markets primarily on the basis of location, rent charged, 
services provided and the design and condition of the improvements. The Company also competes with other REITs, financial institutions, 
pension funds, partnerships, individual investors and others when attempting to acquire properties. Employees  
As of December 31, 1995, the Company employed 124 persons, as compared to 43 at December 31, 1994. The increase is primarily a result of 
the Company's expansion into the Piedmont Triad and Richmond markets.  
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

General  
The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the Company's properties at  
December 31, 1995:  
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                                               Offi ce Properties       Industrial Properties             Total 
                                            Number of    Rentable     Number of    Rentable     Number  of    Rentable 
In-Service:                                 Propert ies  Square Feet   Properties  Square Feet   Proper ties  Square Feet  
Research Triangle.........................       53       3,186,643         6         515,387        59        3,702,030 
Piedmont Triad............................       20       1,056,629        78       3,095,604        98        4,152,233 
Charlotte.................................        6         387,348        17         491,652        23          879,000 
Richmond..................................        8         290,750         3         191,158        11          481,908 
  Total...................................       87       4,921,370       104       4,293,801       191        9,215,171 
Under Development: 
Research Triangle.........................        3         329,700      --                --         3          329,700 
Piedmont Triad............................        1          18,000         1         127,600         2          145,600 
Charlotte.................................    --                --      --                --      --                -- 
Richmond..................................        2         243,000      --                --         2          243,000 
  Total...................................        6         590,700         1         127,600         7          718,300 
Total: 
Research Triangle.........................       56       3,516,343         6         515,387        62        4,031,730 
Piedmont Triad............................       21       1,074,629        79       3,223,204       100        4,297,833 
Charlotte.................................        6         387,348        17         491,652        23          879,000 
Richmond..................................       10         533,750         3         191,158        13          724,908 
  Total...................................       93       5,512,070       105       4,421,401       198        9,933,471 

                                                                                   Occupancy Rate of I n-Service 
                                                                                            Properties  
                                                                                 Office      Industria l    Weighted  
                                                                               Properties    Propertie s    Average 
Research Triangle.................................. .........................        95%           89%          94% 
Piedmont Triad..................................... .........................        95            92           93 
Charlotte.......................................... .........................        93            87           90 
Richmond........................................... .........................        98            91           95 
  Weighted average................................. .........................        95%           91%          93% 



Tenants  
The Properties are leased to approximately 950 tenants, which engage in a wide variety of businesses including computers, healthcare, 
telecommunications, finance, insurance and electronics. The following table sets forth information concerning the 20 largest tenants of the 
Properties as of December 31, 1995:  

 

(1) Calculated by multiplying December 1995 rental revenue (base rent plus operating pass throughs) times 12.  
(2) CompuChem Corporation lease expires May 31, 1996.  
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                                                                                                            Percent 
                                                                                                            of Total 
                                                                                                           Annualized  
                                                                         Number          Annualized          Rental 
Tenant                                                                  of Leases    Rental Revenue (1 )     Revenue 
   1.    Federal Government 
           Environmental Protection Agency......... ..................        4          $  4,482,619           5.1% 
           U.S. Army and Marine Corps.............. ..................        2               243,473           0.2 
           National Institute of Health Sciences... ..................        1               165,394           0.2 
           Other................................... ..................        2                77,427           0.1 
              Total................................ ..................        9          $  4,968,913           5.6% 
   2.    IBM Corporation........................... ..................        3             3,549,603           4.0 
   3.    First Citizens Bank & Trust............... ..................        7             2,766,733           3.1 
   4.    Duke University........................... ..................        5             1,378,797           1.5 
   5.    Sears, Roebuck & Company.................. ..................        4             1,364,841           1.5 
   6.    Volvo..................................... ..................        3             1,342,728           1.5 
   7.    Clintrials of North Carolina.............. ..................        4             1,294,525           1.5 
   8.    Virginia State Government................. ..................        2             1,194,000           1.3 
   9.    Glaxo Wellcome............................ ..................        3             1,193,100           1.3 
  10.    Kaiser Foundation Health Plan............. ..................        3             1,082,798           1.2 
  11.    Martin Marietta........................... ..................        5             1,077,163           1.2 
  12.    Southern National Bank.................... ..................        2             1,071,889           1.2 
  13.    EDS....................................... ..................        2             1,071,674           1.2 
  14.    CompuChem Corporation (2)................. ..................        1             1,023,738           1.2 
  15.    Maupin Taylor Ellis & Adams............... ..................        1               948,185           1.1 
  16.    AT&T...................................... ..................        5               944,742           1.1 
  17.    Qualex.................................... ..................        3               867,038           1.0 
  18.    Broadband Technologies.................... ..................        1               849,968           1.0 
  19.    Ericsson, Inc............................. ..................        3               848,673           1.0 
  20.    Norwest Mortgage.......................... ..................        1               831,563           0.9 
         Total..................................... ..................       67          $ 29,670,671          33.4% 



The following tables set forth certain information about the Company's leasing activities for the year ended December 31, 1995 and for the 
period from June 14, 1994 to December 31, 1994.  
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                                                                      1995                       1994 
                                                              Office      Industrial     Office     In dustrial 
Net Effective Rents Related to Re-Leased Space: 
Number of lease transactions (signed leases)....... ......          145            97          52             1 
Rentable square footage leased..................... ......      655,546       586,748     111,379        25,600 
Average per rentable square foot over the lease ter m: 
  Base rent........................................ ......   $    15.39    $     5.54    $  15.94    $     6.77 
  Tenant improvements.............................. ......        (0.29)        (0.06)      (0.96)        (0.14)  
  Leasing commissions.............................. ......        (0.31)        (0.12)      (0.39)        (0.06)  
  Rent concessions................................. ......        (0.01)           --       (0.14)           -- 
  Effective rent................................... ......   $    14.78    $     5.36    $  14.45    $     6.57 
  Expense stop..................................... ......        (4.36)        (0.32)      (4.28)           -- 
  Equivalent effective net rent.................... ......   $    10.42    $     5.04    $  10.17    $     6.57 
Average term in years.............................. ......            4             3           4             5 
Capital Expenditures Related to Re-leased Space: 
Tenant Improvements: 
  Total dollars committed under signed leases...... ......   $1,604,591    $  115,097    $536,946    $   17,920 
  Rentable square feet............................. ......      655,546       586,748     111,379        25,600 
  Per rentable square foot......................... ......   $     2.45    $     0.20    $   4.82    $     0.70 
Leasing Commissions: 
  Total dollars committed under signed leases...... ......   $  770,614    $  169,929    $189,167    $    7,680 
  Rentable square feet............................. ......      655,546       586,748     111,379        25,600 
  Per rentable square foot......................... ......   $     1.18    $     0.29    $   1.70    $     0.30 
Total: 
  Total dollars committed under signed leases...... ......   $2,375,205    $  285,026    $726,113    $   25,600 
  Rentable square feet............................. ......      655,546       586,748     111,379        25,600 
  Per rentable square foot......................... ......   $     3.62    $     0.49    $   6.52    $     1.00 
Re-leased Space Activity: 
Number of leases commenced during period........... ......          141            68          33            -- 
Rentable square feet............................... ......      377,340       397,052      63,268            -- 
Average final rate with expense pass throughs...... ......   $    14.63    $     5.41    $  15.03            -- 
Average first year cash rental rate................ ......   $    15.12    $     6.02    $  15.22            -- 
Percentage increase................................ ......         3.35%        11.28%        1.3%           -- 



The following tables set forth scheduled lease expirations for executed leases as of December 31, 1995, assuming no tenant exercises renewal 
options. Office Properties:  

 

Industrial Properties:  

 

(1) Includes operating expense pass throughs and excludes the effect of future contractual rent increases.  
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                                                                                           Average 
                                                                                           Annual 
                                     Total           Percentage of      Annual Rents   Rental Rate Per    Percentage of 
                                    Rentable     Le ased Square Footage      Under          Square        Leased Rents 
  Year of Lease       Number of   Square Feet       Represented by        Expiring        Foot for      Represented by 
   Expiration          Leases       Expiring        Expiring Leases      Leases (1)    Expirations (1)   Expiring Leases  
      1996               164          539,214             11.3%          $ 7,379,537       $ 13.69            10.7% 
      1997               136          778,416             16.4            10,980,414         14.11            15.9 
      1998               116          798,789             16.8            11,554,107         14.46            16.7 
      1999                71          458,142              9.6             6,679,161         14.58             9.6 
      2000                98          686,510             14.4             9,882,161         14.39            14.3 
      2001                30          764,025             16.0            11,103,977         14.53            16.1 
      2002                16          253,829              5.3             4,189,429         16.50             6.0 
      2003                10          350,877              7.4             5,589,183         15.93             8.1 
      2004                 6           71,182              1.5               972,833         13.67             1.4 
      2005                 5           61,927              1.3               821,394         13.26             1.2 
   Thereafter           --                 --         --                          --            --          -- 
Total or average         652        4,762,911            100.0%          $69,152,196       $ 14.52           100.0% 

                                                                                         Average 
                                                                                         Annual 
                                     Total         Percentage of      Annual Rents   Rental Rate Per   Percentage of 
                                   Rentable    Leas ed Square Footage      Under          Square        Leased Rents 
  Year of Lease        Number of  Square Feet     R epresented by        Expiring        Foot for      Represented by 
   Expiration           Leases     Expiring       E xpiring Leases      Leases (1)    Expirations (1)  Expiring Leases  
      1996                202      1,673,969             44.4%         $ 7,245,030       $  4.33            36.6% 
      1997                 81        533,990             14.2            2,732,089          5.12            13.8 
      1998                 81        497,015             13.2            3,775,415          7.60            19.1 
      1999                 31        282,453              7.5            1,950,285          6.90             9.8 
      2000                 33        441,497             11.7            2,540,394          5.75            12.8 
      2001                  6         46,809              1.2              416,299          8.89             2.1 
      2002                  3        259,710              6.9              802,403          3.09             4.1 
      2003                  2          5,875              0.1               54,071          9.20             0.3 
      2004                  1          4,399              0.1               46,981         10.68             0.2 
      2005                  5         27,082              0.7              242,289          8.95             1.2 
   Thereafter            --               --               --                   --       --               -- 
Total or average          445      3,772,799            100.0%         $19,805,256       $  5.25           100.0% 



Table of Properties  
The following table and the notes thereto set forth information regarding the Properties:  

                                                                    Percent                Ceiling/  
                                                      Rentable    Occupied at    Percent    Clear 
                                   Building   Year     Square     December 31,   Office     Height 
Property                           Type (1)   Built      Feet        1995 (2)     Finish     (Feet) 
                                   Research Triangl e Properties 
Highwoods Office Center 
  Amica                               O        1983       20,708        100%         100%         8 
  Arrowood                            O        1979       58,743        100          100          8 
  Aspen                               O        1980       36,666         95          100          8 
  Birchwood                           O        1983       12,748        100          100          8 
  Cedar East                          O        1981       39,904         98          100          8 
  Cedar West                          O        1981       39,903         81          100          8 
  Cottonwood                          O        1983       40,150        100          100          8 
  Cypress                             O        1980       39,004        100          100          8 
  Dogwood                             O        1983       40,613        100          100          8 
  Hawthorn                            O        1987       63,797        100          100       9-12 
  Highwoods Tower                     O        1991      185,222         99          100          9 
  Holly                               O        1984       20,186        100          100          8 
  Ironwood                            O        1978       35,695         92          100          8 
  Kaiser                              O        1988       56,915        100          100          9 
  Laurel                              O        1982       39,382        100          100          9 
  Leatherwood                         O        1979       36,581         99          100          8 
  Smoketree Tower                     O        1984      151,703         72          100          9 
Rexwoods Office Center 
  2500 Blue Ridge                     O        1982       61,864        100          100          8 
  Blue Ridge II                       O        1988       20,673        100          100          8 
  Rexwoods Center                     O        1990       41,686        100          100          9 
  Rexwoods II                         O        1993       20,845        100          100          9 
  Rexwoods III                        O        1992       42,484        100          100          9 
  Rexwoods IV                         O        1995       42,003         77          100          9 
Triangle Business Center 
  Bldg. 2A                            S        1984      102,400         98           90         18 
  Bldg. 2B                            S        1984       32,000        100           50         18 
  Bldg. 3                             S        1988      135,360         84           80         18 
  Bldg. 7                             S        1986      126,728         78           95         12 
Progress Center 
  Cape Fear                           O        1979       40,058         43          100          8 
  Catawba                             O        1980       37,456        100          100          8 
  CompuChem                           O        1980      105,540        100          100          8 
North Park 
  4800 North Park                     O        1985      168,016        100          100          9 
  4900 North Park                     O        1984       32,002         94          100          9 
  5000 North Park                     O        1980       75,395         81          100       9-10 
Creekstone Park 
  Creekstone Crossing                 S        1990       59,299         92           96         12 
  Riverbirch                          O        1987       59,971        100          100          8 
  Willow Oak                          O        1995       88,783         93          100          9 
Research Commons (3) 
  EPA Administration                  O        1966       46,718        100          100          9 
  EPA Annex                           O        1966      145,875        100           50          9 
  4501 Bldg.                          O        1985       56,566        100          100          9 
  4401 Bldg.                          O        1987      115,526         84           93          9 
  4301 Bldg.                          O        1989       90,894        100           27          9 
  4201 Bldg.                          O        1991       83,731        100          100          9 
Hock Portfolio 
  Fairfield I                         O        1987       50,540         92          100          9 
  Fairfield II                        O        1989       61,064         90          100          9 
  Qualex                              O        1985       67,000        100          100          9 
  4101 Roxboro                        O        1984       56,000        100          100          9 
                                            Tenants  Leasing 
                                              25% o r More 
                                              of Re ntable 
                                            Square Feet at 
Property                                   December  31, 1995 
 
Highwoods Office Center 
  Amica                            Amica Mutual Ins urance Company 
  Arrowood                         First Citizens B ank & Trust 
  Aspen                            N/A 
  Birchwood                        Donohoe Construc tion Company, 
                                   Southlight, Inc.  
  Cedar East                       Amerimark Buildi ng Products 
  Cedar West                       N/A 
  Cottonwood                       First Citizens B ank & Trust 
  Cypress                          GSA-Army Recruit ers 
  Dogwood                          First Citizens B ank & Trust 
  Hawthorn                         Carolina Telepho ne 
  Highwoods Tower                  Maupin, Taylor, Ellis & Adams 
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  Holly                            Capital Associat ed Industries 
  Ironwood                         First Citizens B ank & Trust 
  Kaiser                           Kaiser Foundatio n 
  Laurel                           Microspace Commu nications, First 
                                   Citizens Bank & Trust 
  Leatherwood                      GAB North Americ a, Inc. 
  Smoketree Tower                  N/A 
Rexwoods Office Center 
  2500 Blue Ridge                  Rex Hospital, In c. 
  Blue Ridge II                    McGladrey & Pull en 
  Rexwoods Center                  N/A 
  Rexwoods II                      Raleigh Neurolog y Clinic, Miller 
                                   Building Corpora tion 
  Rexwoods III                     Piedmont Olson H ensley, Inc. 
  Rexwoods IV                      N/A 
Triangle Business Center 
  Bldg. 2A                         Harris Corporati on, AAI Systems 
                                   Management, Inc.  
  Bldg. 2B                         International Pa per 
  Bldg. 3                          N/A 
  Bldg. 7                          Broadband Techno logies, Inc. 
Progress Center 
  Cape Fear                        N/A 
  Catawba                          GSA -- EPA 
  CompuChem                        CompuChem 
North Park 
  4800 North Park                  IBM-PC Division 
  4900 North Park                  N/A 
  5000 North Park                  N/A 
Creekstone Park 
  Creekstone Crossing              N/A 
  Riverbirch                       Digital Equipmen t Corporation, 
                                   Quintiles, Inc. 
  Willow Oak                       AT&T Corporation  
Research Commons (3) 
  EPA Administration               Environmental Pr otection Agency 
  EPA Annex                        Environmental Pr otection Agency 
  4501 Bldg.                       Martin Marietta 
  4401 Bldg.                       Ericsson 
  4301 Bldg.                       Glaxo Wellcome I nc. 
  4201 Bldg.                       Environmental Pr otection Agency 
Hock Portfolio 
  Fairfield I                      Reliance 
  Fairfield II                     Qualex 
  Qualex                           Qualex 
  4101 Roxboro                     Duke -- Cardiolo gy 



 

Piedmont Triad Properties  

                                                                    Percent                Ceiling/  
                                                      Rentable    Occupied at    Percent    Clear 
                                   Building   Year     Square     December 31,   Office     Height 
Property                           Type (1)   Built      Feet        1995 (2)     Finish     (Feet) 
  4020 Roxboro                        O        1989       40,000        100%         100%         9 
Other Research Triangle 
Properties 
  Colony Corporate Center             O        1985       53,324        100          100          8 
  Concourse                           O        1986      131,645         96          100          9 
  Expressway One Warehouse            I        1990       59,600        100            5         24 
  Holiday Inn                         O        1984       30,000        100          100         10 
  Lake Plaza East                     O        1984       71,254         95          100          9 
  Phoenix                             O        1990       26,449         91          100          8 
  Six Forks Center I                  O        1982       33,867         95          100          9 
  Six Forks Center II                 O        1983       55,603         94          100          9 
  Six Forks Center III                O        1987       60,662         99          100          9 
  South Square I                      O        1988       56,401        100          100          9 
  South Square II                     O        1989       58,793        100          100          9 
  Cotton Building                     O        1972       40,035        100           79       8-15 
Total or Weighted Average of 
Research Triangle Properties                          3,702,030         94% 
                                            Tenants  Leasing 
                                              25% o r More 
                                              of Re ntable 
                                            Square Feet at 
Property                                   December  31, 1995 
  4020 Roxboro                     Duke -- Pediatri cs 
                                   Duke -- Cardiolo gy 
Other Research Triangle 
Properties 
  Colony Corporate Center          Rust Environment al & 
                                   Infrastructure, Fujitsu 
  Concourse                        Clintrials 
  Expressway One Warehouse         West's Durham Tr ansfer & Storage 
  Holiday Inn                      Holiday Inns, In c. 
  Lake Plaza East                  N/A 
  Phoenix                          N/A 
  Six Forks Center I               Centura Bank 
  Six Forks Center II              N/A 
  Six Forks Center III             EDS 
  South Square I                   Blue Cross and B lue Shield 
  South Square II                  Coastal Healthca re Group, Inc. 
  Cotton Building                  Cotton Inc., Ass ociated 
                                   Insurances Inc. 
Total or Weighted Average of 
Research Triangle Properties 

Airpark East 
  Highland Industries                 S        1990       12,500        100           48         18  
  Service Center 1                    S        1985       18,575        100           96         14  
  Service Center 2                    S        1985       18,672        100           94         14  
  Service Center 3                    S        1985       16,498         86           97         14  
  Service Center 4                    S        1985       16,500        100          100         14  
  Copier Consultants                  S        1990       20,000        100           60         18  
  Service Court                       S        1990       12,600         76          100         16  
  Bldg. 01                            O        1990       24,423        100          100          9  
  Bldg. 02                            O        1986       23,827        100          100          9  
  Bldg. 03                            O        1986       23,182        100          100          9  
  Bldg. A                             O        1986       56,272         70          100          9  
  Bldg. B                             O        1988       54,088         98          100          9  
  Bldg. C                             O        1990      134,893        100          100          9  
  Sears Cenfact                       O        1989       49,504        100          100          9  
  Warehouse 1                         I        1985       64,000        100           21         21  
  Warehouse 2                         I        1985       64,000        100           48         21  
  Warehouse 3                         I        1986       57,600        100            8         21  
  Warehouse 4                         I        1988       54,000         81           89         21  
Airpark North 
  DC-1                                I        1986      112,000        100            7         20  
  DC-2                                I        1987      111,905        100           61         20  
  DC-3                                I        1988       75,000        100            5         20  
  DC-4                                I        1988       60,000        100            8         20  
Airpark West 
  Airpark I                           O        1984       60,000        100          100          9  
  Airpark II                          O        1985       45,680        100          100          9  
  Airpark IV                          O        1985       22,612        100          100          9  
  Airpark V                           O        1985       21,923        100          100          9  
  Airpark VI                          O        1985       22,097         90          100          9  
West Point Business Park 
  BMF Warehouse                       I        1986      240,000        100            3         32  
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  WP-11                               I        1988       89,600        100            8         24  
  WP-12                               I        1988       89,600        100            4         30  
  WP-13                               I        1988       89,600        100            2         20  
  WP-3 & 4                            S        1988       18,059        100           54         15  
Airpark East 
  Highland Industries              Highland Industr ies, Inc. 
  Service Center 1                 Genetic Design 
  Service Center 2                 Genetic Design 
  Service Center 3                 ECPI 
  Service Center 4                 Genetic Design 
  Copier Consultants               Copier Consultan ts 
  Service Court                    Genetic Design 
  Bldg. 01                         Health & Hygiene  
  Bldg. 02                         United States Po stal Service 
  Bldg. 03                         Time Warner, Mar tin Marietta 
  Bldg. A                          N/A 
  Bldg. B                          Hewlett-Packard Co., United 
                                   States Postal Se rvice 
  Bldg. C                          John Hancock 
  Sears Cenfact                    Sears Roebuck & Company 
  Warehouse 1                      Guilford Busines s Forms, Inc., 
                                   Safelite Glass C orp. 
  Warehouse 2                      Volvo GM Heavy T ruck Corp., State 
                                   Street Bank Real ty 
  Warehouse 3                      US Air Inc., Gar lock, Inc. 
  Warehouse 4                      First Data Resou rces, Inc. 
Airpark North 
  DC-1                             VSA, Inc. 
  DC-2                             Sears Roebuck & Co., Summit Pet 
                                   Products Dist. I nc., Electric 
                                   South 
  DC-3                             Fashions Outlet of America, Inc. 
  DC-4                             RSVP Communicati ons, Inc. 
Airpark West 
  Airpark I                        Volvo GM Heavy T ruck Corp. 
  Airpark II                       Mohawk Carpet Co rporation (4) 
  Airpark IV                       Max Radio of Gre ensboro 
  Airpark V                        NCR Corporation 
  Airpark VI                       Brookstone Colle ge, Anacomp 
West Point Business Park 
  BMF Warehouse                    Sara Lee Knit Pr oducts, Inc. 
  WP-11                            Microfibres 
  WP-12                            Norel Plastics, Sara Lee 
  WP-13                            Sara Lee Knit Pr oducts, Inc. 
  WP-3 & 4                         Tri-Communicatio ns, Inc., Royso 
                                   Safety, Inc. 



                                                                    Percent                Ceiling/  
                                                      Rentable    Occupied at    Percent    Clear 
                                   Building   Year     Square     December 31,   Office     Height 
Property                           Type (1)   Built      Feet        1995 (2)     Finish     (Feet) 
  WP-5                                S        1995       25,200         52%          20%        18 
  Fairchild Bldg.                     I        1990       89,000        100           20         30 
  LUWA Bahnson Bldg.                  O        1990       27,000        100          100          9 
University Commercial Center 
  W-1                                 I        1983       44,400        100            1         24 
  W-2                                 I        1983       46,500        100            7         24 
  SR-1                                S        1983       23,112        100           68         16 
  SR-2 01/02                          S        1983       17,282        100           67         16 
  SR-3                                S        1984       23,825         65           70         16 
  Bldg. 01/02                         O        1983        9,993         40          100          9 
  Bldg. 03                            O        1985       37,077         79          100          9 
  Bldg. 04                            O        1986       34,470         60          100          9 
Ivy Distribution Center (5)           I        1930 -    400,000         55            2      14-16 
                                               1980  
Knollwood Office Center 
  370 Knollwood                       O        1994       90,315        100          100          9 
  380 Knollwood                       O        1990      164,141         98          100          9 
Stoneleigh Business Park 
  7327 W. Friendly Ave.               S        1987       11,180        100           59         11 
  7339 W. Friendly Ave.               S        1989       11,784        100           59         11 
  7341 W. Friendly Ave.               S        1988       21,048        100           36         12 
  7343 W. Friendly Ave.               S        1988       13,463        100           36         12 
  7345 W. Friendly Ave.               S        1988       12,300        100           36         12 
  7347 W. Friendly Ave.               S        1988       17,978        100           36         12 
  7349 W. Friendly Ave.               S        1988        9,840        100           36         12 
  7351 W. Friendly Ave.               S        1988       19,723        100           36         12 
  7353 W. Friendly Ave.               S        1988       22,826        100           36         12 
  7355 W. Friendly Ave.               S        1988       13,296        100           36         12 
Spring Garden Plaza 
  4000 Spring Garden St.              S        1983       21,773         86           69         14 
  4002 Spring Garden St.              S        1983        6,684        100           69         14 
  4004 Spring Garden St.              S        1983       23,724         92           69         14 
Pomona Center -- Phase I 
  7 Dundas Circle                     S        1986       14,760         91           55         12 
  8 Dundas Circle                     S        1986       16,488        100           55         12 
  9 Dundas Circle                     S        1986        9,972        100           55         12 
Pomona Center -- Phase II 
  302 Pomona Dr.                      S        1987       16,488         94           55         12 
  304 Pomona Dr.                      S        1987        4,344        100           55         12 
  306 Pomona Dr.                      S        1987        9,840         63           55         12 
  308 Pomona Dr.                      S        1987       14,184         96           55         12 
  5 Dundas Circle                     S        1987       14,184         83           55         12 
Westgate on Wendover -- Phase I 
  305 South Westgate Dr.              S        1985        5,760         83           54         12 
  307 South Westgate Dr.              S        1985       12,672        100           54         12 
  309 South Westgate Dr.              S        1985       12,960        100           54         12 
  311 South Westgate Dr.              S        1985       14,400        100           54         12 
  315 South Westgate Dr.              S        1985       10,368         89           54         12 
  317 South Westgate Dr.              S        1985       15,552         98           54         12 
  319 South Westgate Dr.              S        1985       10,368        100           54         12 
Westgate on Wendover -- Phase II 
  206 South Westgate Dr.              S        1986       17,376        100           65         12 
  207 South Westgate Dr.              S        1986       26,448        100           65         12 
  300 South Westgate Dr.              S        1986       12,960        100           65         12 
  4600 Dundas Circle                  S        1985       11,922        100           65         12 
  4602 Dundas Circle                  S        1985       13,017         61           65         12 
Radar Road 
  500 Radar Rd.                       I        1981       78,000        100            4         21 
  502 Radar Rd.                       I        1986       15,000        100           10         18 
  504 Radar Rd.                       I        1986       15,000        100           10         18 
                                            Tenants  Leasing 
                                              25% o r More 
                                              of Re ntable 
                                            Square Feet at 
Property                                   December  31, 1995 
  WP-5                             N/A 
  Fairchild Bldg.                  Fairchild Indust rial Products 
  LUWA Bahnson Bldg.               Luwa Bahnson, In c. 
University Commercial Center 
  W-1                              Lagenthal Corp. 
  W-2                              Paper Supply Com pany 
  SR-1                             N/A 
  SR-2 01/02                       Decision Point M arketing 
  SR-3                             Decision Point M arketing 
  Bldg. 01/02                      N/A 
  Bldg. 03                         N/A 
  Bldg. 04                         N/A 
Ivy Distribution Center (5)        N/A 
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Knollwood Office Center 
  370 Knollwood                    Krispy Kreme, Pr udential 
                                   Carolinas Realty  
  380 Knollwood                    N/A 
Stoneleigh Business Park 
  7327 W. Friendly Ave.            American Telecom , Salem Imaging 
  7339 W. Friendly Ave.            IKEA, R.F. Micro  Devices 
  7341 W. Friendly Ave.            R.F. Micro Devic es 
  7343 W. Friendly Ave.            Executone 
  7345 W. Friendly Ave.            Disston 
  7347 W. Friendly Ave.            Law Engineering,  Winship 
  7349 W. Friendly Ave.            N/A 
  7351 W. Friendly Ave.            General Transpor t, Burlington Air 
                                   Express 
  7353 W. Friendly Ave.            Office Equipment , Windsor Door 
  7355 W. Friendly Ave.            R.F. Micro Devic es 
Spring Garden Plaza 
  4000 Spring Garden St.           N/A 
  4002 Spring Garden St.           Jordan Graphics 
  4004 Spring Garden St.           N/A 
Pomona Center -- Phase I 
  7 Dundas Circle                  N/A 
  8 Dundas Circle                  N/A 
  9 Dundas Circle                  Netcom, Conserva top Corporation 
Pomona Center -- Phase II 
  302 Pomona Dr. 
  304 Pomona Dr.                   Fortune Personne l Consultants 
  306 Pomona Dr.                   AEL Defense Corp oration 
  308 Pomona Dr.                   Hering North Ame rica 
  5 Dundas Circle 
Westgate on Wendover -- Phase I 
  305 South Westgate Dr.           Alarmguard, The Computer Store 
  307 South Westgate Dr.           Anders Lufvenhol m 
  309 South Westgate Dr.           Network Informat ion, McRae 
                                   Graphics 
  311 South Westgate Dr.           N/A 
  315 South Westgate Dr.           N/A 
  317 South Westgate Dr.           N/A 
  319 South Westgate Dr.           N/A 
Westgate on Wendover -- Phase II 
  206 South Westgate Dr.           Home Care of the  Central 
                                   Carolinas 
  207 South Westgate Dr.           Health Equipment  Services 
  300 South Westgate Dr.           N/A 
  4600 Dundas Circle               Oakwood Homes, A quaterra, Inc. 
  4602 Dundas Circle               Four Seasons App arel 
Radar Road 
  500 Radar Rd.                    Amoco Foam 
  502 Radar Rd.                    East Texas Distr ibuting 
  504 Radar Rd.                    Triad Internatio nal Maintenance, 
                                   Dayva Industries  



 

Charlotte Properties  

                                                                    Percent                Ceiling/  
                                                      Rentable    Occupied at    Percent    Clear 
                                   Building   Year     Square     December 31,   Office     Height 
Property                           Type (1)   Built      Feet        1995 (2)     Finish     (Feet) 
  506 Radar Rd.                       I        1986       15,000        100%          10%        18 
Holden/85 Business Park 
  2616 Phoenix Dr.                    I        1985       31,894        100           32         10 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 100             S        1989       15,000        100           32         10 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 200             S        1989       15,000        100           32         10 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 300             S        1989        7,380         83           32         10 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 400             S        1989       12,300         90           32         10 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 500             S        1989       15,180        100           32         10 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 600             S        1989       18,540         90           32         10 
Industrial Village 
  7906 Industrial Village Rd. 
                                      I        1985       15,000        100           15         18 
  7908 Industrial Village Rd. 
                                      I        1985       15,000        100           15         18 
  7910 Industrial Village Rd. 
                                      I        1985       15,000        100           15         18 
Other Piedmont Triad Properties 
  6348 Burnt Poplar                   I        1990      125,000        100            4         20 
  6350 Burnt Poplar                   I        1992       57,600        100            3         20 
  Stratford                           O        1991      135,533         97          100          9 
  Chesapeake                          I        1993      250,000        100            3         28 
  3288 Robinhood                      O        1989       19,599         83          100          9 
Total or Weighted Average of 
Piedmont Triad Properties                             4,152,233         93% 
                                            Tenants  Leasing 
                                              25% o r More 
                                              of Re ntable 
                                            Square Feet at 
Property                                   December  31, 1995 
  506 Radar Rd.                    Triad Internatio nal Maintenance, 
                                   American Coating s 
Holden/85 Business Park 
  2616 Phoenix Dr.                 Pliana, Inc. 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 100          Piedmont Plastic s, Rexham Corp. 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 200          REHAU, Inc., Rea dervision, Inc. 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 300          N/A 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 400          Spectrum Financi al Services 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 500          The Record Excha nge 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 600          AT&T, Sumitomo E lectrical 
Industrial Village 
  7906 Industrial Village Rd. 
                                   Texas Aluminum 
  7908 Industrial Village Rd. 
                                   Bullock Distribu tors, Air Express 
  7910 Industrial Village Rd. 
                                   Wadkin North Ame rica, Inc. 
Other Piedmont Triad Properties 
  6348 Burnt Poplar                Sears Roebuck & Co. 
  6350 Burnt Poplar                Industries for t he Blind 
  Stratford                        Southern Nationa l Bank 
  Chesapeake                       Chesapeake Displ ay & Packaging 
  3288 Robinhood                   N/A 
Total or Weighted Average of 
Piedmont Triad Properties 

Steele Creek Park 
  Bldg. A                             I        1989       42,500        100           19         21  
  Bldg. B                             I        1985       15,031        100           20         21  
  Bldg. E                             I        1985       39,300         57           13         21  
  Bldg. G-1                           I        1989       22,500         44           11         21  
  Bldg. H                             I        1987       53,614         64           16         21  
  Bldg. K                             I        1985       19,400        100           25         21  
  Bldg. N                             I        1989       22,000        100           11         21  
Highwoods/Forsyth Business Park 
  4101 Stuart Andrew Blvd.            S        1984       12,185        100           60         16  
  4105 Stuart Andrew Blvd.            S        1984        4,528        100           60         16  
  4109 Stuart Andrew Blvd.            S        1984       15,212        100           60         16  
  4201 Stuart Andrew Blvd.            S        1982       19,333         69           60         16  
  4205 Stuart Andrew Blvd.            S        1982       23,401         91           60         16  
  4209 Stuart Andrew Blvd.            S        1982       15,901        100           60         16  
  4215 Stuart Andrew Blvd.            S        1982       23,372         95           60         16  
  4301 Stuart Andrew Blvd.            S        1982       40,601         84           60         16  
  4321 Stuart Andrew Blvd.            S        1982       12,774        100           60         16  
Parkway Plaza 
  Building 1                          O        1982       58,263         88          100          8  
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  Building 2                          O        1983       88,227         93          100          8  
  Building 3                          O        1984       82,307         83          100          8  
  Building 7 (7)                      O        1985       60,722        100          100          8  
  Building 8 (7)                      O        1986       40,615        100          100          8  
  Building 9 (7)                      I        1984      110,000        100           32         26  
Other Charlotte Properties 
  First Citizens                      O        1989       57,214        100          100          9  
Total or Weighted Average of 
Charlotte Properties                                    879,000         90% 
Steele Creek Park 
  Bldg. A                          Terrell Gear Dri ves, Inc. 
  Bldg. B                          Pumps Parts & Se rvices Inc. (6) 
  Bldg. E                          Bradman-Lake Inc . (6), Aptech, 
                                   Inc. 
  Bldg. G-1                        Safewaste Corp. 
  Bldg. H                          Sugravo Rallis E ngraving 
  Bldg. K                          Aptech, Inc. 
  Bldg. N                          Marketing Assoc.  International 
Highwoods/Forsyth Business Park 
  4101 Stuart Andrew Blvd.         N/A 
  4105 Stuart Andrew Blvd.         Re-Directions, T ransit & Level 
                                   Clinic, Bell/Sys co Food 
  4109 Stuart Andrew Blvd.         N/A 
  4201 Stuart Andrew Blvd.         N/A 
  4205 Stuart Andrew Blvd.         N/A 
  4209 Stuart Andrew Blvd.         N/A 
  4215 Stuart Andrew Blvd.         Cleaning Service s Group, Rodan, 
                                   Inc. 
  4301 Stuart Andrew Blvd.         Circle K 
  4321 Stuart Andrew Blvd.         Communications T echnology 
Parkway Plaza 
  Building 1                       BASF Corporation  
  Building 2                       N/A 
  Building 3                       N/A 
  Building 7 (7)                   Northwest Mortga ge 
  Building 8 (7)                   Greenpoint Finan cial Corp. 
  Building 9 (7)                   Aegis Technologi es 
Other Charlotte Properties 
  First Citizens                   Volvo Car Financ e, Inc. 
Total or Weighted Average of 
Charlotte Properties 



 

Richmond Properties  

 

(1) I = Industrial, S = Service Center and O = Office.  
(2) Includes 29,000 rentable square feet leased but not occupied.  
(3) Research Triangle Foundation of North Carolina, Inc. has a right of first refusal option to purchase any property offered for sale within the 
confines of the Research Triangle Park.  
(4) Mohawk Corporation currently subleases its space to Volvo GM Heavy Truck Corp.  
(5) Ivy Distribution Center enables the Company to establish relationships with potential tenants that need large blocks of affordable storage 
space, frequently on a short-term basis. With the exception of 1989 when the building was renovated to convert it from a manufacturing facility 
to a bulk warehouse facility, Ivy Distribution Center has produced a positive cash flow every year since its acquisition in 1978.  
(6) These tenants have a first right of refusal option to purchase their respective leased properties in the event the Company elects to sell any of 
these properties pursuant to a bona fide third-party offer to purchase such properties.  
(7) Properties subject to ground lease expiring December 31, 2082. Company has option to purchase land during the lease term at the greater of 
$35,000 per acre or 85% of appraised value.  
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                                                                    Percent                Ceiling/  
                                                      Rentable    Occupied at    Percent    Clear 
                                   Building   Year     Square     December 31,   Office     Height 
Property                           Type (1)   Built      Feet        1995 (2)     Finish     (Feet) 
                                            Tenants  Leasing 
                                              25% o r More 
                                              of Re ntable 
                                            Square Feet at 
Property                                   December  31, 1995 

Innsbrook Office Center 
  Market American                     O        1988       39,306         93%         100%         8  
  Proctor-Silex                       O        1986       58,366        100          100          8  
  Vantage Place I                     O        1987       15,334         90          100          8  
  Vantage Place II                    O        1987       14,223         87          100          8  
  Vantage Place III                   O        1988       14,615        100          100          8  
  Vantage Place IV                    O        1988       14,616        100          100          8  
  Vantage Point                       O        1990       63,867         98          100         16  
  Innsbrook Tech I                    S        1991       18,095        100           58         16  
  DEQ Technology Center               S        1991       53,999         81           80         16  
  DEQ Office                          O        1991       70,423        100          100          8  
Technology Park 
  Virginia Center                     S        1985      119,064         94           70         14  
Total or Weighted Average of 
Richmond Properties                                     481,908         95% 
Total or Weighted Average of All 
Properties                                            9,215,171         93% 
Innsbrook Office Center 
  Market American                  Mark IV 
  Proctor-Silex                    Proctor-Silex, I nc. 
  Vantage Place I                  Rountrey and Ass ociates 
  Vantage Place II                 Hastings-Tapley 
  Vantage Place III                Stenrich Group, Inc. 
  Vantage Place IV                 Corvel Healthcar e, Cemetary Mgmt. 
  Vantage Point                    EDS, Colonial In c. 
  Innsbrook Tech I                 Air Specialists of VA, Hobbs & 
                                   Assoc. 
  DEQ Technology Center            Virginia State G ov., First Health 
  DEQ Office                       Virginia State G ov. 
Technology Park 
  Virginia Center                  N/A 
Total or Weighted Average of 
Richmond Properties 
Total or Weighted Average of All 
Properties 



Development Land  
As of December 31, 1995, the Company owned approximately 203 acres of land for development. The following table sets forth the location 
(business park), acreage, build-out capacity and estimated construction costs with respect to the development land (dollars in thousands):  

 

(1) RTP = Research Triangle Park  
(2) This land will be acquired in installments as it is placed in service or by June 2000, whichever occurs first. All of the Development Land is 
zoned and available for office or industrial development and 166 acres have utility infrastructure already in place. The Company believes that 
the cost of developing the Development Land could be financed with the funds available from the Company's existing credit facility, additional 
borrowings and offerings of equity securities. The Company believes that its commercially zoned and unencumbered land in existing business 
parks gives the Company an advantage in its future development activities over other commercial real estate development companies in the 
Research Triangle, the Piedmont Triad and Charlotte. Any future development, however, is dependent on the demand for industrial or office 
space in the area, the availability of favorable financing and other factors, and no assurance can be given that any construction will take place 
on the Development Land. In addition, if construction is undertaken on the Development Land, the Company will be subject to the risks 
associated with construction activities, including the risk that occupancy rates and rents at a newly completed property may not be sufficient to 
make the property profitable, construction costs may exceed original estimates and construction and lease-up may not be completed on 
schedule, resulting in increased debt service expense and construction expense. Option Land  
The Company has options to purchase or rights of first refusal to purchase, lease or develop a total of 166 acres of undeveloped land (the 
"Option Land") at locations adjacent to Properties in two existing business parks. The Company has long-term rights of first refusal to 
purchase, lease or develop: (i) 147 acres in the Expressway Commerce Center, which is targeted for development of warehouses and service 
center facilities and (ii) 19 acres adjacent to Creekstone Park, which is targeted for service center development. The Company believes that its 
options to purchase and rights of first refusal to purchase and develop the Option Land may provide a competitive advantage regarding its 
future development activities in the Research Triangle. Such future development, however, is dependent on the availability of favorable 
financing and other factors, and no assurance can be given that any of the Option Land will be purchased or developed by the Company. In 
connection with the acquisition of the Hock Portfolio, the Company has obtained certain rights to purchase or develop approximately 78 acres 
of land.  
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                                                                                                           Estimated 
                                                                         Rentable Square Feet             Construction  
Business Park                          Location      Acreage    (Office)     (Industrial)     (Total)        Costs 
Capital Center...................      Raleigh          15        165,000            --        165,000       $ 14,250 
Creekstone Park..................       Durham          16        186,000            --        186,000         15,810 
Highwoods Office Center North....      Raleigh          18        310,000            --        310,000         26,350 
Highwoods Office Center South....      Raleigh          45        525,000            --        525,000         44,625 
Research Commons.................      RTP (1)          10        100,000            --        100,000          8,500 
Airpark East.....................     Greensboro        13         57,000        50,000        107,000          5,020 
Airpark North....................     Greensboro        10         20,000            --         20,000          1,600 
NationsFord Business Park........     Charlotte         15             --       170,000        170,000          3,920 
West Point Business 
  Park...........................   Winston-Salem       35             --       384,000        384,000          8,712 
Airport Center Drive 
  (2)............................     Greensboro        20        241,000            --        241,000         21,690 
Highwoods/Forsyth 
  Park...........................     Greensboro         6             --        60,000         60,000          3,600 
  Total..........................                      203      1,604,000       664,000      2,268,000       $154,077 



Third-Party Purchase Options  
Five of the Properties are subject to purchase options in favor of existing tenants during the terms of their leases. Highland Industries, Inc. has 
the option during the term of its lease to purchase the Highlands Building in Airpark East for a purchase price of $1,034,000 during each of the 
first five years of the lease term and, thereafter, at decreasing amounts through the tenth year of the lease term when the price will be $926,000. 
Although the Company believes that the option purchase price on the Highlands Building is currently at or above the current fair market value 
of the subject property, no assurance can be given that such price will be equal to the fair market value of such property at the time the option is 
exercised. Marketing Associates International, Inc. has an option to purchase the building it occupies in Steele Creek Park for a purchase price 
of $900,000. On March 31, 1995, the option was extended for one year upon payment of $25,000. The extension payments may be applied to 
the purchase price which remains at $900,000 during the first extension period and may be increased above $900,000 during the second 
extension period based upon the percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index ("CPI"). Marketing Associates International, Inc. has notified 
the Company that it will exercise its purchase option on March 31, 1996. Pump Parts & Services, Inc. has an option to purchase the building it 
occupies in Steele Creek Park for a purchase price of $37.37 per square foot ($561,708), subject to a minimum increase in the per square foot 
purchase price of 5% per year. One of the tenants of Rexwoods II has an option to purchase 33% of the property in December 1998 for cash at 
the then-current fair market value, as to be determined by an independent appraiser. In addition, Glaxo Wellcome has the option to purchase the 
4301 Building at Research Commons from March 1997 to the earlier of the lease termination or March 2003 for cash at the then-current fair 
market value to be determined by an appraiser chosen by the Company, provided the terms of such purchase are acceptable to the Company 
and Glaxo Wellcome.  

19  



ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  
None.  

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY  HOLDERS  
None.  

ITEM X. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT  
The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the directors and executive officers of the Company:  
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         Name             Age   Principal Occupatio ns and Other Directorships 
O. Temple Sloan, Jr.      56    Director and Chairm an of the Board of Directors. Mr. Sloan is a founde r of the 
                                predecessor of the Company and most recently served as its Secretary-T reasurer. 
                                Mr. Sloan also serv es as Chairman of General Parts, Inc., a nationwide  
                                distributor of auto mobile replacement parts, which he founded. Mr. Slo an is Vice 
                                Chairman of the Boa rd of Trustees of Peace College and is a trustee of  St. 
                                Andrews College. 
Ronald P. Gibson          51    Director, President  and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Gibson is a found er of the 
                                Company and has ser ved as its President since its incorporation in 199 2 and as 
                                managing partner of  its predecessor since its formation in 1978. Mr. G ibson is a 
                                member the Society of Industrial and Office Realtors and is a director  of Capital  
                                Associated Industri es. 
John L. Turner            49    Director, Vice Chai rman of the Board of Directors and Chief Investment  Officer. 
                                Mr. Turner began hi s career in the real estate industry in 1969 and co -founded 
                                Forsyth's predecess or in 1975. Mr. Turner is active in several Piedmon t Triad 
                                economic developmen t and business recruiting organizations. Mr. Turner  serves on 
                                the University of N orth Carolina Board of Visitors and on the Winston- Salem Board  
                                of Directors of Nat ionsBank. 
William T. Wilson, III    41    Director, Executive  Vice President and President of the Company's Fors yth 
                                Division. Mr. Wilso n joined Forsyth in 1982 and served as its Presiden t from 1993  
                                until its merger wi th the Company. Mr. Wilson serves on the Board of D irectors of  
                                Amos Cottage Rehabi litation Hospital, an affiliate of the Department o f 
                                Pediatrics of Bowma n Gray School of Medicine, Old Salem, Inc. and Reyn olda House,  
                                Inc. 
Thomas W. Adler           55    Director. Mr. Adler  is Chairman and a Principal of Cleveland Real Esta te 
                                Partners, a fee-bas ed real estate service company based in Cleveland, Ohio. Mr. 
                                Adler helped create  the Grubb and Ellis Institutional Investment Group  and 
                                previously served a s its President. Mr. Adler served five years as a m ember of 
                                the Executive Commi ttee and Board of Governors of the National Associa tion of 
                                Real Estate Investm ent Trusts, and he was national president in 1990 o f the 
                                Society of Industri al and Office Realtors. Mr. Adler formerly served o n the Board  
                                of Directors of the  National Association of Realtors and currently ser ves on the 
                                Board of Governors of the American Society of Real Estate Counselors. He is an 
                                active member of th e Urban Land Institute. 
William E. Graham         66    Director. Mr. Graha m is a lawyer in private practice with the firm of Hunton & 
                                Williams. Before jo ining Hunton & Williams on January 1, 1994, Mr. Gra ham was 
                                Vice Chairman of Ca rolina Power & Light Company and had previously ser ved as its 
                                general counsel. Mr . Graham is a former member of the Board of Directo rs of 
                                Carolina Power & Li ght Company and currently serves on the Raleigh Boa rd of 
                                Directors of Nation sBank. He also serves on the Board of Directors of BB&T Mutual  
                                Funds Group and is a former Director of Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of North 
                                Carolina. 
Robert L. Kirby           65    Director. Mr. Kirby  is a self-employed management consultant. Before r etiring 
                                from the banking bu siness in 1990, Mr. Kirby spent 34 years with Natio nsBank and 
                                its predecessor, No rth Carolina National Bank. At the time of his reti rement, he 
                                was President and a  member of the Board of Directors of NCNB National Bank of 
                                Florida. Mr. Kirby is a member of the Boards of Directors of NationsBa nk of 
                                Texas, N.A. and Cat o Corporation. 



 

Employment Agreements  
The Company's executive officers generally have employment agreements with the Company with a three-year duration. Messrs. Gibson and 
Fritsch have employment agreements through June 1997, and Messrs. Turner, Wilson and Liuzzo have employment agreements through 
February 1998. Each contract includes provisions restricting the officers from competing with the Company during employment and, except in 
certain circumstances, for a limited period of time after termination of employment. Each of the employment contracts provides for severance 
payments in the event of termination by the Company without cause equal to the officer's base salary for the later of one year from the date of 
termination or the expiration of the three-year employment agreement.  
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         Name             Age   Principal Occupatio ns and Other Directorships 
L. Glenn Orr, Jr.         55    Director. Mr. Orr i s the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offic er of Orr 
                                Management Co. He s erved as Chairman of the Board of Directors, Presid ent and 
                                Chief Executive Off icer of Southern National Corporation until its mer ger with 
                                Branch Banking & Tr ust. Mr. Orr continues to be a director of the merg ed bank. 
                                Mr. Orr, who previo usly served as President and Chief Executive Office r of 
                                Forsyth Bank and Tr ust Co. and President of Community Bank in Greenvil le, S.C., 
                                is former President  of the North Carolina Bankers Association. He is a  trustee of  
                                Wake Forest Univers ity and the University of North Carolina at Greensb oro. 
Stephen Timko             67    Director. Mr. Timko  is a partner of JHPB Partners, a limited partner o f the 
                                Operating Partnersh ip. He has served as Associate Vice President of Fi nancial 
                                Affairs for Temple University and Chief Financial Officer and Executiv e Vice 
                                President of Financ e and Administration for Beaunit Corporation. Mr. T imko 
                                currently serves as  Treasurer for Beaunit Corporation. 
Edward J. Fritsch         37    Vice President, Sec retary and President of the Company's Research Tria ngle 
                                Division. Mr. Frits ch joined the Company in 1982 and currently serves as 
                                President of the Co mpany's Highwoods Division. Mr. Fritsch is a Certif ied 
                                Property Manager. 
Carman J. Liuzzo          35    Vice President, Chi ef Financial Officer and Treasurer. Mr. Liuzzo join ed the 
                                Company in 1994 and  currently serves as Chief Financial Officer. Prior  to joining  
                                the Company, Mr. Li uzzo was Vice President and Chief Accounting Office r for 
                                Boddie-Noell Enterp rises, Inc. and Boddie-Noell Restaurant Properties,  Inc. Mr. 
                                Liuzzo is a certifi ed public accountant. 



PART II  

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK AN D RELATED  

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  
The Common Stock has been traded on the NYSE under the symbol "HIW" since the Company's initial public offering. The following table 
sets forth the quarterly high and low sales prices per share reported on the NYSE for the periods indicated and the distributions paid per share 
for each such period.  

 

(1) Prior to the Company's June 14, 1994, initial public stock offering.  
(2) No distribution was paid during this period. The accrued distribution of $0.075 per share was paid on November 16, 1994 at the time the 
Company paid its initial distribution for the period from inception to September 30, 1994. On March 1, 1996, the last reported sale price of the 
Common Stock on the NYSE was $30.00 per share. On March 1, 1996, the Company had 516 stockholders of record. The Company intends to 
continue to pay regular quarterly distributions to holders of shares of Common Stock and holders of Units. Although the Company intends to 
maintain its current distribution rate, future distributions by the Company will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend on 
the actual funds from operations of the Company, its financial condition, capital requirements, the annual distribution requirements under the 
REIT provisions of the Code and such other factors as the Board of Directors deems relevant. During the year ended 1995, the Company's 
distributions totalled $25,348,000 of which $2,226,000 represented return of capital for financial statement purposes. The minimum per share 
distribution required to maintain REIT Status was approximately $1.55 per share in 1995 and $.48 per share in 1994. The Company has 
instituted a Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan under which holders of Common Stock may elect automatically to reinvest their 
distributions in additional shares of Common Stock and may make optional cash payments for additional shares of Common Stock. The 
Company may issue additional shares of Common Stock or, with respect to reinvested distributions, repurchase Common Stock in the open 
market for purposes of financing its obligations under the Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan.  

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA The following table sets forth selected financial and operating information for the Company as of 
December 31, 1995 and 1994, for the year ended December 31, 1995, and for the period from June 14, 1994 (commencement of operations) to 
December 31, 1994. The following table also sets forth selected financial and operating information on a historical basis for the Highwoods 
Group (the predecessor to the Company) as of and for each of the years in the five-year period ended December 31, 1993, and for the period 
from January 1, 1994, to June 13, 1994. Due to the impact of the initial formation of the Company and the initial public offering in 1994, the 
second and third offerings in 1995 and the transactions more fully described in "Management's Discussion and Analysis -- Overview and 
Background," the historical results of operations for the years ended December 31, 1991, 1992, 1993 and 1994 may not be comparable to the 
current period results of operations.  
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Period or Quarter                    1995                                 1994 
  Ended:                High      Low      Distribu tion      High      Low      Distribution 
March 31............   $22.00    $19.88       $0.42 5            --        --            --(1)  
June 30.............    25.50     21.25         0.4 5        $21.68    $19.68         0.075(2)  
September 30........    26.88     23.88         0.4 5         21.13     19.75         0.425 
December 31.........    28.38     25.50         0.4 5         21.68     18.50         0.425 



The Company and the Highwoods Group  

 

(1) Rental property operating expenses include salaries, real estate taxes, insurance, repairs and maintenance, property management, security 
and utilities.  
(2) Rental property operating expenses include salaries, real estate taxes, insurance, repairs and maintenance, property management, security, 
utilities, leasing, development, and construction expenses.  
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                                                                              Highwoods 
                                                          Company               Group        Year ende d December 31, 
                                                                 June 14,     January 1, 
                                                 Ye ar Ended      1994 to       1994 to 
                                                Dec ember 31,   December 31,    June 13,          Highw oods Group 
                                                    1995           1994          1994       1993      1992      1991 
                                                           (Dollars in thousands, except per share amo unts) 
Operating Data: 
  Total revenue...............................   $   73,522     $   19,442     $  6,648    $13,450   $ 12,532   $ 9,774 
  Rental property 
    operating expenses........................       17,049(1)       5,110(1)     2,596(2)   6,248(2)   5,587(2)   4,467(2)  
  General and administrative..................        2,737            810          280        589       694       690 
  Interest expense............................       13,720          3,220        2,473      5,185     5,059     3,908 
  Depreciation and amortization...............       11,082          2,607          835      1,583     1,431     1,135 
  Income (loss) before minority interest......       28,934          7,695          464       (155)     (239)     (426) 
  Minority interest...........................       (4,937)          (808)          --         --        --        -- 
  Income before extraordinary item............       23,997          6,887          464       (155)     (239)     (426) 
  Extraordinary item-loss on early 
    extinguishment of debt....................         (875)        (1,273)          --         --        --        -- 
  Net income (loss)...........................   $   23,122     $    5,614     $    464    $  (155)  $   (239)  $  (426) 
  Net income per 
    common share..............................   $     1.49     $      .63 
Balance Sheet Data 
  (at end of period): 
  Real estate, net of 
    accumulated depreciation..................   $  593,066     $  207,976     $     --    $51,590   $ 46,626   $44,554 
  Total assets................................      621,134        224,777           --     58,679    53,688    48,647 
  Total mortgages and 
    notes payable.............................      182,736         66,864           --     64,347    60,279    56,455 
Other Data: 
  Number of in-service properties.............          191             44           14         14        13        13 
  Total rentable square feet..................    9 ,215,171      2,746,219      816,690    816,690   7 94,174   794,174 



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  
Overview and Background  
The Highwoods Group (the predecessor to the Company) was comprised of 13 office properties and one warehouse facility (the "Highwoods-
Owned Properties"), 94 acres of development land and the management, development and leasing business of Highwoods Properties Company 
("HPC"). On June 14, 1994, following completion of the Company's initial public offering of 8,510,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of 
$21.00 per share, the Company, through a business combination involving entities under varying common ownership, succeeded to the 
Highwoods-Owned Properties, HPC's real estate business and 27 additional office properties owned by unaffiliated parties (such combination 
being referred to as the "Formation Transaction"). The Company acquired three additional Properties in 1994 after the Formation Transaction.  
During the year ended December 31, 1995, the Company acquired 144 Properties encompassing 6,357,000 square feet at a initial cost of 
$369,900,000. The following table summarizes the mergers and acquisitions completed during the year ended December 31, 1995 (dollars in 
thousands):  

 

Minority interest in the Company represents the limited partnership interest owned by various individuals and entities and not the Company in 
the Operating Partnership, the entity that owns the Company's properties and through which the Company, as the sole general partner, conducts 
substantially all of its operations.  
The combined financial statements of the Highwoods Group for the two years ended December 31, 1993, include the accounts of the 
management, leasing and development operations of HPC and the partnerships that owned 14 buildings and two parcels of development land. 
The Highwoods Group's financial statements have been presented on a combined basis because of the affiliated general partners and common 
management of the Highwoods-Owned Properties. Given the effect of the acquisitions discussed above, the results of the Highwoods Group for 
the period from January 1, 1994, to June 13, 1994, and for the year ended December 31, 1993, are not comparable to the current operations of 
the Company.  
This information should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated and combined financial statements and the related notes 
thereto.  
The pro forma operating data for the year ended December 31, 1994 assumes completion of the Initial Public Offering and the Formation 
Transaction as of January 1, 1994. See Note 1 "Organization and Formation of the Company." Results of Operations  
Comparison of the Company 1995 to the Company Pro Forma 1994 For the year ended December 31, 1995 total revenues were comprised of 
$71,217,000 of rental revenues and $2,305,000 of interest and other income. For the year ended December 31, 1994 pro forma total  
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                                                    Number of       Rentable       Initial 
Property                       Location             Properties     Square Feet       Cost 
Forsyth Transaction    Piedmont Triad/Charlotte          57         3,630,565      $169,900  
Richmond Expansion     Richmond                          10           362,844        28,700  
Research Commons       Research Triangle                  6           539,310        60,000  
Creekstone Crossing    Research Triangle                  1            59,299         4,500  
Bissell Portfolio      Piedmont Triad/Charlotte          56           920,283        36,900  
Hock Portfolio         Research Triangle                  5           274,604        21,200  
Six Forks I & II       Research Triangle                  2            89,470         8,800  
Cotton                 Research Triangle                  1            40,035         2,400  
Parkway Plaza          Charlotte                          6           440,134        37,500  
              Total                                     144         6,356,544      $369,900  



revenues included $33,626,000 of rental revenues, $200,000 in distributions from Highwoods Services, Inc. and $456,000 of interest income.  
The $37,591,000 increase in rental income from pro forma 1994 to 1995 was primarily attributable to the rental revenue derived from 
properties acquired during 1995. Revenues from the Company's initial portfolio of 41 properties increased by 2.1% over the comparable 1994 
period. Vacancies in Smoketree Tower and Cape Fear partially offset rental rate increases and occupancy gains in other properties.  
The increase in interest income from $465,000 in pro forma 1994 to $2,305,000 in 1995 was due primarily to the increase in short-term 
investments during the three month period following the Company's Third Offering in August 1995.  
Rental property expenses represented 23.9% of rental revenues in 1995 compared to 28.8% for pro forma 1994. The decline in this ratio was a 
result of increased operating efficiencies and the addition of revenues from industrial properties in 1995. Industrial properties are generally 
leased on a "triple net" basis with the tenant paying all operating costs.  
General and administrative expenses increased from $1,134,000 or 3.3% of total revenues for pro forma 1994 to $2,737,000 or 3.7% of total 
revenues for 1995. The increase in general and administrative expenses was a result of the growth of the Company's operations into the 
Piedmont Triad and Richmond.  

Interest expense increased from $5,604,000 for pro forma 1994 to $13,720,000 for 1995. The increase in interest expense was a result of an 
increased debt level during 1995 compared to 1994 as the Company financed a portion of its 1995 acquisition activity through the use of debt 
financing. The Company's interest expense for 1995 included a benefit of $385,000 as a result of its interest rate protection agreement.  

Depreciation and amortization expense increased from $4,638,000 for pro forma 1994 to $11,082,000 for 1995. The increase in depreciation 
and amortization expense reflects the increase in real estate assets during 1995.  
Net income before minority interest and extraordinary item equaled $28,934,000 or $1.87 per share for 1995 compared to $13,229,000 or $1.47 
per share for pro forma 1994.  
In connection with the repayment of indebtedness related to the Forsyth Transaction, the Company incurred prepayment penalties of 
$1,047,000. This amount was recorded as an extraordinary item and is presented in the consolidated financial statement as ($875,000), net of 
the minority interest in such loss.  
Comparison of the Company Pro Forma 1994 to the Highwoods Group for the Year Ended December 31, 1993  
For 1994, total revenue on a pro forma basis was $34,282,000 compared to historical revenues of $13,450,000 for the Highwoods Group for the 
same period of 1993. The net increase is primarily attributed to the addition of 27 additional office properties in connection with the initial 
public offering and increased occupancy of the Highwoods Group offset by the decrease in non-rental revenue (leasing, development and 
construction) due to the Company accounting for its interest in Highwoods Realty Services, Inc. and Highwoods Leasing Company under the 
cost method of accounting. Accordingly, on a pro forma basis, total revenues will include only the distributions from such subsidiaries.  
For 1994, rental property operating expenses total $9,677,000 and equaled 28.8% of rental revenues on a pro forma basis compared to 
$4,398,186 and 48.9% of rental revenues for the Highwoods Group on a historical basis for the same period of 1993. This decrease from 
historical to pro forma, as a percentage of rental revenues, is due primarily to the operations of the Properties on a combined, self-managed 
basis as compared to separate entities historically. Major components of the decrease in rental operating expenses as a percentage of rental 
revenues can be attributed to the provision of management and leasing services by employees of the Company for which fees were paid 
historically.  
For 1994 general and administrative expenses equaled $1,134,000 or 3.3% of total revenues on a pro forma basis compared to $589,000 or 
4.4% of total revenues for 1993. Increased operating efficiencies in 1994 generated the decrease in general and administrative expenses as a 
percentage of revenues.  
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For 1994, interest expense totaled $5,604,000 and equaled 16.3% of total revenues on a pro forma basis compared to $5,185,000 and 38.6% of 
total revenues on a historical basis for the Highwoods Group for the same period of 1993. This decrease from historical to pro forma, as a 
percentage of total revenues, is due primarily to the Company's reduced leverage as a result of the reduction of debt using proceeds from the 
initial public offering.  
The increase in depreciation expense from $1,583,000 for the Highwoods Group for 1993 to $4,638,000 for pro forma 1994 was due to the 
increase in real estate assets during 1994 as the Company increased its portfolio from 14 properties to 30 properties.  
For 1994, net income before minority interest would have been $13,229,000 on a pro forma basis compared to a loss of ($155,000) on a 
historical basis for the Highwoods Group for the same period of 1993. Lower interest expense combined with the operating efficiencies gained 
from operating the Properties on a combined basis and the increased revenues of the Company were the primary reasons for the increase in net 
income before minority interest from the historical periods to the same periods on a pro forma basis. Highwoods Group -- Comparison of 1993 
to 1992 Revenue from rental operations for the Highwoods Group for 1993 increased $800,000, or 10%, to $8,984,000, as compared to 
$8,184,000 for 1992. Approximately $360,000 of the increase related to additional lease up of Highwoods Tower, $165,000 resulted from the 
acquisition of the Leatherwood and Ironwood properties and $110,000 resulted from the opening in October 1993 of Rexwoods II. The balance 
of the increase, approximately $165,000, related to improved occupancy in the remainder of the portfolio, including approximately $100,000 in 
the Hawthorn building. Revenue from leasing, development, and construction income for the Highwoods Group for 1993, increased $231,000, 
or 7%, to $3,721,000, as compared to $3,490,000 for 1992. This increase was primarily due to the new properties (Highwoods Tower and 
Rexwoods II) and related construction income earned from the tenants occupying these properties.  
Operating expenses (which include property, construction, maintenance, leasing, depreciation, amortization, and marketing, general and 
administrative expenses) increased $709,000, or 9%, to $8,421,000 for 1993, as compared to $7,712,000 for 1992. This increase resulted 
primarily from an increase in property operating expenses of $201,000, an increase in construction and maintenance expense of $724,000, 
offset by a decrease in leasing expense of $263,000 for 1993 as compared to 1992.  
General and administrative expenses decreased $105,000 due to a reduction in professional services, and interest expense increased $126,000 
from additional debt service on Rexwoods II for 1993 as compared to 1992. Depreciation and amortization increased $152,000 from 
$1,431,000 for 1992 to $1,583,000 for 1993. Depreciation expense on tenant improvements accounted for $234,000 of the depreciation 
expense for 1993.  
As a result of these changes in rental revenue and expenses, net loss decreased $84,000, or 35%, to $155,000 in 1993, as compared to $239,000 
in 1992. Liquidity and Capital Resources  
Statement of Cash Flows  
The Company generated $43,169,000 in cash flows from operating activities and $93,443,000 in cash flow from financing activities for the 
year ended December 31, 1995. The Company utilized $136,032,000 of this cash flow to invest in real property assets of $130,411,000 and 
cash payments to joint venture partners of $6,593,000.  
Capitalization  
The Company's total indebtedness at December 31, 1995 totaled $182,736,000 and was comprised of $6,500,000 outstanding under the 
Company's current $80,000,000 Credit Facility (the "Credit Facility"), $134,687,000 of conventional fixed rate mortgage indebtedness with an 
average rate of 9.0%, $36,549,000 outstanding under variable rate mortgages (see below for a discussion of interest rate protection agreements) 
and a 9%, $5,000,000 unsecured note.  
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Based on the Company's total market capitalization of $836,328,000 at December 31, 1995 (at the December 31, 1995, stock price of $28.25 
and including the conversion of the 3,731,000 Units of minority interest in the Operating Partnership), the Company's debt represented 
approximately 22% of its total market capitalization.  
The Company completed the following financing activities during year ended December 31, 1995:  
(Bullet) During the quarter ended March 31, 1995, the Company completed a 5,640,000 share public offering of Common Stock (including 
640,000 shares issued pursuant to the underwriter's over allotment option). The net proceeds of the offering totaled $109,800,000 and were 
used primarily to retire indebtedness assumed in connection with the Forsyth Transaction.  
(Bullet) Also during the quarter ended March 31, 1995, the Company received the proceeds from a $41,000,000, 20-year fixed rate (8.97%) 
mortgage loan. After 10 years the loan provides for a rate reset, with each party having the option at that time to put or call the loan, as the case 
may be. The proceeds from the loan were used, together with the public offering proceeds discussed above, to fund the Forsyth Transaction.  
(Bullet) During the quarter ended September 30, 1995, the Company completed a 4,774,989 share public offering of Common Stock (including 
574,989 shares issued pursuant to the underwriters' over allotment option). The net proceeds of the public offering totaled $110,000,000 and 
were used primarily to retire amounts outstanding under the Company's Credit Facility, to fund the Richmond Expansion, to fund the cost of 
various development projects and to provide working capital.  
(Bullet) Also, during the quarter ended September 30, 1995, the Company received the proceeds from a $32,000,000, 20-year fixed rate 
(8.15%) mortgage loan. After 10 years the loan provides for a rate reset and a put/call option (as described above). The proceeds from the loan 
were used to fund the property acquisitions made during the quarter.  
(Bullet) In connection with the acquisition of the Bissell Portfolio, the Company entered into a $12,250,000, 15-year variable rate mortgage 
loan with a put/call option at the end of years five and ten. (Bullet) In connection with the Company's 1995 acquisitions, the Company assumed 
13 loans with an aggregate outstanding balance on the various transaction closing dates of $72,500,000 and issued 2,676,000 Units valued at 
$57,300,000.  
The Credit Facility requires monthly payments of interest only, with the balance of all principal and accrued but unpaid interest due on June 14, 
1999. The Credit Facility bears interest at a floating rate equal to 150 basis points over one-month LIBOR, subject to the interest rate protection 
agreement described below. At December 31, 1995, one-month LIBOR was 5.9%. The Credit Facility is secured by first mortgage liens on a 
portfolio of 22 Properties. The Company has received a commitment from three commercial banks whereby they will provide the Company 
with a $140,000,000 unsecured credit facility (the "New Credit Facility"), which is expected to close March 31, 1996 subject to completion of 
final documentation. The New Credit Facility will replace the existing Credit Facility.  
To protect the Company from increases in interest expense due to changes in the variable rate, the Company: (i) purchased an interest rate cap 
limiting its exposure to an increase in interest rates (one-month LIBOR plus 150 basis points) to 7.0% with respect to the $80,000,000 Credit 
Facility, and (ii) in connection with the $36,549,000 variable rate mortgages, entered into interest rate swaps which limit its exposure to an 
increase in the interest rates to 7.24% with respect to the assumed indebtedness. The interest rate on all such variable rate debt is adjusted at 
monthly intervals, subject to the Company's interest rate protection program. Payments received from the counterparties under the interest rate 
protection agreements were $385,000 and $25,000 for 1995 and 1994, respectively. The Company is exposed to certain losses in the event of 
non-performance by the counterparties under the cap and swap arrangements. The counterparties are major financial institutions and are 
expected to fully perform under the agreements. However, if they were to default on their obligations under the arrangements, the Company 
could be required to pay the full rate under its Credit Facility and the variable rate mortgages, even if such rate were in excess of the rate in the 
cap and swap agreements. In addition, the Company may incur other variable rate indebtedness in the  
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future. Increases in interest rates on its indebtedness could increase the Company's interest expense and could adversely affect the Company's 
cash flow and its ability to pay expected distributions to stockholders.  
Historically, rental revenue has been the principal source of funds to pay operating expenses, debt service and capital expenditures, excluding 
non-recurring capital expenditures. In addition, construction management, maintenance, leasing and management fees have provided sources of 
cash flow. Management believes that the Company will have access to the capital resources necessary to expand and develop its business. To 
the extent that the Company's cash flow from operating activities is insufficient to finance its acquisition costs and other capital expenditures, 
including development costs, the Company expects to finance such activities through the New Credit Facility and other debt and equity 
financing.  
The Company presently has no plans for major capital improvements to the existing properties, other than normal recurring non-revenue 
enhancing expenditures. The Company expects to meet its short-term liquidity requirements generally through its working capital and net cash 
provided by operating activities along with the previously discussed Credit Facility. The Company expects to meet certain of its financing 
requirements through long-term secured and unsecured borrowings and the issuance of debt securities or additional equity securities of the 
Company. In addition, the Company anticipates utilizing the Credit Facility and New Credit Facility primarily to fund construction and 
development activities. The Company does not intend to reserve funds to retire existing mortgage indebtedness or indebtedness under the 
Credit Facility or New Credit Facility upon maturity. Instead, the Company will seek to refinance such debt at maturity or retire such debt 
through the issuance of additional equity or debt securities. The Company anticipates that its available cash and cash equivalents and cash 
flows from operating activities, together with cash available from borrowings and other sources, will be adequate to meet the capital and 
liquidity needs of the Company in both the short and long-term. However, if these sources of funds are insufficient or unavailable, the 
Company's ability to make the expected distributions discussed below may be adversely affected.  
In order to qualify as a REIT for Federal income tax purposes, the Company is required to make distributions to its stockholders of at least 95% 
of REIT taxable income. The Company expects to use its cash flow from operating activities for distributions to stockholders and for payment 
of recurring, non- incremental revenue-generating expenditures. The Company intends to invest amounts accumulated for distribution in short-
term investments. The following factors will affect cash flows from operating activities and, accordingly, influence the decisions of the Board 
of Directors regarding distributions: (i) debt service requirements after taking into account the repayment and restructuring of certain 
indebtedness; (ii) scheduled increases in base rents of existing leases; (iii) changes in rents attributable to the renewal of existing leases or 
replacement leases; (iv) changes in occupancy rates at existing Properties and procurement of leases for newly acquired or developed 
properties; and (v) operating expenses and capital replacement needs. Pending Nashville Acquisition  
On January 23, 1996, the Company entered into a letter of intent with Nashville, Tennessee-based Eakin & Smith, Inc. and its affiliates ("Eakin 
& Smith"), which outlined the principal terms in which the Company and Eakin & Smith would combine their property portfolios, management 
teams and business operations. Through the combination with Eakin & Smith, the Company will succeed to the ownership of seven 96% leased 
in-service suburban office buildings totaling 848,000 square feet, a 103,000-square-foot, 50% pre-leased suburban office development project, 
18 acres of development land and Eakin & Smith's brokerage and property management operations. The aggregate purchase price, assuming 
the completion of the in-process development project in December 1996, is expected to total approximately $100,000,000 and is expected to be 
paid through the issuance of approximately 1.1 million limited partnership units of Highwoods/Forsyth Limited Partnership or shares of 
Common Stock, the assumption of approximately $42 million of indebtedness and cash payments of approximately $27 million. The aggregate 
purchase price includes deferred payments totaling $1,500,000, which are attributable to Eakin & Smith's brokerage and property management 
operations, that will be paid over a four-year period provided certain annual operating measurements are achieved. The Company will fund the 
cash payments with available capacity under its Credit Facility.  

28  



Consummation of the transaction is subject to the completion of due diligence, the execution of a definitive contribution and exchange 
agreement, the consent of certain lenders, the approval of the transaction by the partners and shareholders of the contributing entities and 
certain other conditions. Assuming satisfaction of these conditions, the transaction is expected to close in March 1996.  
Possible Environmental Liabilities  
All of the properties, except Burnt Poplar, have been subjected to Phase I environmental reviews. These assessments have not revealed, nor is 
the Company aware of, any environmental liability that the Company believes would have a material adverse effect on the Company's results 
of operations, liquidity or capital resources. This projection, however, could prove to be incorrect depending on certain factors. For example, 
the Company's assessments may not reveal all environmental liabilities or there may be material environmental liabilities of which the 
Company is unaware. In addition, assumptions regarding groundwork-flow and the existence of contamination are based on available sampling 
data, and there are no assurances that the data is reliable in all cases. Moreover, there can be no assurance that (i) future laws, ordinances or 
regulations will not impose any material environmental liability or (ii) the current environmental condition of the Properties will not be affected 
by tenants, by the condition of land or operations in the vicinity of the Properties (such as the presence of underground storage tanks), or by 
third parties unrelated to the Company.  
Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act Under the Americans with Disabilities Act (the "ADA"), all public accommodations and 
commercial facilities are required to meet certain Federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. These requirements 
became effective in 1992. Compliance with the ADA requirements could require removal of access barriers, and non-compliance could result 
in imposition of fines by the U.S. government or an award of damages to private litigants. Although the Company believes that the Properties 
are substantially in compliance with these requirements, the Company may incur additional costs to comply with the ADA. Although the 
Company believes that such costs will not have a material adverse effect on the Company, if required changes involve a greater expenditure 
than the Company currently anticipates, the Company's results of operations, liquidity and capital resources could be adversely affected. Funds 
From Operations and Cash Available for Distributions The Company considers Funds from Operations ("FFO") to be a useful financial 
performance measure of the operating performance of an equity REIT because, together with net income and cash flows, FFO provides 
investors with an additional basis to evaluate the ability of a REIT to incur and service debt and to fund acquisitions and other capital 
expenditures. Funds from Operations does not represent net income or cash flows from operations as defined by GAAP and FFO should not be 
considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of the Company's operating performance or as an alternative to cash flows as a 
measure of liquidity. Funds from Operations does not measure whether cash flow is sufficient to fund all of the Operating Partnership's cash 
needs including principal amortization, capital improvements and distributions to shareholders. Funds from Operations does not represent cash 
flows from operating, investing or financing activities as defined by GAAP. Further, FFO as disclosed by other REITs may not be comparable 
to the Operating Partnership's calculation of FFO, as described below.  
Funds from Operations means net income (computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles) excluding gains (or losses) 
from debt restructuring and sales of property, plus depreciation and amortization, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and 
joint ventures. In March 1995, NAREIT issued a clarification of the definition of FFO. The clarification provides that amortization of deferred 
financing costs and depreciation of non-real estate assets are no longer to be added back to net income in arriving at FFO. Cash available for 
distribution is defined as funds from operations reduced by non-revenue enhancing capital expenditures for building improvements and tenant 
improvements and lease commissions related to second generation space.  
Funds from operations and cash available for distributions should not be considered as alternatives to net income as an indication of the 
Operating Partnership's performance or to cash flows as a measure of liquidity.  
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Funds from operations and cash available for distribution for the year ended December 31, 1995 and for the period from June 14, 1994 to 
December 31, 1994 are summarized in the following table (in thousands):  

 

(1) Assumes conversion of Units to shares of Common Stock. Inflation  
In the last five years, inflation has not had a significant impact on the Company because of the relatively low inflation rate in the Company's 
geographic areas of operation. Most of the leases require the tenants to pay their pro rata share of operating expenses, including common area 
maintenance, real estate taxes and insurance, thereby reducing the Company's exposure to increases in operating expenses resulting from 
inflation. In addition, many of the leases are for terms of less than seven years, which may enable the Company to replace existing leases with 
new leases at a higher base if rents on the existing leases are below the then-existing market rate.  

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA   
The financial statements and supplementary data are listed under Item 14(a) and filed as part of this report on the pages indicated.  

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  
None.  
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                                                                              1995                  19 94 
                                                                       Current      New      Current      New 
                                                                       Method     Method     Method     Method 
Income before minority interest and extraordinary i tem..............   $28,934    $28,934    $ 7,695    $ 7,695 
Add (deduct): 
  Depreciation and amortization.................... .................    11,082     11,082      2,607      2,607 
  Amortization of deferred financing costs......... .................     1,619         --        738         -- 
  Third-party service company cash flow............ .................        --         --         --         -- 
  Rental income from straight-line rents........... .................    (1,519)        --       (503)        -- 
     Funds from operations before minority interest .................    40,116     40,016     10,537     10,302 
Cash Available for Distribution: 
Add (deduct): 
  Rental income from straight-line rents........... .................        --     (1,519)        --       (503)  
  Amortization of deferred financing costs......... .................        --      1,619         --        738 
  Non-incremental revenue generating capital expend itures: 
     Building improvements paid.................... .................    (1,337)    (1,337)      (150)      (150)  
     Second generation tenant improvements paid.... .................    (1,884)    (1,884)      (347)      (347)  
     Second generation lease commissions paid...... .................    (1,228)    (1,228)      (180)      (180)  
       Cash available for distribution............. .................   $35,667    $35,667    $ 9,860    $ 9,860 
Weighted average shares/units outstanding (1)...... .................    18,697     18,697      9,991      9,991 
Dividend payout ratio: 
  Funds from operations............................ .................      81.5%      81.8%      87.7%      89.7%  
  Cash available from distribution................. .................      91.7%      91.7%      93.7%      93.7%  



PART III  

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT  
The section under the heading "Election of Directors" of the Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 30, 1996 
(the "Proxy Statement") is incorporated herein by reference for information on Directors of the Registrant. See ITEM X in Part I hereof for 
information regarding executive officers of the Registrant.  

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  
Compensation of Directors  
The Company pays its directors who are not officers of the Company fees for their services as directors. Directors receive annual compensation 
of $10,000 plus a fee of $1,250 (plus out-of-pocket expenses) for attendance in person at each meeting of the Board of Directors, $500 for each 
committee meeting attended and $250 for each telephone meeting of the Board of Directors or of a committee. In addition, upon becoming a 
director of the Company, each non-employee director received options to purchase 10,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price equal 
to the fair market value at the date of grant. These options vest in four equal annual installments commencing on the first anniversary of the 
date of grant. Officers of the Company who are directors are not paid any director fees. Executive Compensation  
The following table sets forth certain information concerning the compensation of the chief executive officer and the four other most highly 
compensated executive officers of the Company (the "Named Executive Officers") for the year ended December 31, 1995 and for the period 
from June 14, 1994 (the date of the IPO) to December 31, 1994:  

Summary Compensation Table  

 

(1) Includes amounts earned in the indicated period which were paid in the following year. Twenty percent of bonus is in the form of units of 
phantom stock. Employees are credited with a specified number of units of phantom stock equal to such number of shares of Common Stock as 
could be purchased with 25% of the employee's cash bonus. Five years from the date of the phantom stock grant, employees will receive the 
value of a share of Common Stock for each unit of phantom stock. At the end of such five-year period, phantom stock holders also receive the 
value of the dividends paid during the period on the corresponding Common Stock assuming dividend reinvestment. Payouts with respect to 
phantom stock grants may be made in shares of Common Stock or cash or both. If an executive officer leaves the Company's employ for any 
reason (other than death, disability or normal retirement) prior to the end of the five-year period, all awards under the deferred compensation 
plan will be forfeited.  
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                                                                                 Long-Term 
                                                      Annual Compensation     Compensation(2)       Al l Other 
Name and Principal Position                   Year     Salary     Bonus(1)      Options(#)        Comp ensation 
Ronald P. Gibson                              1995    $ 173,397   $218,750         20,000            $  2,310(3)  
  President and Chief Executive Officer....   1994    $  81,250   $105,169         40,000            $  7,737(3)  
John L. Turner                                1995    $ 125,230   $119,531         45,000            $  2,250(3)  
  Chief Investment Officer(4)..............   1994           --         --             --                 -- 
William T. Wilson, III                        1995    $ 111,651   $114,750         50,000            $  2,025(3)  
  Executive Vice President and President of   1994           --         --             --                 -- 
  Forsyth Division(4)...................... 
Edward J. Fritsch                             1995    $ 113,750   $105,000         10,000            $  4,559(3)  
  Vice President, Secretary and President     1994    $  43,481   $ 36,575         30,000            $  3,838(3)  
  of Research Triangle Division............ 
Carman J. Liuzzo                              1995    $  99,167   $ 62,500         10,000            $  1,511(3)  
  Vice President, Chief Financial Officer     1994    $  41,347   $ 25,359         25,000            $ 25,000(5)  
  and Treasurer............................ 



(2) These options will vest in four equal installments on the second, third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the date of grant. All 1995 amounts 
were granted in 1996 but were earned in 1995 except that Messrs. Turner and Wilson were each granted 45,000 options in 1995 in connection 
with the Forsyth Transaction (see the table below captioned "Option Grants in 1995").  
(3) Represents amounts contributed by the Company under the Salary Deferral and Profit Sharing Plan.  
(4) Messrs. Turner and Wilson became employees of the Company upon the combination with Forsyth Partners in February 1995.  
(5) Paid in connection with Mr. Liuzzo's relocation to Raleigh upon joining the Company in June 1994. The following table sets forth certain 
information with respect to options granted in 1995 to the Named Executive Officers:  

 
Option Grants in 1995  

 

(1) These options will vest in four equal installments on the second, third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the date of grant.  
(2) Realizable values have been reduced by the per share option exercise price that each optionee will be required to pay to the Company in 
order to exercise the options. The following table sets forth certain information with respect to options held by the Named Executive Officers at 
year-end 1995:  

 
1995 Year-End Option Values  

 

(1) Based on a closing price of $28.25 per share of Common Stock on December 29, 1995. Employment Contracts  
Messrs. Gibson, Fritsch and Liuzzo entered into three-year employment contracts with the Company in 1994, as did Messrs. Turner and Wilson 
in 1995. These contracts provide for a minimum annual base salary at the rate of $150,000 for Mr. Gibson, $150,000 for Mr. Turner, $135,000 
for Mr. Wilson, $85,000 for Mr. Fritsch, and $86,000 for Mr. Liuzzo, which rate may be increased by the Board of Directors. As of December 
31, 1995, the annual base salary rate was $175,000 for Mr. Gibson, $150,000 for Mr. Turner, $135,000 for Mr. Wilson, $120,000 for Mr. 
Fritsch and $100,000 for Mr. Liuzzo. Each contract includes  
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                                                                                              Potentia l Realizable 
                              Number of        Perc ent of                                    Value at Assumed Annual  
                             Securities      Total Options                                    Rates of  Stock Price 
                             Underlying        Gran ted to      Exercise                      Appreciat ion for Option  
                               Options         Empl oyees         Price       Expiration             Te rm (2) 
Name                         Granted(1)         in 1995        Per Share        Date            5%           10% 
Ronald P. Gibson.........           --               --              --          --                 --             --  
John L. Turner...........       45,000            1 1.3%         $ 20.75     February 2005    $ 587,230    $ 1,488,152  
William T. Wilson, III...       45,000            1 1.3%         $ 20.75     February 2005    $ 587,230    $ 1,488,152  
Edward J. Fritsch........           --               --              --          --                 --             --  
Carman J. Liuzzo.........           --               --              --          --                 --             --  

                             Number of Securities U nderlying                   Value of Unexercised in -the-Money  
                           Unexercised Options at 1 995 Year-End                    Options at 1995 Yea r-End 
Name                            Exercisable/Unexerc isable                        Exercisable/Unexercis able(1) 
Ronald P. Gibson........                  -- /40,00 0                                        -- /$290,0 00 
John L. Turner..........                  -- /45,00 0                                        -- /$337,5 00 
William T. Wilson, III..                  -- /45,00 0                                        -- /$337,5 00 
Edward J. Fritsch.......                  -- /30,00 0                                        -- /$217,5 00 
Carman J. Liuzzo........                  -- /25,00 0                                        -- /$181,2 50 



provisions restricting the officers from competing with the Company during employment and, except in certain circumstances, for a limited 
period of time after termination of employment. Each of the employment contracts provides for severance payments in the event of termination 
by the Company without cause equal to the officer's base salary at the rate then in effect for the later of one year from the date of termination or 
three years from the contract date.  

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT  
The section under the heading "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" of the Proxy Statement is incorporated 
herein by reference.  

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS  
On February 10, 1995, the Operating Partnership acquired the six-building Research Commons office center in exchange for Units and the 
assumption of certain indebtedness. Mr. Timko, who is a director of the Company, was one of the owners of Research Commons and indirectly 
received 262,215 Units as a result of the transaction. Mr. Timko may also receive his share of up to 40,000 additional Units, which may be paid 
in the event the property meets certain performance objectives. Pursuant to the terms of the Research Commons acquisition agreements, if the 
rentals of the buildings at Research Commons meet certain levels of financial performance, the prior owners of Research Commons are entitled 
to receive an additional 40,000 Units, subject to increase for accrued dividends from the date of the Company's purchase of Research Commons 
on any such earn-out Units issued. Earn-out Units will be issued in the event the leases for the 4301 building and the 4501 building at the 
Research Commons office park are renewed; provided, however, that no earn-out Units are issuable if expenditures related to such renewals 
exceed $440,000. As part of the Research Commons acquisition, Mr. Timko was released from guarantees aggregating approximately $6.3 
million relating to indebtedness secured by Research Commons, and the Company assumed a $5 million promissory note owed by the previous 
owners of Research Commons (of which Mr. Timko was an affiliate) to Beaunit Corporation, which is also affiliated with Mr. Timko.  
On February 23, 1995, the Company and Forsyth Partners combined their property portfolios, management teams and business operations. As 
part of the combination with Forsyth Partners (the "Forsyth Transaction"), the Company succeeded to the ownership of 58 commercial 
properties and the management, brokerage, development, construction and related businesses of Forsyth Partners. In connection with the 
Forsyth Transaction, Messrs. Turner and Wilson contributed their interests in the assets of Forsyth Partners in exchange for the following: Mr. 
Turner received 399,541 Units (including 43,692 Units in exchange for a promissory note secured by Ivy Distribution Center, which was 
acquired in the Forsyth Transaction); and Mr. Wilson received 258,204 Units. Each of Messrs. Turner and Wilson also received warrants to 
acquire 35,000 shares of Common Stock at $21.00 per share and options to purchase 45,000 shares of Common Stock at $20.75 per share, 
which options are exercisable in four equal annual installments commencing on the second anniversary of the date of grant. In addition, (i) 
Messrs. Turner and Wilson were released from guarantees aggregating approximately $39.5 million relating to indebtedness secured by 
properties contributed in the Forsyth Transaction, and (ii) the Operating Partnership indemnified certain owners of Forsyth Partners, including 
Messrs. Turner and Wilson, for any obligations that may arise under approximately $2.5 million of additional guarantees relating to 
indebtedness that was assumed by the Company and was not released by the lender.  
On May 25, 1995, the Company purchased Creekstone Crossing, a 59,000-square foot service center (96% office finish) in Raleigh-Durham, 
North Carolina. The aggregate purchase price was $4.5 million paid through the issuance of 4,640 Units in the Operating Partnership and the 
assumption of $4.4 million of indebtedness. Messrs. Sloan (chairman of the Board of Directors), Gibson (chief executive officer) and Fritsch 
(vice president) indirectly owned 16.5%, 4.9% and 1.3%, respectively, of the property prior to its sale to the Company.  
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On December 4, 1995, the Company purchased the Cotton Building, a 40,000-square foot office building in Raleigh-Durham, North Carolina, 
for approximately $2.3 million. The purchase price consisted of 23,466 Units (valued at $25.50) and the assumption of $1.7 million of 
indebtedness. Mr. Sloan indirectly owned 50% of the property at the time of its sale to the Company. The property was valued using discount 
cash flow analysis and by a comparison to other comparable building sale transactions. In accordance with the Company's conflict of interest 
policies, the purchase price was approved by the Company's independent directors.  
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PART IV  

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 10-K  
(a) 1. and 2. Financial Statements and Schedules The financial statements and schedules listed below are filed as part of this annual report on 
the pages indicated.  

 
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 

3. Exhibits  
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  Exhibit No.                                                    Description 
 2.1(1)                 --     Master Agreement of Merger and Acquisition dated January 9, 1995 by and  among 
                               Highwoods Realty Lim ited Partnership, Forsyth Partners Holdings, Inc., Forsyth 
                               Partners Brokerage, Inc., John L. Turner, William T. Wilson, III, John E. Reece  
                               II, H. Jack Leister and the partnerships and corporations listed therei n (list 
                               of omitted schedules  included) 
 2.2(1)                 --     Agreement pursuant t o Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K 
 2.3(2)                 --     Omnibus Option Agree ment by and among Highwoods Realty Limited Partners hip and 
                               the Grantors named t herein dated March 24, 1994 
 3.1(2)                 --     Amended and Restated  Articles of Incorporation of the Company 
 3.2(2)                 --     Amended and Restated  Bylaws of the Company 
 4.1(2)                 --     Specimen of certific ate representing shares of Common Stock 
10.1(2)                 --     Amended and Restated  Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Operating 
                               Partnership 
10.2(5)                 --     Form of Registration  Rights and Lockup Agreement among the Company and the 
                               Holders named therei n, which the Company and all Unit holders have sign ed to 
                               date 
10.3(2)                 --     Articles of Incorpor ation of Highwoods Services, Inc. 
10.4(2)                 --     Bylaws of Highwoods Services, Inc. 
10.5(3)                 --     Articles of Incorpor ation of Forsyth Properties Services, Inc. 
10.6(3)                 --     Bylaws of Forsyth Pr operties Services, Inc. 
10.7(4)(5)              --     Amended and Restated  1994 Stock Option Plan 
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  Exhibit No.                                                    Description 
10.8(a)(1)(4)           --     Employment Agreement  between the Company and the Operating Partnership and 
                               Ronald P. Gibson 
10.8(b)(1)(4)           --     Employment Agreement  between the Company and the Operating Partnership and 
                               Edward J. Fritsch 
10.8(c)(3)(4)           --     Employment Agreement  between the Company and the Operating Partnership and 
                               Carman J. Liuzzo 
10.8(d)(3)(4)           --     Employment Agreement  between the Company and the Operating Partnership and John 
                               L. Turner 
10.8(e)(3)(4)           --     Employment Agreement  between the Company and the Operating Partnership and 
                               William T. Wilson, I II 
10.9(2)                 --     Option Agreement dat ed February 24, 1994 between State of California Pu blic 
                               Employees' Retiremen t System and Highwoods Properties Company relating to 
                               acquisition of the C alPERS Properties 
10.10(2)                --     First Amendment to O ption Agreement dated May 1994 between The State of  
                               California Public Em ployees' Retirement System and Highwoods Properties  Company 
10.11(2)                --     Option Agreement dat ed March 31, 1994 among Duke University; Ralph W. M ullins, 
                               Jr.; Daniel C. Austi n; M&A Investment Company; Quail Professional Cente r II; 
                               Quail Corners Office  Building, Ltd. and A&M Investment Company and High woods 
                               Properties Company r elating to acquisition of the Austin Mullins Proper ties (the  
                               North Park Propertie s) and the Option Land adjacent thereto 
10.12(2)                --     Form of Right of Fir st Refusal between The Nelson Company and Highwoods  Realty 
                               Limited Partnership relating to the Option Land in Creekstone Park 
10.13(2)                --     Form of Option to Pu rchase between Rex Drive Associates and Highwoods P roperties  
                               Company relating to Option Land in the Rexwoods Office Center 
10.14(2)                --     Form of Agreement fo r Sale of Partnership Interests among Rexwoods II 
                               Associates, Highwood s Realty Limited Partnership and the Sellers named therein 
                               relating to the purc hase of Rexwoods II 
10.15(2)                --     Form of Agreement fo r Sale of Partnership Interests among Expressway On e 
                               Partnership, Highwoo ds Realty Limited Partnership and the Sellers named  therein 
                               relating to the purc hase of Expressway One 
10.16(2)                --     Form of Agreement fo r Sale of Partnership Interests among Riverbirch As sociates,  
                               Highwoods Realty Lim ited Partnership and the Sellers named therein rela ting to 
                               the purchase of Rive rbirch 
10.17(2)                --     Form of Agreement fo r Sale of Partnership Interests among The Nelson Co mpany, 
                               Highwoods Realty Lim ited Partnership and the Sellers named therein rela ting to 
                               the purchase of Deve lopment Land in Creekstone Park 
10.18(2)                --     Form of Agreement fo r Sale of Partnership Interests among Blue Ridge II  
                               Associates, Highwood s Realty Limited Partnership and the Sellers named therein 
                               relating to the purc hase of Blue Ridge II 
10.19(2)                --     Form of Agreement fo r Sale of Partnership Interests among Progress Cent er II 
                               Partnership, Highwoo ds Realty Limited Partnership and the Sellers named  therein 
                               relating to the purc hase of CompuChem 
10.20(2)                --     Form of Agreement fo r Sale of Partnership Interests among Laser Associa tes, 
                               Highwoods Realty Lim ited Partnership and the Sellers named therein rela ting to 
                               the purchase of Rexw oods Center 
10.21(2)                --     Form of Agreement fo r Sale of Partnership Interests among Rexwoods III 
                               Associates, Limited Partnership, Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership a nd the 
                               Sellers named therei n relating to the purchase of Rexwoods III 
10.22(2)                --     Form of Right of Fir st Refusal between Expressway One Partnership and H ighwoods 
                               Realty Limited Partn ership relating to Option Land in Expressway Commer ce Center  
10.23(1)                --     Form of Supplemental  Representations, Warranties and Agreements execute d by 
                               Stanley O. Kelley to  Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership related to th e 
                               transfer of Ivy Dist ribution Center 
10.24(1)                --     Omnibus Option Agree ment dated January 3, 1995 by and among Highwoods R ealty 
                               Limited Partnership and the Grantors named therein related to the sale of 
                               interests in 370 and  380 Knollwood, Ivy Distribution Center and Chesape ake 
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  Exhibit No.                                                    Description 
10.25(1)                --     Omnibus Option Agree ment dated January 3, 1995 by and among Highwoods R ealty 
                               Limited Partnership and the Grantors named therein related to the sale of 
                               interests in 370 and  380 Knollwood and Ivy Distribution Center 
10.26(1)                --     Omnibus Option Agree ment dated January 3, 1995 by and between Highwoods  Realty 
                               Limited Partnership and Stanley O. Kelley related to the sale of intere sts in 
                               Ivy Distribution Cen ter 
10.27(1)                --     Omnibus Option Agree ment dated January 3, 1995 by and between Highwoods  Realty 
                               Limited Partnership and A.T. Williams Oil Company related to the sale o f 
                               interests in 3288 Ro binhood 
10.28(1)                --     Omnibus Option Agree ment dated January 4, 1995 by and between Highwoods  Realty 
                               Limited Partnership and James F. Marshall related to the sale of intere sts in 
                               Airpart East, Airpar k West, Airpark North, West Point Business Park, St eele 
                               Creek Park, Woodlawn  Plaza, and 370 and 380 Knollwood 
10.29(1)                --     Omnibus Option Agree ment dated January 6, 1995 by and among Highwoods R ealty 
                               Limited Partnership and the Grantors named therein related to the sale of 
                               interests in Airpark  East, Airpark West, Airpark North, West Point Busi ness 
                               Park, Steele Creek P ark, 370 and 380 Knollwood, Chesapeake, Woodlawn Pl aza, 
                               University Commercia l Center, 3288 Robinhood, the NationsFord Developme nt Land, 
                               and the ownership in terests in FP Brokerage Partnership, FP Development , FP 
                               Construction and FPI  
10.30(1)                --     Omnibus Option Agree ment dated January 6, 1995 by and between Highwoods  Realty 
                               Limited Partnership and William T. Wilson, III related to the sale of i nterests 
                               in Airpark East, Air park West, Airpark North, West Point Business Park,  Steele 
                               Creek Park, 370 and 380 Knollwood, Chesapeake, Woodlawn Plaza, Universi ty 
                               Commercial Center, 3 288 Robinhood, the NationsFord Development Land, an d the 
                               ownership interests in FP Brokerage Partnership, FP Development, FP Con struction  
                               and FPI 
10.30(1)                --     Omnibus Option Agree ment dated January 6, 1995 by and between Highwoods  Realty 
                               Limited Partnership and John L. Turner related to the sale of interests  in 
                               Airpark East, Airpar k West, Airpark North, Ivy Distribution Center, Wes t Point 
                               Business Park, Steel e Creek Park, Chesapeake, Woodlawn Plaza, the Natio nsFord 
                               Development Land, 32 88 Robinhood, 370 and 380 Knollwood, University Com mercial 
                               Center and the owner ship interests in Forsyth Partners Brokerage Partne rship, FP  
                               Development, FP Cons truction and FPI 
10.31(1)                --     Omnibus Option Agree ment dated January 3, 1995 by and between Highwoods  Realty 
                               Limited Partnership and Forsyth Partners Brokerage, Inc. related to the  sale of 
                               assets to Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership 
10.32(1)                --     Omnibus Option Agree ment dated January 6, 1995 by and among Highwoods R ealty 
                               Limited Partnership and the Grantors named therein relating to the sale  of 
                               interests in 370 and  380 Knollwood, West Point Business Park, Woodlawn Plaza and  
                               Chesapeake and the o wnership interest in FP Development 
10.33(1)                --     Real Estate Purchase  and Sale agreement dated August 4, 1994 between Pe tula 
                               Associates, Ltd. and  Forsyth Partners Holding, Inc. with amendment date d 
                               December 2, 1994, re lated to the purchase of interests in Airpark West,  Airpark 
                               East, Airpark North,  University Commercial Center, and Steele Creek Par k, which 
                               agreement will be as signed to Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership 
10.34(a)(1)             --     Option Agreement dat ed July 31, 1994 between Burnt Poplar Associates Li mited 
                               Partnership and Fors yth Partners Holdings, Inc. related to the acquisit ion of 
                               Burnt Poplar, which agreement will be assigned to Highwoods Realty Limi ted 
                               Partnership 
10.34(b)(1)             --     Indemnification Agre ement dated September 26, 1994 between Burnt Poplar  
                               Associates Limited P artnership and Forsyth Partners Holdings, Inc. rela ted to 
                               the acquisition of B urnt Poplar, which agreement will be assigned to Hi ghwoods 
                               Realty Limited Partn ership 



 

(1) Previously filed on Form S-11, File No. 33-88364, and incorporated herein by reference.  
(2) Previously filed on Form S-11, File No. 33-76952, and incorporated herein by reference.  
(3) A form of this document was previously filed. Copy of executed document filed on Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 1995.  
(4) Management contract or compensatory plan.  
(5) Previously filed on Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995. The Company will provide copies of 
any exhibit, upon written request, at a cost of $.05 per page.  
(b) Reports on Form 8-K There were no reports on Form 8-K filed by the Company during the fourth quarter of 1995.  
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  Exhibit No.                                                    Description 
10.35(1)                --     Contract of Sale and  Purchase dated December 2, 1994 between Stratford 
                               Properties Joint Ven ture and Forsyth Partners Holdings, Inc., with amen dment 
                               dated December 30, 1 994, related to the acquisition of Stratford, which  
                               agreement will be as signed to Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership 
10.36(1)                --     Contribution and Exc hange Agreement dated January 10, 1995 between 4501  
                               Alexander Associates  and Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership related t o the 
                               acquisition of Resea rch Commons 
10.37(1)                --     Contribution and Exc hange Agreement dated January 10, 1995 between JHPB  Partners  
                               and Highwoods Realty  Limited Partnership related to the acquisition of Research 
                               Commons 
10.38(5)                --     Contribution and Exc hange Agreement by and among the Operating Partners hip, R-K 
                               Properties 3, L.P. a nd the Partners listed therein, dated as of July 18 , 1995, 
                               relating to acquisit ion of Vantage Point 
10.39(5)                --     Purchase and Sale Ag reement by and between the Operating Partnership an d R-K 
                               Properties 5, L.P., dated as of July 18, 1995, relating to the acquisit ion of 
                               Innsbrook Tech I Cen ter 
10.40(5)                --     Purchase and Sale Ag reement by and between the Operating Partnership an d R-K 
                               Properties 1, L.P., dated as of July 18, 1995, relating to the acquisit ion of 
                               Vantage Place II 
10.41(5)                --     Purchase and Sale Ag reement by and between the Operating Partnership an d R-K 
                               Properties 2, L.P., dated as of July 18, 1995, relating to the acquisit ion of 
                               Vantage Place IV 
10.42(5)                --     Asset Purchase Agree ment between Ross-Kreckman Management Corporation a nd 
                               Highwoods Services, dated as of July 5, 1995 
10.43(5)                --     Contribution and Exc hange Agreement by and among the Operating Partners hip, 
                               Vantage Associates I , L.P. and the Partners listed therein, dated as of  July 18,  
                               1995, relating to th e acquisition of Vantage Place I 
10.44(5)                --     Contribution and Exc hange Agreement by and among the Operating Partners hip, 
                               Vantage Associates I I, L.P. and the Partners listed therein, dated as o f July 
                               18, 1995, relating t o the acquisition of Vantage Place III 
10.45(5)                --     Agreement for Contri bution and Exchange of Partnership Interests by and  among 
                               the Operating Partne rship, Creekstone Associates I and the Contributors  named 
                               therein, dated as of  May 11, 1995, relating to the acquisition of Creek stone 
                               Crossing 
10.46(5)                --     Ground Lease Agreeme nt by and between Landlord and Seven Parkway Plaza dated as 
                               of July 23, 1985, re lating to Parkway Plaza Building 7 
10.47(5)                --     Ground Lease Agreeme nt by and between Landlord and Eight Parkway Plaza dated as 
                               of July 31, 1986, re lating to Parkway Plaza Building 8 
10.48(5)                --     Ground Lease Agreeme nt by and between Landlord and Nine Parkway Plaza d ated as 
                               of April 29, 1984, r elating to Parkway Plaza Building 9 
10.49(5)                --     Contribution and Exc hange of the Cotton Building between SJ Company and  the 
                               Operating Partnershi p dated December 4, 1995 
10.50(1)                --     Form of warrant issu ed to Messrs. Turner, Wilson and Reece 
10.51(1)                --     Operating Agreement of Forsyth/Carter Brokerage of North Carolina, L.L. C. 
                               (included in Exhibit  2.1) 
21.1(1)                 --     Schedule of Subsidia ries of the Company 



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS  
HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Highwoods Properties, Inc. as of December 31, 1995 and 1994, and the 
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 1995 and for the period 
from June 14, 1994 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 1994. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in 
the Index at Item 14(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.  
We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
Highwoods Properties, Inc. at December 31, 1995 and 1994, and the consolidated results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended 
December 31, 1995 and for the period from June 14, 1994 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 1994 in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic financial 
statements taken as a whole presents fairly in all material respects the information required to be set forth therein.  
ERNST & YOUNG LLP  
Raleigh, North Carolina  
February 2, 1996,  
except note 11 as to which the date is  
April 29, 1996  
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
Consolidated Balance Sheets  

(In thousands, except per share amount)  
 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                                                                Decemb er 31, 
                                                                                              1995        1994 
Assets 
Real estate assets, at cost: 
  Land............................................. ......................................   $106,955    $ 34,484 
  Buildings and improvements....................... ......................................    491,581     183,572 
  Development in process........................... ......................................     15,508         643 
  Furniture, fixtures and equipment................ ......................................      1,288         967 
                                                                                             615,332     219,666 
  Less -- accumulated depreciation................. ......................................    (22,266)    (11,690)  
  Net real estate assets........................... ......................................    593,066     207,976 
Cash and cash equivalents.......................... ......................................      6,838       6,258 
Accounts and notes receivable...................... ......................................      6,338         496 
Notes receivable from service subsidiaries......... ......................................      1,274         620 
Accrued straight line rents receivable............. ......................................      3,407       1,888 
Other assets: 
  Deferred leasing costs........................... ......................................      4,253       2,139 
  Deferred financing costs and interest rate caps.. ......................................      8,268       6,796 
  Prepaid expenses and other....................... ......................................      1,521         330 
                                                                                              14,042       9,265 
  Less -- accumulated amortization................. ......................................     (3,831)     (1,726)  
                                                                                              10,211       7,539 
                                                                                            $621,134    $224,777 
Liabilities and stockholders' equity 
Mortgages and notes payable........................ ......................................   $182,736    $ 66,864 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabil ities.................................     11,052       5,717 
  Total liabilities................................ ......................................    193,788      72,581 
Minority interest.................................. ......................................     73,536      15,981 
Stockholders' equity: 
Common stock, $.01 par value, authorized 100,000,00 0 shares; 
  issued and outstanding 19,404,411 at December 31,  1995 and 8,986,910 at December 31, 
  1994............................................. ......................................        194          90 
Additional paid-in capital......................... ......................................    355,248     135,531 
Retained earnings (distributions in excess of net e arnings)..............................     (1,632)        594 
  Total stockholders' equity....................... ......................................    353,810     136,215 
                                                                                            $621,134    $224,777 



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
Consolidated Statements of Operations  
(In thousands, except per share amounts)  

 
For the Year Ended December 31, 1995 and  

for the Period from June 14, 1994 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 1994  

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                                                               1995       1994 
Revenue: 
  Rental income.................................... ........................................   $71,217    $19,011 
  Equity in earnings of service companies.......... ........................................        --        100 
  Interest and other income........................ ........................................     2,305        331 
Total revenue...................................... ........................................    73,522     19,442 
Operating expenses: 
  Rental property.................................. ........................................    17,049      5,110 
  Depreciation and amortization.................... ........................................    11,082      2,607 
  Interest expense: 
     Contractual................................... ........................................    12,101      2,482 
     Amortization of deferred financing costs and i nterest rate cap........................     1,619        738 
                                                                                               13,720      3,220 
  General and administrative....................... ........................................     2,737        810 
     Income before minority interest and extraordin ary item................................    28,934      7,695 
Minority interest.................................. ........................................    (4,937)       (808)  
     Income before extraordinary item.............. ........................................    23,997      6,887 
Extraordinary item -- loss on early extinguishment of debt.................................      (875)     (1,273)  
     Net income.................................... ........................................   $23,122    $ 5,614 
Net income per common share: 
  Income before extraordinary item................. ........................................   $  1.55    $  0.77 
  Extraordinary item -- loss on early extinguishmen t of debt...............................      (.06)      (0.14)  
  Net income....................................... ........................................   $  1.49    $  0.63 
  Weighted average shares outstanding.............. ........................................    15,487      8,936 



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity  

(In thousands)  
 

For the Year Ended December 31, 1995 and  

for the Period from June 14, 1994 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 1994  

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                                                            Retained 
                                                                                            Earnings 
                                                                                         (Distribution s 
                                                            Common      Additional        in Excess of  
                                                            Stock     Paid-In-Capital    Net Earnings)       Total 
Balance at June 14, 1994 (commencement of operation s)....    $--         $       1          $--            $      1 
Issuance of 8,986,190 shares of common stock....... ......      90          164,324                          164,414 
Charge to reflect carryover of historical basis of 
  accounting and recognition of minority interest i n 
  Operational Partnership for continuing investors. ......    --            (28,794)          --             (28,794)  
Distributions paid................................. ......    --            --                 (5,020)        (5,020)  
Net income......................................... ......    --            --                  5,614          5,614 
Balance at December 31, 1994....................... ......      90          135,531               594        136,215 
Issuance of 10,418,221 shares of common stock...... ......     104          219,717           --             219,821 
Distributions paid................................. ......    --            --                (25,348)       (25,348)  
Net income......................................... ......    --            --                 23,122         23,122 
Balance at December 31, 1995....................... ......    $194        $ 355,248          $ (1,632)      $353,810 



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows of the Company  

(In thousands)  
 

For the Year Ended December 31, 1995 and  

for the Period from June 14, 1994 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 1994  

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                                                              1995        1994 
Operating activities: 
Net income......................................... ......................................   $ 23,122    $  5,614 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash pro vided by operating activities: 
  Depreciation and amortization.................... ......................................     12,701       3,345 
  Loss on early extinguishment of debt............. ......................................        875       1,273 
  Minority interest................................ ......................................      4,937         808 
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
     Accounts receivable........................... ......................................     (1,561)       (321)  
     Prepaid expenses and other assets............. ......................................       (173)       (521)  
     Accrued straight line rents receivable........ ......................................     (1,519)       (503)  
     Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other l iabilities............................      4,787       3,455 
       Net cash provided by operating activities... ......................................     43,169      13,150 
Investing activities: 
Proceeds from disposition of real estate assets.... ......................................      2,200       -- 
Additions to real estate assets.................... ......................................   (130,411)    (99,208)  
Other assets and notes receivable.................. ......................................     (1,777)       (620)  
Cash from contributed net assets................... ......................................        549       2,088 
Cash paid in exchange for partnership net assets... ......................................     (6,593)     (9,623)  
     Net cash used in investing activities......... ......................................   (136,032)   (107,363)  
Financing activities: 
Distributions paid................................. ......................................    (29,845)     (5,020)  
Net proceeds from the sale of common stock......... ......................................    219,821     164,413 
Payment of prepayment penalties and loan costs..... ......................................     (1,046)     (1,025)  
Borrowings on credit facility...................... ......................................     50,800      62,700 
Repayment of credit facility....................... ......................................    (87,000)    (20,000)  
Proceeds from mortgages and notes payable.......... ......................................     90,250       -- 
Repayment of mortgages............................. ......................................   (148,907)    (93,947)  
Payment of deferred financing costs................ ......................................       (630)     (6,650)  
     Net cash provided by financing activities..... ......................................     93,443     100,471 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents.......... ......................................        580       6,258 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the perio d.....................................      6,258       -- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period..... ......................................   $  6,838    $  6,258 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 
Cash paid for interest............................. ......................................   $ 11,965    $  2,073 



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows of the Company -- Continued  

(In thousands)  
 

For the Year Ended December 31, 1995 and  

for the Period from June 14, 1994 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 1994  

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and f inancing activities 
The following summarizes the net assets contributed  by the Unit holders of the Operating 
  Partnership or assets acquired subject to mortgag es and notes payable: 
                                                                                               1995       1994 
Assets: 
Real estate assets, net............................ .......................................   $260,883    $51,614 
Cash and cash equivalents.......................... .......................................        549      2,088 
Deferred rent receivable........................... .......................................      --         1,385 
Tenant leasing costs, net.......................... .......................................      --         1,188 
Deferred financing costs, net...................... .......................................        842        488 
Accounts receivable and other...................... .......................................      6,290        174 
  Total assets..................................... .......................................    268,564     56,937 
Liabilities: 
Mortgages payable.................................. .......................................    210,728     63,947 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabil ities..................................        549      2,262 
  Total liabilities................................ .......................................    268,564     66,209 
     Net assets (liabilities)...................... .......................................   $ 57,287    $(9,272)  
In connection with the above transactions, the Comp any made additional cash payments to certain 
  partners in exchange for their partnership net as sets in the amounts of $9,623,000 in 1994 and 
  $6,593,000 in 1995. These transactions were accou nted for using the purchase method of accounting. 
  Further in connection with these transactions, th e Company received cash payments at closing to 
  fund the payment of certain accrued liabilities s uch as property taxes. 
Additionally, in connection with the formation of t he Company additional debt of $54,164,000 was 
  assumed and Units valued at $4,199,000 were issue d during the 
  period from June 14, 1994, to December 31, 1994. 



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 1995  

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
Organization and Formation of the Company Highwoods Properties, Inc. (the "Company") is a self-administered and self managed real estate 
investment trust (REIT) which operates in the Southeastern United States. The Company's assets include 87 suburban office properties, 104 
industrial properties and 203 acres of undeveloped land suitable for future development. The Company was incorporated in Maryland in 
February 1994 and is the successor to the operations of the Highwoods Group. On June 14, 1994, the Company commenced operations upon 
completion of a public offering of 7,400,000 shares of $.01 par value Common Stock (plus 1,110,000 shares subsequently issued pursuant to 
the underwriters' over-allotment option, the "Initial Public Offering"). The Initial Public Offering price was $21 per share resulting in gross 
offering proceeds of $178,710,000. Proceeds to the Company, net of underwriters' discount, an advisory fee and total offering expenses, were 
$164,481,300. The following transactions (the "Formation Transactions") occurred in connection with the Initial Public Offering:  
(Bullet) Through the merger of Highwoods Properties Company ("HPC") into the Company certain investors received 476,190 shares of 
restricted Common Stock in exchange for their holdings in HPC. (Bullet) The Company consummated various purchase agreements to acquire 
certain interests in 41 properties, including 27 properties which were not owned by the Highwoods Group prior to the Initial Public Offering.  
For the 14 properties previously owned by the Highwoods Group, negative net assets of approximately $9,272,000 were contributed to the 
Operating Partnership at their historical cost. Approximately, $8,400,000 was distributed to the non-continuing partners of the Highwoods 
Group for their partnership interest in the 14 properties. For the 27 properties not owned by the Highwoods Group, the Company issued 
approximately $4,200,000 of Units, assumed $54,164,000 of debt and paid $82,129,000 in cash. These 27 properties were recorded at their 
purchase price using the purchase method of accounting.  
(Bullet) The Company became the sole general partner of Highwoods/Forsyth Limited Partnership, formerly Highwoods Realty Limited 
Partnership (the "Operating Partnership"), by contributing its ownership interests in the 41 properties and its third-party fee business and all but 
$10,400,000 of the net proceeds of the Initial Public Offering in exchange for an approximate 88.3% interest in the Operating Partnership.  
(Bullet) The Operating Partnership executed various option and purchase agreements whereby it paid approximately $81,352,000 in cash, 
issued 1,054,664 units in the Operating Partnership ("Units") and assumed approximately $118,111,000 of indebtedness in exchange for fee 
simple interests in the 41 properties and the development land.  
(Bullet) The Operating Partnership contributed the third-party management and development business and the third-party leasing business to 
Highwoods Services, Inc. (formerly Highwoods Realty Services, Inc. and Highwoods Leasing Company) in exchange for 100% of each 
company's non-voting common stock and 1% of their voting common stock.  
Generally one year after issuance (the "lock-up period"), the Operating Partnership is obligated to redeem each Unit at the request of the holder 
thereof for cash equal to the fair market value of one share of the Company's Common Stock at the time of such redemption, provided that the 
Company at its option may elect to acquire any such Unit presented for redemption for one share of Common Stock. When a Unit  
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Continued)  
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -- Continued holder redeems a Unit for a share of 
Common Stock or cash, the minority interest will be reduced and the Company's share in the Operating Partnership will be increased. The 
Company's units are not redeemable for cash. At December 31, 1995, the one-year lock-up period had expired with respect to 1,054,664 of the 
3,732,412 Units issued. Basis of Presentation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the Operating Partnership. The Company's investments in 
Highwoods Services, Inc. and Forsyth Properties Services, Inc. (the "Service Companies") are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.  

The Company is a real estate investment trust ("REIT") under Section 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  
Minority interest in the Company represents the limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership owned by various individuals and 
entities and not the Company. This minority interest relates to holders of Units. Per share information is calculated using the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding.  
The extraordinary loss represents the write-off of loan origination fees and prepayment penalties paid on the early extinguishment of debt and 
is shown net of the minority interest's share in the loss. Real Estate Assets  
Real estate assets are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. All capitalizable costs related to the improvement or replacement of 
commercial real estate properties are capitalized. Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 40 
years for buildings and improvements and 5 to 7 years for furniture and equipment. Tenant improvements are amortized over the life of the 
respective leases, using the straight-line method.  
The Company reviews each property for any evidence of possible impairment of carrying value based on estimated future cash flows. Based on 
this analysis, as of December 31, 1995 and 1994 the carrying value of all properties is below their estimated net realizable values.  
In March 1995, the FASB issued Statement No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to be 
Disposed of, which requires impairment losses to be recorded on long-lived assets used in operations when indicators of impairment are present 
and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the assets' carrying amount. Statement 121 also 
addresses the accounting for long-lived assets that are expected to be disposed of. The Company adopted the Statement in the first quarter of 
1996 and the adoption did not have any material effect. Cash Equivalents  
The Company considers highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Revenue 
Recognition  
Minimum rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Unpaid rents are included in accounts receivable. 
Certain lease agreements contain provisions which provide reimbursement of real estate taxes, insurance, advertising and certain common area 
maintenance (CAM) costs. These additional rents are recorded on the accrual basis. All rent and other receivables from tenants are due from 
commercial building tenants located in the properties.  
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Continued)  
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -- Continued  
Deferred Lease Fees and Loan Costs Lease fees, concessions and loan costs are capitalized at cost and amortized over the life of the related 
lease or loan term, respectively. Income Taxes  
The Company is a real estate investment trust ("REIT") for federal income tax purposes. A corporate REIT is a legal entity that holds real 
estate interests, and through distributions to stockholders, is permitted to reduce or avoid the payment of Federal income taxes at the corporate 
level. To maintain qualification as a REIT, the Company must distribute to stockholders at least 95% of REIT taxable income.  
No provision has been made for income taxes because the Company qualified as a real estate investment trust, distributed the necessary amount 
of taxable income and, therefore, incurred no income tax expense during the period. Concentration of Credit Risk  
Management of the Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its tenants. The properties are leased to approximately 950 tenants, in 
four georgraphic locations, which engage in a wide variety of businesses. There is no dependence upon any single tenant.  
Interest Rate Risk Management  
The Company enters into various interest rate swaps and caps in managing its interest rate risk. Payments to or from the counterparties are 
recorded as adjustments to interest expense. The Company has designated these instruments as hedges against existing liabilities and 
accordingly utilizes hedge accounting.  
The Company would not realize a material loss as of December 31, 1995 in the event of non-performance by any one counterparty. The 
Company has entered into transactions with financial institution counterparties with a credit rating of Aa3 or better. Additionally, the Company 
limits the amount of credit exposure with any one institution.  
Stock Compensation  
The Company grants stock options for a fixed number of shares to employees with an exercise price equal to the fair value of the shares at the 
date of grant. The Company accounts for stock option grants in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees, and, accordingly, recognizes no compensation expense for the stock option grants. In accordance with the FASB's issuance of FAS 
No. 123 "Accounting for Stock Based Compensation" the Company will elect to provide the required footnote disclosures in 1996.  
Use of Estimates  
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Cont inued)  

2. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE Mortgages and notes payable consisted of the following at December 31, 1995 and 1994 (in 
thousands):  

 

(a.) Conventional fixed rate mortgages payable includes 19 loans at December 31, 1995, and seven loans at December 31, 1994. The loans 
were secured by real estate assets with an aggregate undepreciated cost of approximately $226,000,000 at December 31, 1995. Interest rates on 
fixed rate mortgages payable range from 7.0% to 13.0% with a weighted average rate of 8.80% at December 31, 1995.  
(b.) Variable rate mortgages payable includes three loans at December 31, 1995. The loans were secured by real estate assets with an aggregate 
undepreciated cost of approximately $75,000,000 at December 31, 1995. Interest rates on variable rate mortgages payable range from 1.35% to 
1.50% above the 30-day London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"). At December 31, 1995, 30-day LIBOR was 5.9%. The Company has 
entered into two interest rate swap agreements with financial institutions to effectively fix the interest rates on the variable rate mortgages 
payable at a rate of 7.24%. At December 31, 1995, the notional amounts of the interest rate swaps equaled the outstanding balance of the 
mortgages payable. The swaps expire in June 1999 and July 2000 upon the maturity of the respective mortgage agreements. The cost basis of 
the interest rate swaps was $670,000 at December 31, 1995.  
(c.) The Company has a revolving credit facility in the amount of $80,000,000 from two participating banks. The credit facility bears interest at 
1.50% above 30-day LIBOR and matures on June 13, 1999. The terms of the credit facility require the Company to pay a commitment fee 
equal to .25% on the unused portion of the credit facility and include certain restrictive covenants which limit, among other things, dividend 
payments and additional indebtedness and which requires compliance with certain financial ratios and measurements. At December 31, 1995, 
the Company was in compliance with the terms of the credit facility. The credit facility is secured by real estate assets with an aggregate 
undepreciated cost of approximately $133,000,000 at December 31, 1995. To limit increases in interest expense due to changes in 30-day 
LIBOR, the Company used $6,170,000 of the proceeds from the Initial Public Offering to purchase a five-year, $80,000,000 interest rate 
protection agreement. The interest rate protection agreement limits the Company's exposure to 30-day LIBOR of 5.5% (7.0% with the 1.50% 
spread). The initial premium paid to acquire the interest rate protection agreement is being amortized as an increase to interest expense over the 
five-year term of the agreement. Payments received from the counterparties under the interest rate protection agreements were $385,000 in 
1995 and $25,000 in 1994 and were recorded in the contractual interest expense in the income statement. At December 31, 1995 the effective 
interest rate on the credit facility was 7%.  
(d.) The aggregate maturities of the mortgages and notes payable are as follows (in thousands):  
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                                                                       1995       1994 
Conventional fixed rate mortgages payable (a.)..... ...............   $134,687    $24,164  
Variable rate mortgages payable (b.)............... ...............     36,549         --  
9% fixed rate unsecured note payable............... ...............      5,000         --  
Revolving credit facility (c.)..................... ...............      6,500     42,700  
  Total............................................ ...............   $182,736    $66,864  

1996............................................... ...   $  4,137  
1997............................................... ...     25,135  
1998............................................... ...      7,301  
1999............................................... ...     38,719  
2000............................................... ...     39,084  
Thereafter......................................... ...     68,360  
                                                         $182,736  



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Cont inued)  

2. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE -- Continued During 1995 and 1994, the total interest costs incurred on mortgages and notes 
payable was $12,608,000 and $2,499,000, respectively. Capitalized interest during 1995 and 1994 was $507,000 and $17,000, respectively.  
3. MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION PROGRAM The Company has established an incentive compensation plan for executive officers of 
the Company. The plan provides for payment of a cash bonus to participating officers and employees if certain Company performance 
objectives are achieved. The amount of the bonus to participating officers and employees is based on a formula determined for each employee 
by the Compensation Committee, but may not exceed 100% of base salary. All bonuses may be subject to adjustment to reflect individual 
performance as measured by specific qualitative criteria to be approved by the Compensation Committee. Bonuses are accrued in the year 
earned and included in accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. In addition, as an incentive to retain top management, the 
Company has established a deferred compensation plan which provides for phantom stock awards. Under the deferred compensation plan, 
phantom stock or stock appreciation rights equal in value to 25% of the yearly cash bonus may be set aside in an incentive pool, with payment 
after five years. If an employee leaves the Company for any reason (other than death, disability or normal retirement) prior to the end of the 
five-year period, all awards under the deferred compensation plan will be forfeited.  
4. 401(k) SAVINGS PLAN The Company has a 401(k) savings plan covering substantially all employees who meet certain age and 
employment criteria. The Company matches the first 6% of compensation deferred at the rate of 50% of employee contributions. During the 
year ended December 31, 1995, the Company contributed $51,000 to the Plan. Administrative expenses are paid by the Company.  
5. RENTAL INCOME The Company's real estate assets are leased to tenants under operating leases that expire over the next ten years. The 
minimum rental amounts under the leases are generally either subject to scheduled fixed increases or adjustments based on the Consumer Price 
Index. Generally, the leases also require that the tenants reimburse the Company for increases in certain costs above their base year costs. 
Expected future minimum rents to be received over the next five years and thereafter from tenants for leases in effect at December 31, 1995, 
are as follows (in thousands):  

 

6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS The Company makes advances to Highwoods Services, Inc. and Forsyth Properties Services, Inc. for 
working capital purposes. These advances bear interest at a rate of 7% per annum and totaled $1,274,000 at December 31, 1995, and $620,000 
at December 31, 1994. The Company recorded interest income from  
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1996............................................... ...........................   $ 81,765  
1997............................................... ...........................     66,760  
1998............................................... ...........................     50,863  
1999............................................... ...........................     39,594  
2000............................................... ...........................     27,134  
Thereafter......................................... ...........................     28,685  
                                                                                 $294,801  



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Cont inued)  

6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS -- Continued these advances of $43,000 and $15,000 for the year ended December 31, 1995, and for 
the period from June 14, 1994, to December 31, 1994. During the year ended December 31, 1995, the Company acquired two properties 
encompassing 99,334 square feet at an aggregate purchase price of $6,850,000 from partnerships in which certain officers and directors owned 
a majority interest. These transactions were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and their operating results are included in 
the Statements of Income from their acquisition dates.  
7. DISTRIBUTIONS Distributions paid were $1.75 per share for the year ended December 31, 1995, and $.50 per share for the period from 
June 14, 1994, to December 31, 1994. For federal income tax purposes, the following table summarizes the estimated taxability of distributions 
paid:  

 

The Company's tax return for the year ended December 31, 1995, has not been filed, and the taxability information for 1995 is based upon the 
best available data. The Company's tax returns have not been examined by the Internal Revenue Service, and therefore the taxability of 
distributions is subject to change.  
On January 30, 1996, the Board of Directors declared a distribution of $.45 per share payable on February 21, 1996, to shareholders of record 
on February 9, 1996.  
8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
Lease:  
Two of the properties located in Parkway Plaza development are subject to a land lease expiring December 31, 2082. Rental payments are to be 
adjusted yearly based on the consumer price index. The Company has the option to purchase the leased land during the lease term at the greater 
of 85% of appraised value or $35,000 per acre. The obligation for future minimum lease payments is as follows (in thousands):  

 

Litigation:  
The Company is a party to a variety of legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of its business. These matters are generally covered by 
insurance. All of these matters, taken together, are not expected to  
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                                                                 1995     1994  
Per Share: 
  Ordinary income.................................. ...........   $1.63    $.50  
  Capital gains.................................... ...........      --      --  
  Return of capital................................ ...........     .12      --  
     Total......................................... ...........   $1.75    $.50  

1996............................................... .................   $   97  
1997............................................... .................       97  
1998............................................... .................       97  
1999............................................... .................       97  
2000............................................... .................       97  
Thereafter......................................... .................    7,981  
                                                                       $8,466  



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Cont inued)  

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES -- Continued have a material adverse effect on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements notwithstanding possible insurance recovery.  
Stock Options:  
As of December 31, 1995, 1,400,000 shares of the Company's authorized Common Stock had been reserved for issuance upon the exercise of 
options granted under the Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan. For the Company's executive and senior officers and non-
independent directors, the options will vest in four equal installments on the second, third, fourth, and fifth anniversaries of the date of grant. 
For other employees and independent directors, the options will vest in four equal installments on the first, second, third and fourth 
anniversaries of the date of grant.  
Options outstanding for the year ended December 31, 1995, and for the period from June 14, 1994 to December 31, 1994, are as follows:  

 

Warrants:  
In connection with the Forsyth Transaction, the Company issued warrants to certain officers and directors of the Company to purchase 100,000 
shares of the Company's Common Stock at $21 per share.  
Contracts:  
The Company has entered into construction contracts totaling $39,173,000 at December 31, 1995. The amounts remaining on these contracts as 
of December 31, 1995, totaled $26,548,000.  
The Company has entered into a contract under which it is committed to acquire 64 acres of land over a five-year period for an aggregate 
purchase price of approximately $10,172,000. The seller has the option to elect to receive the purchase price in either cash or Units valued at 
$26.67.  
The Company has also entered into a contract under which it is committed to acquire 18 acres of land on or before August 1, 1998, for an 
aggregate purchase price of approximately $2,032,000.  
Environmental Matters:  
All of the Company's properties, except for Burnt Poplar, have been subjected to Phase I environmental reviews. Such reviews have not 
revealed, nor is management aware of, any environmental liability that management believes would have a material adverse effect on the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                              Number of    Option Price 
                                                               Shares        Per Share 
Granted at Initial Public Offering................. ........    326,000     $21.00 
  Granted.......................................... ........         --     -- 
  Canceled......................................... ........         --     -- 
Shares under Option at December 31, 1994........... ........    326,000     $21.00 
  Granted.......................................... ........    400,000     $20.75-$25.00  
  Exercised........................................ ........     (8,000)    $21.00 
  Canceled......................................... ........    (22,500)    $21.00 
Shares under Option at December 31, 1995........... ........    695,500     $20.75-$25.00  
Exercisable at December 31, 1995................... ........     48,000     $21.00 
Available for Grant at December 31, 1995........... ........    704,500 



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Cont inued)  

9. DISCLOSURE ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS The following disclosures of estimated fair values were 
determined by management using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is necessary 
to interpret market data and develop estimated fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the 
amounts that the Company could realize upon disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or 
estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value. The carrying amounts and estimated fair value of the 
Company's financial instruments at December 31, 1995, were as follows (in thousands):  

 

The fair values for the Company's fixed rate mortgages and notes payable were estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on the 
Company's estimated incremental borrowing rate at December 31, 1995, for similar types of borrowing arrangements. The carrying amounts of 
the Company's variable rate borrowings approximate fair value.  
The fair values of the Company's interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements represent the estimated amount the Company would 
receive or pay to terminate or replace the financial instruments at current market rates.  
Disclosures about the fair value of financial instruments are based on relevant information available to the Company at December 31, 1995. 
Although management is not aware of any factors that would have a material effect on the fair value amounts reported herein, such amounts 
have not been revalued since that date and current estimates of fair value may significantly differ from the amounts presented.  
10. MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS Through mergers and acquisitions during 1995, the Company increased its portfolio of office and 
industrial space by 6,357,000 square feet at an aggregate cost of $369,900,000. Additionally, during 1995 the Company completed its second 
and third public offerings of common stock. These transactions were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and their 
operating results are included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations from their acquisition dates. During 1994, the Company completed 
its Initial Public Offering, the Formation Transactions and acquired 207,000 square feet of office and industrial space at an aggregate cost of 
$15,000,000. Unaudited pro forma results of operations for the years ended December 31, 1995 and 1994 are set forth below. For 1995, such 
pro forma results assume (i) the acquisition of 5,727,706 square feet of office and industrial space at a total cost of $354,200,000 and (ii) the 
second and third public offerings occurred at the beginning of the year. For 1994, such pro forma results assume  
(i) the 1994 acquisition of 5,727,706 square feet of office and industrial space at a total cost of $354,200,000, and (ii) the initial, second and 
third offerings and the Formation Transactions occurred at the beginning of the year. The proceeds from the second and third offering were 
used to reduce outstanding indebtedness for working capital purposes. Pro forma interest expense was calculated based upon the indebtedness 
outstanding after debt repayment and using the effective rate on such indebtedness. In 1994 and 1995, Operating Partnership Units totaling 
200,000 and 2,677,748, respectively were issued in connection with various mergers and acquisitions. These Units were recorded at their 
market value upon the closing date of the transaction.  
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                                                        Carrying      Fair 
                                                         Amount      Value 
Cash and cash equivalents.......................... ..   $  6,838    $  6,838 
Accounts and notes receivable...................... ..   $  7,612    $  7,612 
Mortgages and notes payable........................ ..   $182,735    $186,709 
Interest rate swap agreements...................... ..   $    670    $   (464)  
Interest rate cap.................................. ..   $  4,267    $  1,311 



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Cont inued)  

10. MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS -- Continued  

 

The pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of what the Company's results of operations would have been if the transactions had 
occurred at the beginning of each period presented. Additionally, the pro forma information does not purport to be indicative of the Company's 
results of operations for future periods.  
11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  
Credit Facility On March 26, 1996, the Operating Partnership closed on a $140,000,000 unsecured credit facility (the "New Credit Facility") 
which replaces the existing $80 million line. The balance outstanding at March 31, 1996 is $21,500,000 The New Credit Facility is with three 
commercial banks and has an initial interest rate of LIBOR +1.50% which will adjust based on the Operating Partnership's senior unsecured 
credit rating to a range of LIBOR +1.00% to LIBOR  
+1.75%. The Company will continue to utilize the $80,000,000 interest rate protection agreement to limit its exposure to increases in 30-day 
LIBOR. Nashville Transaction  
On April 1, 1996, the Company and the Operating Partnership completed a merger with Eakin & Smith and its affiliates ("Eakin & Smith") 
combining their property portfolios, management teams and business operations. The merger will be accounted for using the purchase method 
of accounting. Through the combination, the Company succeeded to the ownership of seven suburban office buildings totaling 848,000 square 
feet, a 103,000-square-foot suburban office development project, 18 acres of development land and Eakin & Smith's brokerage and property 
management operations. All the properties and development land are located in Nashville, Tennessee. At March 31, 1996, the properties 
acquired in the transaction were 97% leased.  
The aggregate purchase price, assuming the completion of the in-process development project, was approximately $98.5 million payable 
through the issuance of 537,138 limited partnership units of the Operating Partnership and 489,421 shares of Common Stock, the assumption of 
$37 million of indebtedness (with a weighted average fixed rate of 8.0%), and cash payments of approximately $33 million. The aggregate 
purchase price excludes deferred payments of up to 54,056 shares of Common Stock, which are attributable to Eakin & Smith's brokerage and 
property management operation. A total payment of 13,514 shares of Common Stock will be paid to the three principals of Eakin & Smith, Inc. 
for each of the first four 12-month periods following the combination in which third-party service revenue attributable to the Eakin & Smith 
brokerage and property management operations exceeds $2,000,000.  
As part of the combination, the three principals of Eakin & Smith, Inc. received options to purchase 105,000 shares of common stock at $27.50 
per share. Such options vest in four equal annual installments beginning with the second anniversary of the date of grant. Such principals also 
received warrants to purchase 150,000 shares of Common Stock for $28.00 per share. Pending Acquisition of Crocker Realty Trust, Inc. On 
April 29, 1996, the Company and the Operating Partnership entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") with 
Crocker Realty Trust, Inc. ("Crocker"). Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, Cedar Acquisition Corporation ("Cedar"), a newly formed 
subsidiary of the Company,  
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                                Pro Forma Year Ende d    Pro Forma Year Ended  
                                 December 31, 1995       December 31, 1994 
                                  (in thousands, ex cept per share amounts) 
Revenues.....................         $ 90,592                $ 83,541 
Net Income...................         $ 29,764                $ 24,168 
Net Income per Share.........         $   1.54                $   1.25 



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Cont inued)  

11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS -- Continued will merge into Crocker with the Company becoming the sole shareholder of Crocker. The 
Company intends to contribute the shares of common stock of Crocker to the Operating Partnership in exchange for limited partnership 
interests therein. As a result, Crocker would become a subsidiary of the Operating Partnership. As a result of the Merger, the Operating 
Partnership will acquire 58 suburban office properties and 12 service center properties (the "Crocker Properties") located in 15 Southeastern 
markets in Florida, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, Georgia, Virginia and Alabama. The Crocker Properties encompass 5.7 million 
rentable square feet and, at March 31, 1996, were 95% leased. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the Company will acquire all of the 
outstanding capital stock of Crocker in exchange for a cash payment of $11.02 per share, subject to certain adjustments. Based on Crocker's 
26,981,087 shares of outstanding capital stock at May 31, 1996, the purchase price will total approximately $297 million. In addition, the 
Company will cash out certain existing options and warrants to purchase Crocker common stock for an estimated $4.2 million and assume 
approximately $240 million of Crocker's currently outstanding indebtedness, having a weighted average interest rate of 8.6%. In connection 
with the Merger, the Company has also entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the "Stock Purchase Agreement") with AP CRTI Holdings, 
L. P. (an affiliate of Apollo Real Estate Advisors), AEW Partners, L.P. (an investment partnership advised by Aldrich Eastman Waltch), and 
Crocker's three senior executives (Thomas J. Crocker, Richard S. Ackerman and Robert E. Onisko), who together own approximately 83% of 
Crocker's outstanding common stock (collectively, the "Crocker Selling Shareholders"), which obligates such shareholders to sell their shares 
to the Company at a cash price of $11.02, subject to the same adjustments as required under the Merger Agreement. The approximately $247 
million purchase price of such shares is part of the total approximately $297 million purchase price for all of Crocker's outstanding shares. The 
Merger Agreement and the Stock Purchase Agreement may be terminated by the respective parties only in certain limited circumstances. In 
addition, under the terms of the Merger Agreement, certain specified assets and liabilities of Crocker will not be acquired by the Company. In 
connection with the Merger, the Company obtained a commitment from NationsBank and First Union National Bank of North Carolina for a 
$250 million revolving line of credit (the "Revolving Loan"). The Revolving Loan will replace the Credit Facility and will be used together 
with the proceeds from the Offering to fund the Merger. The Revolving Loan will be unsecured for the first nine months and will bear interest 
at a rate of LIBOR plus 150 basis points. After the initial nine-month period, the Revolving Loan will either convert to a secured loan with a 
maturity date two years from its closing date or to an unsecured loan maturing on July 31, 1999. The Revolving Loan will remain unsecured if 
the Company generates at least $300 million of net proceeds from equity offerings (including the proceeds from this Offering) during the initial 
nine-month period and meets certain covenants, including covenants relating to debt ratios, tangible net worth and interest coverage. If the 
Revolving Loan remains unsecured after the initial nine-month period, it would have an interest rate that ranged from LIBOR plus 100 basis 
points to LIBOR plus 175 basis points based on the Company's senior unsecured credit rating. If the loan converts to a secured facility, the 
Company will be required to pledge assets at least equal in value to 60% of the outstanding amount of the Revolving Loan and the interest rate 
will equal LIBOR plus 175 basis points.  
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Cont inued)  

12. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED):  
Selected quarterly financial data for the year ended December 31, 1995, and for the period from June 14, 1994, to December 31, 1994, is as 
follows (in thousands except per share amounts):  

 

* The total of the four quarterly amounts for net income per share do not equal the total for the year due to the use of a weighted average to 
compute the average number of shares outstanding.  
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                                                  F or the period from June 14, 1994 to December 31, 19 94* 
                                       First Quarte r    Second Quarter    Third Quarter    Fourth Quar ter     Total 
Revenues............................      $    --          $  1,482          $ 8,810          $  9,150        $19,442 
Income before minority interest and 
  extraordinary item................           --               534            3,652             3,509          7,695 
Minority interest...................           --               (56)            (384)             (368 )         (808)  
Extraordinary item..................           --            (1,273)              --                --         (1,273)  
Net (loss) income...................      $    --          $   (795)         $ 3,268          $  3,141        $ 5,614 
Per Share: 
  Income before extraordinary 
     item...........................      $    --          $   0.06          $  0.36          $   0.35        $  0.77 
  Net (loss) income.................      $    --          $  (0.09)         $  0.36          $   0.35        $  0.63 
                                                           For the year ended December 31, 1995* 
                                       First Quarte r    Second Quarter    Third Quarter    Fourth Quar ter     Total 
Revenues............................      $12,846          $ 17,518          $20,560          $ 22,598        $73,522 
Income before minority interest and 
  extraordinary item................        4,879             6,829            7,939             9,287         28,934 
Minority interest...................         (800)           (1,270)          (1,381)           (1,486 )       (4,937)  
Extraordinary item..................         (875)               --               --                --           (875)  
Net income..........................      $ 3,204          $  5,559          $ 6,558          $  7,801        $23,122 
Per Share: 
  Income before extraordinary 
     item...........................      $  0.36          $   0.39          $  0.39          $   0.40        $  1.55 
  Net income........................      $  0.29          $   0.39          $  0.39          $   0.40        $  1.49 



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
SCHEDULE III -- REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECI ATION  

December 31, 1995  
(In thousands)  

 
                                                                   Cost     Gross Amount at Which 
                                                                Capitalized 
                                             Initia l Cost       Subsequent   Carried at Close of 
                                                   Building &       to              Period  Building &    Total    Accumulated 
       Description         Encumbrance    Land    I mprovements  Acquisition   Land    Improvements    (11)    Depreciation (12)  
Highwoods Office Center 
  Amica                          (3)    $     289   $  1,544     $     42   $     289   $  1,586    $   1,875      $    61 
  Arrowwood                       --          955      3,406          212         955      3,618        4,573          139 
  Aspen                          (3)          560      2,104           56         560      2,160        2,720           91 
  Birchwood                      (3)          201        911           --         201        911        1,112           43 
  Cedar East                     (3)          563      2,498           58         563      2,556        3,119          106 
  Cedar West                     (3)          563      2,487           94         563      2,581        3,144          101 
  Cottonwood                     (3)          609      3,253           15         609      3,268        3,877          127 
  Cypress                        (3)          567      1,747           26         567      1,773        2,340           84 
  Dogwood                      2,633          766      2,790           --         766      2,790        3,556          108 
  Hawthorn                       (3)          904      3,782           --         904      3,782        4,686        1,487 
  Highwoods Tower                (3)          203     16,948           --         203     16,948       17,151        2,035 
  Holly                           --          300      1,170           --         300      1,170        1,470           45 
  Ironwood                       (3)          319      1,276           99         319      1,375        1,694           82 
  Kaiser                         (3)          133      3,625           --         133      3,625        3,758          978 
  Laurel                         (3)          884      2,537            4         884      2,541        3,425           98 
  Leatherwood                     --          213        851           98         213        949        1,162           52 
  Smoketree Tower                (3)        2,353     11,922          723       2,353     12,645       14,998          475 
Rexwoods Office Center 
  2500 Blue Ridge                (3)          722      4,552           33         722      4,585        5,307          177 
  Blue Ridge II                1,445          434         --        1,450         462      1,422        1,884          333 
  Rexwoods Center                (2)          775         --        3,771         878      3,668        4,546          648 
  Rexwoods II                    (3)          355         --        1,822         362      1,815        2,177          100 
  Rexwoods III                 3,320          886         --        2,863         919      2,830        3,749          328 
  Rexwoods IV                    (3)          586         --        3,434         586      3,434        4,020           58 
Triangle Business Center 
  Bldg. 2A                       (2)          377      4,004          303         377      4,307        4,684          193 
  Bldg. 2B                       (2)          118      1,225           --         118      1,225        1,343           47 
  Bldg. 3                        (2)          409      5,349          300         409      5,649        6,058          290 
  Bldg. 7                        (2)          414      6,301          (72)        414      6,229        6,643          240 
Progress Center 
  Cape Fear                       --          131         --        1,895         131      1,895        2,026          928 
  Catawba                         --          125         --        1,650         125      1,650        1,775          912 
  CompuChem                       --          269         --        6,598         289      6,578        6,867        1,726 
North Park 
  4800 North Park             10,847        2,678     17,673          109       2,678     17,782       20,460          689 
  4900 North Park              1,567          770      1,989           11         770      2,000        2,770           77 
  5000 North Park                (3)        1,010      4,697          560       1,010      5,257        6,267          203 
Creekstone Park 
  Creekstone Crossing             --          728      3,891           16         728      3,907        4,635           61 
  Riverbirch                     (3)          448         --        4,137         469      4,116        4,585          813 
  Willow Oak                      --          458      4,685          343         458      5,028        5,486           21 
Research Commons 
  EPA Annex/Administration       (5)        1,609     10,920           51       1,609     10,971       12,580          390 
  4501 Bldg.                     (5)          748      4,448          653         748      5,101        5,849          184 
  4401 Bldg.                     (5)        1,822      8,929        3,575       1,822     12,504       14,326          554 
  4301 Bldg.                     (5)        1,094      7,425           --       1,094      7,425        8,519          132 
  4201 Bldg.                     (5)        1,466      7,715        2,305       1,466     10,020       11,486          417 
Hock Portfollo 
  Fairfield I                     --          805      3,227           21         805      3,248        4,053           37 
 
                              Date of       Date 
       Description          Construction  Acquired 
Highwoods Office Center 
  Amica                          1983        1994 
  Arrowwood                      1979        1994 
  Aspen                          1980        1994 
  Birchwood                      1983        1994 
  Cedar East                     1981        1994 
  Cedar West                     1981        1994 
  Cottonwood                     1983        1994 
  Cypress                        1980        1994 
  Dogwood                        1983        1994 
  Hawthorn                       1987        1994 
  Highwoods Tower                1991        1994 
  Holly                          1984        1994 
  Ironwood                       1978        1994 
  Kaiser                         1988        1994 
  Laurel                         1982        1994 
  Leatherwood                    1979        1994 
  Smoketree Tower                1984        1994 
Rexwoods Office Center 
  2500 Blue Ridge                1982        1994 
  Blue Ridge II                  1988        1994 
  Rexwoods Center                1990        1994 
  Rexwoods II                    1993        1994 
  Rexwoods III                   1992        1994 
  Rexwoods IV                    1994        1994 
Triangle Business Center 
  Bldg. 2A                       1984        1994 
  Bldg. 2B                       1984        1994 
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  Bldg. 3                        1988        1994 
  Bldg. 7                        1988        1994 
Progress Center 
  Cape Fear                      1980        1994 
  Catawba                        1980        1994 
  CompuChem                      1980        1994 
North Park 
  4800 North Park                1985        1994 
  4900 North Park                1984        1994 
  5000 North Park                1980        1994 
Creekstone Park 
  Creekstone Crossing            1990        1995 
  Riverbirch                     1987        1994 
  Willow Oak                     1995        1995 
Research Commons 
  EPA Annex/Administration       1966        1995 
  4501 Bldg.                     1985        1995 
  4401 Bldg.                     1987        1995 
  4301 Bldg.                     1989        1995 
  4201 Bldg.                     1991        1995 
Hock Portfollo 
  Fairfield I                    1987        1995 



                                                                   Cost     Gross Amount at Which 
                                                                Capitalized 
                                             Initia l Cost       Subsequent   Carried at Close of 
                                                   Building &       to              Period  Building &    Total    Accumulated 
       Description         Encumbrance    Land    I mprovements  Acquisition   Land    Improvements    (11)    Depreciation (12)  
  Fairfield II                    --          910      3,647           19         910      3,666        4,576           42 
  Qualex                          --          879      3,522           --         879      3,522        4,401           40 
  4101 Roxboro                    --        1,059      4,243           10       1,059      4,253        5,312           49 
  4020 Roxboro                    --          675      2,708            8         675      2,716        3,391           31 
Other Research Triangle 
  Properties 
  Colony Corporate Center        (3)          613      3,296           62         613      3,358        3,971          134 
  Concourse                      (3)          986     12,069          185         986     12,254       13,240          477 
  Cotton Building                 --          460      1,844           --         460      1,844        2,304            2 
  Expressway One Warehouse     1,650          242         --        1,836         246      1,832        2,078          248 
  Holiday Inn                  2,464          867      2,748           75         867      2,823        3,690          106 
  Lake Plaza East                (3)          856      4,893          126         856      5,019        5,875          217 
  Phoenix                         --          394      2,019           11         394      2,030        2,424           53 
  Six Forks Center I              --          666      2,688           --         666      2,688        3,354            8 
  Six Forks Center II             --        1,086      4,370            8       1,086      4,378        5,464           14 
  Six Forks Center III            --          862      4,444           91         862      4,535        5,397          144 
  South Square I                 (2)          606      3,785          152         606      3,937        4,543          157 
  South Square II                (3)          525      4,742          106         525      4,848        5,373          187 
Airpark East 
  Highland Industries            (6)          175        699           --         175        699          874           15 
  Service Center 1               (6)          275      1,099           46         275      1,145        1,420           24 
  Service Center 2               (6)          222        889           --         222        889        1,111           19 
  Service Center 3               (6)          304      1,214           --         304      1,214        1,518           27 
  Service Center 4               (6)          224        898           --         224        898        1,122           20 
  Copier Consultants             (6)          252      1,008           --         252      1,008        1,260           22 
  Service Court                  (6)          194        774            1         194        775          969           17 
  Bldg. 01                       (6)          377      1,510            8         377      1,518        1,895           34 
  Bldg. 02                       (6)          461      1,842            1         461      1,843        2,304           40 
  Bldg. 03                       (6)          321      1,283           41         321      1,324        1,645           33 
  Bldg. A                        (6)          541      2,913           60         541      2,973        3,514           66 
  Bldg. B                        (6)          779      3,200           43         779      3,243        4,022           73 
  Bldg. C                        (6)        2,384      9,535           35       2,384      9,570       11,954          214 
  Sears Cenfact                4,561          861      3,446            6         861      3,452        4,313           75 
  Warehouse 1                    (6)          384      1,535           --         384      1,535        1,919           34 
  Warehouse 2                    (6)          372      1,488           --         372      1,488        1,860           33 
  Warehouse 3                    (6)          370      1,480            2         370      1,482        1,852           32 
  Warehouse 4                    (6)          657      2,628            1         657      2,629        3,286           57 
Airpark North 
  DC-1                           (6)          723      2,891           15         723      2,906        3,629           64 
  DC-2                           (6)        1,094      4,375           42       1,094      4,417        5,511           97 
  DC-3                           (6)          378      1,511           --         378      1,511        1,889           33 
  DC-4                           (6)          377      1,508            1         377      1,509        1,886           33 
Airpark West 
  Airpark I                      (2)          954      3,817            5         954      3,822        4,776           84 
  Airpark II                     (2)          887      3,536            7         887      3,543        4,430           79 
  Airpark IV                     (2)          226        903           37         226        940        1,166           22 
  Airpark V                      (2)          242        966            6         242        972        1,214           22 
  Airpark VI                     (2)          326      1,308           61         326      1,369        1,695           34 
West Point Business Park 
  BMF Warehouse                  (7)          795      3,181           --         795      3,181        3,976           70 
  WP-11                          (7)          393      1,570           22         393      1,592        1,985           35 
  WP-12                          (7)          382      1,531           22         382      1,553        1,935           34 
  WP-13                          (7)          297      1,192           22         297      1,214        1,511           27 
  WP-3 & 4                       (7)          120        480           --         120        480          600           11 
  WP-5                            --          178        590          136         178        726          904            5 
  Fairchild Bldg.                (7)          640      2,577           --         640      2,577        3,217           56 
  LUWA Bahnson Bldg.             (7)          346      1,384            1         346      1,385        1,731           30 
 
                              Date of       Date 
       Description          Construction  Acquired 
  Fairfield II                   1989        1995 
  Qualex                         1985        1995 
  4101 Roxboro                   1984        1995 
  4020 Roxboro                   1989        1995 
Other Research Triangle 
  Properties 
  Colony Corporate Center        1985        1994 
  Concourse                      1986        1994 
  Cotton Building                1972        1995 
  Expressway One Warehouse       1990        1994 
  Holiday Inn                    1984        1994 
  Lake Plaza East                1984        1994 
  Phoenix                        1990        1994 
  Six Forks Center I             1982        1995 
  Six Forks Center II            1983        1995 
  Six Forks Center III           1987        1994 
  South Square I                 1988        1994 
  South Square II                1989        1994 
Airpark East 
  Highland Industries            1990        1995 
  Service Center 1               1985        1995 
  Service Center 2               1985        1995 
  Service Center 3               1985        1995 
  Service Center 4               1985        1995 
  Copier Consultants             1990        1995 
  Service Court                  1990        1995 
  Bldg. 01                       1990        1995 
  Bldg. 02                       1986        1995 
  Bldg. 03                       1986        1995 
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  Bldg. A                        1986        1995 
  Bldg. B                        1988        1995 
  Bldg. C                        1990        1995 
  Sears Cenfact                  1989        1995 
  Warehouse 1                    1985        1995 
  Warehouse 2                    1985        1995 
  Warehouse 3                    1986        1995 
  Warehouse 4                    1988        1995 
Airpark North 
  DC-1                           1986        1995 
  DC-2                           1987        1995 
  DC-3                           1988        1995 
  DC-4                           1988        1995 
Airpark West 
  Airpark I                      1984        1995 
  Airpark II                     1985        1995 
  Airpark IV                     1985        1995 
  Airpark V                      1985        1995 
  Airpark VI                     1985        1995 
West Point Business Park 
  BMF Warehouse                  1986        1995 
  WP-11                          1988        1995 
  WP-12                          1988        1995 
  WP-13                          1988        1995 
  WP-3 & 4                       1988        1995 
  WP-5                           1995        1995 
  Fairchild Bldg.                1990        1995 
  LUWA Bahnson Bldg.             1990        1995 



                                                                   Cost     Gross Amount at Which 
                                                                Capitalized 
                                             Initia l Cost       Subsequent   Carried at Close of 
                                                   Building &       to              Period  Building &    Total    Accumulated 
       Description         Encumbrance    Land    I mprovements  Acquisition   Land    Improvements    (11)    Depreciation (12)  
University Commercial 
  Center 
  W-1                             --          203        812           --         203        812        1,015           18 
  W-2                             --          196        786           --         196        786          982           17 
  SR-1                            --          276      1,155            6         276      1,161        1,437           26 
  SR-2 01/02                      --          215        859           90         215        949        1,164           26 
  SR-3                            --          167        668           --         167        668          835           15 
  Bldg. 01/02                     --           26        102           13          26        115          141            3 
  Bldg. 03                        --          429      1,771            3         429      1,774        2,203           39 
  Bldg. 04                        --          514      2,058            6         514      2,064        2,578           46 
Ivy Distribution Center           --          452      1,812           67         452      1,879        2,331           42 
Knollwood Office Center 
  370 Knollwood                  (6)        1,819      7,451          444       1,819      7,895        9,714          192 
  380 Knollwood                  (6)        2,977     11,912          163       2,977     12,075       15,052          272 
Stoneleigh Business Park 
  7327 W. Friendly Ave.           --           60        441            6          60        447          507            5 
  7339 W. Friendly Ave.           --           63        465            8          63        473          536            6 
  7341 W. Friendly Ave.          (1)          113        831           11         113        842          955           10 
  7343 W. Friendly Ave.          (1)           72        531            7          72        538          610            6 
  7345 W. Friendly Ave.          (1)           66        485            6          66        491          557            6 
  7347 W. Friendly Ave.          (1)           97        709            9          97        718          815            8 
  7349 W. Friendly Ave.          (1)           53        388            5          53        393          446            4 
  7351 W. Friendly Ave.          (1)          106        778           11         106        789          895            9 
  7353 W. Friendly Ave.          (1)          123        901           12         123        913        1,036           10 
  7355 W. Friendly Ave.          (1)           72        525            7          72        532          604            6 
Spring Garden Plaza 
  4000 Spring Garden St.          --          127        933            7         127        940        1,067           11 
  4002 Spring Garden St.          --           39        290            2          39        292          331            3 
  4004 Spring Garden St.          --          139      1,019            8         139      1,027        1,166           12 
Pomona Center-Phase I 
  7 Dundas Circle                (1)           75        552           --          75        552          627            6 
  8 Dundas Circle                (1)           84        617           --          84        617          701            7 
  9 Dundas Circle                (1)           51        373           --          51        373          424            4 
Pomona Center-Phase II 
  302 Pomona Dr.                 (1)           84        617           --          84        617          701            7 
  304 Pomona Dr.                 (1)           22        163           --          22        163          185            2 
  306 Pomona Dr.                 (1)           50        368           --          50        368          418            4 
  308 Pomona Dr.                 (1)           72        531           --          72        531          603            6 
  5 Dundas Circle                (1)           72        531           --          72        531          603            6 
Westgate on Wendover-Phase 
  I 
  305 South Westgate Dr.         (4)           30        220            1          30        221          251            3 
  307 South Westgate Dr.         (4)           66        485            4          66        489          555            6 
  309 South Westgate Dr.         (4)           68        496            3          68        499          567            6 
  311 South Westgate Dr.         (4)           75        551            4          75        555          630            6 
  315 South Westgate Dr.         (4)           54        396            2          54        398          452            5 
  317 South Westgate Dr.         (4)           81        597            3          81        600          681            7 
  319 South Westgate Dr.         (4)           54        396            2          54        398          452            5 
Westgate on Wendover-Phase 
  II 
  206 South Westgate Dr.         (1)           91        664            4          91        668          759            8 
  207 South Westgate Dr.         (1)          138      1,012            6         138      1,018        1,156           12 
  300 South Westgate Dr.         (1)           68        496            3          68        499          567            6 
  4600 Dundas Circle             (1)           62        456           19          62        475          537            5 
  4602 Dundas Circle             (1)           68        498           --          68        498          566            6 
Radar Road 
  500 Radar Rd.                  (1)          202      1,484           --         202      1,484        1,686           17 
  502 Radar Rd.                  (1)           39        285           --          39        285          324            3 
 
                              Date of       Date 
       Description          Construction  Acquired 
University Commercial 
  Center 
  W-1                            1983        1995 
  W-2                            1983        1995 
  SR-1                           1983        1995 
  SR-2 01/02                     1983        1995 
  SR-3                           1984        1995 
  Bldg. 01/02                    1983        1995 
  Bldg. 03                       1985        1995 
  Bldg. 04                       1986        1995 
                                1930- 
Ivy Distribution Center          1980        1995 
Knollwood Office Center 
  370 Knollwood                  1994        1995 
  380 Knollwood                  1990        1995 
Stoneleigh Business Park 
  7327 W. Friendly Ave.          1987        1995 
  7339 W. Friendly Ave.          1989        1995 
  7341 W. Friendly Ave.          1988        1995 
  7343 W. Friendly Ave.          1988        1995 
  7345 W. Friendly Ave.          1988        1995 
  7347 W. Friendly Ave.          1988        1995 
  7349 W. Friendly Ave.          1988        1995 
  7351 W. Friendly Ave.          1988        1995 
  7353 W. Friendly Ave.          1988        1995 
  7355 W. Friendly Ave.          1988        1995 
Spring Garden Plaza 
  4000 Spring Garden St.         1983        1995 
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  4002 Spring Garden St.         1983        1995 
  4004 Spring Garden St.         1983        1995 
Pomona Center-Phase I 
  7 Dundas Circle                1986        1995 
  8 Dundas Circle                1986        1995 
  9 Dundas Circle                1986        1995 
Pomona Center-Phase II 
  302 Pomona Dr.                 1987        1995 
  304 Pomona Dr.                 1987        1995 
  306 Pomona Dr.                 1987        1995 
  308 Pomona Dr.                 1987        1995 
  5 Dundas Circle                1987        1995 
Westgate on Wendover-Phase 
  I 
  305 South Westgate Dr.         1985        1995 
  307 South Westgate Dr.         1985        1995 
  309 South Westgate Dr.         1985        1995 
  311 South Westgate Dr.         1985        1995 
  315 South Westgate Dr.         1985        1995 
  317 South Westgate Dr.         1985        1995 
  319 South Westgate Dr.         1985        1995 
Westgate on Wendover-Phase 
  II 
  206 South Westgate Dr.         1986        1995 
  207 South Westgate Dr.         1986        1995 
  300 South Westgate Dr.         1986        1995 
  4600 Dundas Circle             1985        1995 
  4602 Dundas Circle             1985        1995 
Radar Road 
  500 Radar Rd.                  1981        1995 
  502 Radar Rd.                  1986        1995 



                                                                   Cost     Gross Amount at Which 
                                                                Capitalized 
                                             Initia l Cost       Subsequent   Carried at Close of 
                                                   Building &       to              Period  Building &    Total    Accumulated 
       Description         Encumbrance    Land    I mprovements  Acquisition   Land    Improvements    (11)    Depreciation (12)  
  504 Radar Rd.                  (1)           39        285           --          39        285          324            3 
  506 Radar Rd.                  (1)           39        285           --          39        285          324            3 
Holden/85 Business Park 
  2616 Phoenix Dr.               (1)          135        990           --         135        990        1,125           11 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 100        (1)           63        466           --          63        466          529            5 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 200        (1)           63        466           --          63        466          529            5 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 300        (1)           31        229           --          31        229          260            3 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 400        (1)           52        382            2          52        384          436            5 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 500        (1)           64        471            5          64        476          540            6 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 600        (1)           78        575           --          78        575          653            7 
Industrial Village 
  7906 Industrial Village 
    Rd.                          (1)           62        455            5          62        460          522            5 
  7908 Industrial Village 
    Rd.                          (1)           62        455            5          62        460          522            5 
  7910 Industrial Village 
    Rd.                          (1)           62        455            5          62        460          522            5 
Other Piedmont Triad 
  Properties 
  6348 Burnt Poplar               --          721      2,883            7         721      2,890        3,611           63 
  6350 Burnt Poplar               --          339      1,365            5         339      1,370        1,709           30 
  Stratford                      (3)        2,777     11,459           --       2,777     11,459       14,236          252 
  Chesapeake                     (2)        1,236      4,944           --       1,236      4,944        6,180          108 
  3288 Robinhood               1,172          290      1,159           24         290      1,183        1,473           28 
Steele Creek Park 
  Bldg. A                        (2)          499      1,998            7         499      2,005        2,504           44 
  Bldg. B                        (2)          110        441           --         110        441          551           10 
  Bldg. E                        (2)          188        824           85         188        909        1,097           16 
  Bldg. G-1                      (2)          196        783           20         196        803          999           18 
  Bldg. H                        (2)          169        677           72         169        749          918           30 
  Bldg. K                        (2)          148        592           --         148        592          740           13 
  Bldg. N                        (2)          199        722           --         199        722          921           17 
Highwoods/Forsyth Business 
  Park 
  4101 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       (1)           70        510            2          70        512          582            6 
  4105 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       (1)           26        189            1          26        190          216            2 
  4109 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       (1)           87        636            4          87        640          727            7 
  4201 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       (1)          110        809            4         110        813          923            9 
  4205 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       (1)          134        979            8         134        987        1,121           11 
  4209 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       (1)           91        665            3          91        668          759            8 
  4215 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       (1)          133        978            9         133        987        1,120           11 
  4301 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       (1)          232      1,702           11         232      1,713        1,945           20 
  4321 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       (1)           73        534            3          73        537          610            6 
Parkway Plaza 
  Building 1                      --        1,110      4,741           --       1,110      4,741        5,851            4 
  Building 2                      --        1,694      6,777           --       1,694      6,777        8,471            5 
  Building 3                      --        1,570      6,282           --       1,570      6,282        7,852            5 
  Building 7                      --           --      4,648           --          --      4,648        4,648            4 
  Building 8                      --           --      4,698           --          --      4,698        4,698            4 
  Building 9                   4,865           --      6,008           --          --      6,008        6,008            5 
Other Charlotte Properties 
  First Citizens                 (3)          647      5,528           30         647      5,558        6,205          218 
 
                              Date of       Date 
       Description          Construction  Acquired 
  504 Radar Rd.                  1986        1995 
  506 Radar Rd.                  1986        1995 
Holden/85 Business Park 
  2616 Phoenix Dr.               1985        1995 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 100        1989        1995 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 200        1989        1995 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 300        1989        1995 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 400        1989        1995 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 500        1989        1995 
  2606 Phoenix Dr. -- 600        1989        1995 
Industrial Village 
  7906 Industrial Village 
    Rd.                          1985        1995 
  7908 Industrial Village 
    Rd.                          1985        1995 
  7910 Industrial Village 
    Rd.                          1985        1995 
Other Piedmont Triad 
  Properties 
  6348 Burnt Poplar              1990        1995 
  6350 Burnt Poplar              1992        1995 
  Stratford                      1991        1995 
  Chesapeake                     1993        1995 
  3288 Robinhood                 1989        1995 
Steele Creek Park 
  Bldg. A                        1989        1995 
  Bldg. B                        1985        1995 
  Bldg. E                        1985        1995 
  Bldg. G-1                      1989        1995 
  Bldg. H                        1987        1995 
  Bldg. K                        1985        1995 
  Bldg. N                        1989        1995 
Highwoods/Forsyth Business 
  Park 
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  4101 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       1984        1995 
  4105 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       1984        1995 
  4109 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       1984        1995 
  4201 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       1982        1995 
  4205 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       1982        1995 
  4209 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       1982        1995 
  4215 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       1982        1995 
  4301 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       1982        1995 
  4321 Stuart Andrew Blvd.       1982        1995 
Parkway Plaza 
  Building 1                     1982        1995 
  Building 2                     1983        1995 
  Building 3                     1984        1995 
  Building 7                     1985        1995 
  Building 8                     1986        1995 
  Building 9                     1984        1995 
Other Charlotte Properties 
  First Citizens                 1989        1994 



 

(1) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $12,067,000 first mortgage loan.  
(2) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $31,834,000 first mortgage loan.  
(3) These assets are pledged as collateral for an $80,000,000 credit facility.  
(4) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $6,669,000 first mortgage loan.  
(5) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $24,481,000 first mortgage loan.  
(6) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $40,659,000 first mortgage loan.  
(7) These assets are pledged as collateral for an $8,733,000 first mortgage loan.  
(8) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $4,995,000 first mortgage loan.  
(9) Reflects land transferred to the Willow Oak Property.  
(10) Reflects land transferred to the Global Property.  
(11) The aggregate cost for Federal Income Tax purposes was approximately $509,000,000.  
(12) Depreciation is computed using economic lives ranging from 5 to 40 years.  

                                                                   Cost     Gross Amount at Which 
                                                                Capitalized 
                                             Initia l Cost       Subsequent   Carried at Close of 
                                                   Building &       to              Period  Building &    Total    Accumulated 
       Description         Encumbrance    Land    I mprovements  Acquisition   Land    Improvements    (11)    Depreciation (12)  
Innsbrook Office Center 
  Markel American                (8)          585      2,347           81         585      2,428        3,013           34 
  Proctor-Silex                  (8)        1,086      4,344           --       1,086      4,344        5,430           50 
  Vantage Place I                 --          235        940            1         235        941        1,176            7 
  Vantage Place II                --          203        811            2         203        813        1,016            6 
  Vantage Place III               --          218        873            2         218        875        1,093            6 
  Vantage Place IV                --          233        931            2         233        933        1,166            7 
  Vantage Point                4,493        1,089      4,354           51       1,089      4,405        5,494           32 
  Innsbrook Tech I             1,181          264      1,058           --         264      1,058        1,322            8 
  DEQ Technology Center           --          541      2,166           --         541      2,166        2,707           11 
  DEQ Office                      --        1,324      5,305           --       1,324      5,305        6,629           28 
Technology Park 
  Virginia Center                 --        1,438      5,858           --       1,438      5,858        7,296          157 
Development Projects 
  Global Software                 --          465         --           58         465         58          523           -- 
  MSA                             --          717         --            9         717          9          726           -- 
  Healthsource                    --        1,294         --            1       1,294          1        1,295           -- 
  Highwoods Health Club           --          142        555           --         142        555          697           -- 
  Regency One                     --          554         --           --         554         --          554           -- 
Development Land 
  Capital Center                  --          851         --           --         851         --          851           -- 
  Creekstone Park                 --        1,255         --         (453)(9)       802         --        802           -- 
  Highwoods Office Center 
    North                         --        1,555         49         (450) 10)     1,105         49     1,154           10 
  Highwoods Office Center 
    South                         --        2,518         --           --       2,518         --        2,518           -- 
  Research Commons                --        1,349         --           --       1,349         --        1,349           -- 
  Airpark East                    --        1,932         --           --       1.932                   1,932 
  Airpark North                   --          804         --           --         804         --          804           -- 
  NationsFord Business 
    Park                          --        1,206         --           --       1,206         --        1,206           -- 
  West Point Business Park        --        1,759         --           --       1,759         --        1,759           -- 
  Airport Center Drive         1,600        1,600         --           --       1,600         --        1,600           -- 
                             $41,798    $ 107,642   $449,766     $ 41,128   $ 106,955   $491,581    $ 598,536      $21,452 
                              Date of       Date 
       Description          Construction  Acquired 
Innsbrook Office Center 
  Markel American                1988        1995 
  Proctor-Silex                  1986        1995 
  Vantage Place I                1987        1995 
  Vantage Place II               1987        1995 
  Vantage Place III              1988        1995 
  Vantage Place IV               1988        1995 
  Vantage Point                  1990        1995 
  Innsbrook Tech I               1991        1995 
  DEQ Technology Center          1991        1995 
  DEQ Office                     1991        1995 
Technology Park 
  Virginia Center                1985        1994 
Development Projects 
  Global Software                 N/A 
  MSA                             N/A         N/A 
  Healthsource                    N/A         N/A 
  Highwoods Health Club           N/A         N/A 
  Regency One                     N/A         N/A 
Development Land 
  Capital Center                  N/A        1995 
  Creekstone Park                 N/A        1994 
  Highwoods Office Center 
    North                         N/A        1994 
  Highwoods Office Center 
    South                         N/A        1994 
  Research Commons                N/A        1995 
  Airpark East                    N/A        1995 
  Airpark North                   N/A        1995 
  NationsFord Business 
    Park                          N/A        1995 
  West Point Business Park        N/A        1995 
  Airport Center Drive            N/A        1995 
                                  N/A         N/A 
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
NOTE TO SCHEDULE III  

(in thousands)  
 

As of December 31, 1995 and 1994  

A summary of activity for real estate and accumulated depreciation is as follows:  

 

(a) Reconciliation of total cost to balance sheet caption at December 31, 1995 and 1994 (in thousands):  

 

(b) Reconciliation of total accumulated depreciation to balance sheet caption at December 31, 1995 and 1994 (in thousands):  
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                                                                                                Decemb er 31, 
                                                                                              1995            1994 
Real Estate: 
  Balance at beginning of year..................... ...................................   $       218,6 99    $ 61,656  
  Additions: 
     Acquisitions and development.................. ...................................           365,1 30     154,946  
     Improvements.................................. ...................................            16,8 06       2,097  
  Cost of real estate sold......................... ...................................            (2,0 99)         --  
Balance at close of year (a)....................... ...................................   $       598,5 36    $218,699  
Accumulated Depreciation: 
  Balance at beginning of year..................... ...................................   $        11,0 03    $  8,679  
  Depreciation expense............................. ...................................            10,4 83       2,324  
  Real estate sold................................. ...................................               ( 34)         --  
  Balance at close of year (b)..................... ...................................   $        21,4 52    $ 11,003  

                                                                                                  1995         1994 
Total per schedule III                                                                          $598,5 36    $218,699  
Construction in progress exclusive 
of land of $3,172 included in 
Schedule III                                                                                      15,5 08          --  
Furniture, fixtures and equipment                                                                  1,2 88         967  
Total real estate assets at cost                                                                $615,3 32    $219,666  

                                                                                                   199 5       1994 
Total per schedule III                                                                            $21, 452    $11,003  
Accumulated depreciation -- furniture, fixtures and  equipment                                         814        687  
Total accumulated depreciation                                                                    $22, 266    $11,690  



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS  
HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
We have audited the accompanying combined balance sheets of the Highwoods Group as of December 31, 1993 and 1992, and the related 
combined statements of operations, owners' deficit, and cash flows for the period from January 1, 1994 to June 13, 1994 and for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 1993. We have also audited the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 14(a). 
These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Highwoods Group's management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.  
We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the combined financial position of the 
Highwoods Group at December 31, 1993 and 1992, and the combined results of operations and cash flows for the period from January 1, 1994 
to June 13, 1994 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1993 in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles. Also, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole 
presents fairly in all material respects the information required to be set forth therein.  
ERNST & YOUNG LLP  
Raleigh, North Carolina  
January 10, 1995  
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HIGHWOODS GROUP  
COMBINED BALANCE SHEETS  

 

See accompanying notes.  
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                                                                                            December 3 1, 
                                                                                        1993           1992 
Assets 
Rental properties, at cost: 
  Land............................................. ...............................   $ 9,488,616    $ 8,602,272 
  Buildings and improvements....................... ...............................    50,141,219     4 4,876,022 
  Equipment........................................ ...............................       924,782        791,357 
                                                                                      60,554,617     5 4,269,651 
  Less accumulated depreciation.................... ...............................    (8,649,712)    ( 7,390,178)  
     Rental property, net.......................... ...............................    51,904,905     4 6,879,473 
Cash and cash equivalents.......................... ...............................       865,647      2,363,204 
Restricted cash.................................... ...............................       928,773        462,545 
Rents and other receivables from tenants (net of al lowance of $20,000 in December 
  1993 and $19,000 in December 1992)............... ...............................     1,314,983        706,682 
Accounts receivable from related parties........... ...............................       156,942        199,562 
Accrued straight line rents receivable............. ...............................     1,624,535      1,357,433 
Deferred offering costs and prepaids............... ...............................       180,604         25,549 
Other assets: 
  Deferred lease fees and loan costs............... ...............................     2,838,182      2,505,724 
  Less accumulated amortization.................... ...............................    (1,136,059)      (812,279)  
                                                                                       1,702,123      1,693,445 
Total assets....................................... ...............................   $58,678,512    $5 3,687,893 
Liabilities and owners' deficit 
Mortgages and notes payable including $159,362 to r elated parties at December 31, 
  1993 and $262,552 at December 31, 1992........... ...............................   $64,346,580    $6 0,279,344 
Accrued expenses and accounts payable.............. ...............................     2,226,879      1,034,212 
Accounts payable to related parties................ ...............................        81,833        197,747 
Total liabilities.................................. ...............................    66,655,292     6 1,511,303 
Owners' deficit.................................... ...............................    (7,976,780)    ( 7,823,410)  
Commitments (Notes 3, 5 and 7)..................... ............................... 
Total liabilities and owners' deficit.............. ...............................   $58,678,512    $5 3,687,893 



HIGHWOODS GROUP  
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

 

See accompanying notes.  
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                                                        January 1, 1994 
                                                              to                  Year ended December 31, 
                                                         June 13, 1994       1993          1992          1991 
Revenue: 
  Rental income.................................... ...    $ 4,953,444     $ 8,983,623   $ 8,184,195   $ 5,636,933 
  Leasing, Development and Construction Income..... ...      1,267,725       3,721,407     3,490,283     3,039,210 
  Other income..................................... ...        427,300         745,173       857,512     1,097,842 
Total revenue...................................... ...      6,648,469      13,450,203    12,531,990     9,773,985 
Expenses: 
  Property operating expenses...................... ...      2,246,830       4,398,186     4,197,621     3,123,351 
  Leasing, Development and Construction Expenses... ...        349,677       1,849,778     1,388,629     1,343,955 
  Interest......................................... ...      2,472,609       5,184,781     5,058,973     3,907,894 
  Depreciation and amortization.................... ...        834,622       1,583,314     1,431,455     1,134,657 
  Marketing, general and administrative............ ...        280,777         589,257       693,892       690,283 
Total expenses..................................... ...      6,184,515      13,605,316    12,770,570    10,200,140 
Net income (loss).................................. ...    $   463,954     $  (155,113)  $  (238,580)  $  (426,155)  



HIGHWOODS GROUP  
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF OWNERS' DEFICIT  

 

See accompanying notes.  
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                                                                                                        Owners' 
                                                                                                        Deficit 
Balance at January 1, 1991......................... ................................................   $(7,670,302)  
  Owners' distributions............................ ................................................    (1,794,472)  
  Owners' contributions............................ ................................................       706,209 
  Net loss for the year ended December 31, 1991.... ................................................      (426,155)  
Balance at December 31, 1991....................... ................................................    (9,184,720)  
  Owners' distributions............................ ................................................    (1,437,427)  
  Owners' contributions............................ ................................................     3,037,317 
  Net loss for the year ended December 31, 1992.... ................................................      (238,580)  
Balance at December 31, 1992....................... ................................................    (7,823,410)  
  Owners' distributions............................ ................................................    (1,043,944)  
  Owners' contributions............................ ................................................     1,045,687 
  Net loss for the year ended December 31, 1993.... ................................................      (155,113)  
Balance at December 31, 1993....................... ................................................    (7,976,780)  
  Owners' distributions............................ ................................................    (1,759,220)  
  Net income for the period from January 1, 1994 to  June 13, 1994..................................       463,954 
Balance at June 13, 1994........................... ................................................   $(9,272,046)  



HIGHWOODS GROUP  
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

 

See accompanying notes.  
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                                                            January 1, 1994 
                                                                  to                  Year ended Decem ber 31, 
                                                             June 13, 1994       1993          1992           1991 
Operating activities 
Net income (loss).................................. .......    $   463,954     $  (155,113)  $  (238,58 0)  $   (426,155)  
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provi ded by 
  operating activities: 
  Depreciation and amortization.................... .......        834,622       1,583,314     1,431,45 5      1,134,657 
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
    Rents and other receivables from tenants....... .......      1,100,324        (608,301)     (133,79 6)      (136,346)  
    Deferred lease fees and loan costs............. .......         26,150        (332,458)     (923,68 1)      (594,547)  
    Accounts receivable from related parties....... .......             --          42,620       (28,78 8)      (109,486)  
    Deferred offering costs and prepaids........... .......        181,303        (155,055)       (3,21 8)        (7,957)  
    Tenant security deposits....................... .......          7,682          (5,660)      (22,06 7)         6,862 
    Accrued straight line rents receivable......... .......        238,707        (267,102)     (380,27 9)      (283,812)  
    Accrued expenses and accounts payable.......... .......        (53,828)      1,198,327      (111,05 9)       342,158 
    Accounts payable to related parties............ .......             --        (115,914)      (11,39 5)       209,142 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities .......      2,798,914       1,184,658      (421,40 8)       134,516 
Investing activities 
Changes in restricted cash......................... .......        834,717        (466,228)     (462,54 5)            -- 
Purchases of, and improvements to, rental propertie s......       (346,978)     (6,284,966)   (3,220,40 4)   (16,140,703)  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities .......        487,739      (6,751,194)   (3,682,94 9)   (16,140,703)  
Financing activities 
Proceeds from borrowings........................... .......             --       4,918,424    27,168,94 6     19,550,834 
Principal payments on notes payable................ .......       (398,724)       (851,188)  (23,344,66 8)    (2,061,674)  
Distributions to partners.......................... .......     (1,759,220)     (1,043,944)   (1,437,42 7)    (1,794,472)  
Capital contributions from partners................ .......             --       1,045,687     3,037,31 7        706,209 
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities .......     (2,157,944)      4,068,979     5,424,16 8     16,400,897 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent s......      1,128,709      (1,497,557)    1,319,81 1        394,710 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year..... .......        865,647       2,363,204     1,043,39 3        648,683 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year........... .......    $ 1,994,356     $   865,647   $ 2,363,20 4   $  1,043,393 
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information 
Cash paid during the year for interest (net of inte rest 
  capitalized of $-0-, $15,772, $-0-, and $487,173,  for 
  the period from January 1, 1994 to June 13, 1994 and for 
  the years ended December 31, 1993, 1992, and 1991 , 
  respectively).................................... .......    $ 2,410,237     $ 5,098,233   $ 5,147,85 5   $  3,745,068 



HIGHWOODS GROUP  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
Description of Business The Highwoods Group is engaged in the ownership, management, operation, leasing and development of commercial 
real estate properties. The Highwoods Group owns and operates fourteen buildings located in the Research Triangle Park region of North 
Carolina.  
Principles of Combination  
The Highwoods Group is not a legal entity but rather a combination of commercial real estate properties that are organized as general 
partnerships and are under common control, and an affiliated real estate management company, the Highwoods Properties Company ("HPC"). 
HPC provides property management services to the properties. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in 
the combination.  
As discussed in Note 7, on June 14, 1994, the Highwoods Group intended to transfer its properties and property management operation to a real 
estate investment trust (REIT), Highwoods Properties, Inc. Rental Property  
Rental properties are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. All capitalizable costs related to the improvement or replacement of 
commercial real estate properties are capitalized. Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 40 
years for buildings and improvements and five to seven years for furniture and equipment. Tenant improvements are amortized over the life of 
respective leases, using the straight-line method.  
Cash Equivalents  
The Highwoods Group considers highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.  
Revenue Recognition  
Minimum rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, and due and unpaid rents are included in rents and 
other receivables from tenants in the accompanying balance sheet. Certain lease agreements contain provisions which provide reimbursement 
of real estate taxes, insurance and certain common area maintenance (CAM) costs. These additional rents are recorded on the accrual basis. All 
rent and other receivables from tenants are due from commercial building tenants located in the properties. Lease fee income is recognized 50% 
when the lease is signed and 50% when the tenant takes occupancy.  
Deferred Lease Fees and Loan Costs  
Lease fees and concessions and loan costs are capitalized at cost and amortized over the life of the related lease or loan.  
Other Income  
Other income consists primarily of management fees generated by HPC from providing property management services to third parties and 
interest income.  
Income Taxes  
No provision has been made for income taxes because the commercial real estate properties are owned by partnerships whose partners are 
required to include their respective share of profits or losses in their individual tax returns.  
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HIGHWOODS GROUP  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Continue d)  

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -- Continued HPC elected to be taxed for federal and 
state income tax purposes as an S-Corporation under provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. Consequently income, losses and credits are 
passed through directly to the shareholders, rather than being taxed at the corporate level. This election was effective as of January 1, 1993. 
Previously, HPC operated as a general partnership.  
2. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE  
Mortgages Payable Conventional mortgages payable are comprised of 20 loans at December 31, 1993 and 17 loans at December 31, 1992, each 
of which is collateralized by a building and related land included in real estate assets. The mortgages payable are generally due in monthly 
installments of interest and principal and mature at various dates through 2011. Interest rates on fixed rate mortgages payable aggregating 
$41,138,812 and $38,469,318 at December 31, 1993 and 1992, respectively, range from 7% to 9.875% (averaging 8.77% at December 31, 
1993). Interest rates on variable rate mortgages payable aggregating $22,720,011 and $21,023,907 at December 31, 1993 and 1992, 
respectively, range from the prime rate (6.0% at December 31, 1993) to 1.5% above the prime rate.  
Unsecured Notes Payable  
Unsecured notes payable are comprised of four loans at December 31, 1993, and six loans at December 31, 1992. The notes payable are 
generally due in monthly installments of interest and principal and mature at various dates through 2000. Interest rates on fixed rate notes 
payable aggregating $328,395 and $523,567 at December 31, 1993 and 1992 respectively, range from 6% to 11% (averaging 8.31% at 
December 31, 1993). Interest rates on variable rate notes payable aggregating $159,362 and $262,552 (of which all is due to related parties) at 
December 31, 1993 and 1992 respectively, range from the prime rate (6.0% at December 31, 1993) to 1.5% above the prime rate.  
Combined aggregate principal maturities of mortgages and notes payable at December 31, 1993 are as follows:  

 

All of the properties are pledged as collateral for the mortgages payable. In connection with the procurement of mortgages on completed 
buildings, the lenders require a holdback of a portion of the loan proceeds to provide for tenant fit-ups in the buildings. These proceeds are then 
drawn as fit-up expenses are incurred. Such hold back amounts are included in restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheet. (1993 -- 
$928,773; 1992 -- $462,545).  
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1994............................................... .......................   $18,435,354  
1995............................................... .......................     1,132,936  
1996............................................... .......................       782,363  
1997............................................... .......................       846,760  
1998............................................... .......................     8,350,738  
Thereafter......................................... .......................    34,798,429  
                                                                             $64,346,580  



HIGHWOODS GROUP  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Continue d)  

3. LEASES The Highwoods Group leases automobiles, and office space under various operating leases. Total rent expense for these leases was 
$69,900, $148,000, $162,000 and $163,000 for the period from January 1, 1994 to June 13, 1994 and for the years ended December 31, 1993, 
1992 and 1991, respectively. As of June 13, 1994, the Company did not have contractual leases in place with remaining terms of one year or 
more.  
4. MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION PROGRAM In 1989, HPC adopted two bonus plans for four members of management. The first plan 
provides for approximately 15.5% of the net income of HPC for each fiscal year to be divided among the managers, based on performance, and 
paid in the first quarter following the end of the fiscal year. The second plan provides that 25% of all profits of HPC in excess of $700,000 for 
each fiscal year be contributed to a pool for the same four members of management, based on established percentages. Amounts contributed 
under the plan are paid to the employees ratably over a three-year period. These bonuses are discretionary and approved by the partners 
annually. If any of the employees under the plan are terminated or leave HPC for any reason, that employee forfeits rights to receive payout of 
the unpaid portion in their bonus account. Compensation expense related to the bonus plan was $212,060, $147,703, and $225,146 for the years 
ended December 31, 1993, 1992 and 1991 respectively. There was no expense incurred for the period from January 1, through June 13, 1994.  
5. RENTAL INCOME The Highwoods Group's developed property is being leased to tenants under operating leases that expire over the next 
ten years. The minimum rental amounts under the leases are either subject to scheduled fixed increases or adjustments based on the Consumer 
Price Index. Generally, the leases also require that the tenants reimburse the Highwoods Group for increases in certain costs above their base 
year costs. Expected future minimum rents to be received over the next five years and thereafter from related party and other tenants for leases 
in effect at December 31, 1993 are as follows:  

 

Two major tenants represented 11% and 10% of the Highwoods Group's total rental income for the year ended December 31, 1993.  
6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS There are several business relationships with related parties which involve management, leasing and 
maintenance fees for buildings, as well as advancing money in the ordinary course of business to other entities whose principal owners are 
partners in HPC. Total fees received from related parties for the period from January 1, 1994 to June 13, 1994 and for the years ended 
December 31, 1993, 1992 and 1991 were $10,989, $494,000, $516,000 and $330,000, respectively.  
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                                                                        Related        Other 
                                                                         Party        Tenants         Total 
1994............................................... ..................   $ 78,589    $ 9,371,140    $ 9 ,449,729  
1995............................................... ..................     78,589      8,943,983      9 ,022,572  
1996............................................... ..................     78,589      7,684,132      7 ,762,721  
1997............................................... ..................      6,549      6,223,503      6 ,230,052  
1998............................................... ..................         --      5,149,191      5 ,149,191  
Thereafter......................................... ..................         --     10,335,729     10 ,335,729  
                                                                        $242,316    $47,707,678    $47 ,949,994  



HIGHWOODS GROUP  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Continue d)  

6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS -- Continued Other related party transactions include leasing fees paid to an affiliated business of 
$2,267, $12,100, $6,300 and $56,000 for the period from January 1, 1994 to June 13, 1994 and during 1993, 1992 and 1991, respectively, 
partners' management fees of $-0- for the period from January 1, 1994 to June 13, 1994 $30,000 in each of 1993, 1992 and 1991 and rent paid 
to an affiliated business of $9,900, $34,000, $38,000 and $39,000 for the period from January 1, 1994 to June 13, 1994 and in 1993, 1992, and 
1991, respectively. During 1992, the Highwoods Group purchased a vehicle from a related company for approximately $21,000. The amount of 
land purchased from related parties for the years ended December 31, 1993 and 1991 was $142,284 and $888,854 respectively.  
7. SUBSEQUENT EVENT On June 14, 1994, the Highwoods Group transferred all of its assets and liabilities to Highwoods Realty Limited 
Partnership in connection with Highwoods Properties, Inc.'s initial public offering of common stock.  
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HIGHWOODS GROUP  
SCHEDULE III -- REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECI ATION  

December 31, 1993  

 

(A) The aggregate cost for Federal Income Tax purposes was approximately $59,629,835.  

(B) The property was acquired in 1993.  
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                                                            Cost Capitalized         Gross Amount at W hich 
                                  Initial Cost            Subsequent to Acquisition  Carried at Close of Period 
                                         Buildings &                Buildings &                 Buildi ngs & 
Description   Encumbrance      Land      Improvemen ts     Land      Improvements      Land      Improv ements    Total (A) 
Blue Ridge 
  II          $ 1,686,036   $   433,556           - -           --   $ 1,323,291    $   433,556  $ 1,32 3,291    $  1,756,847  
Cape 
Fear/Catawba    3,010,488       256,322           - -           --     3,258,258        256,322    3,25 8,258       3,514,580  
CompuChem       7,220,423       268,866           - -           --     6,097,552        268,866    6,09 7,552       6,366,418  
Expressway 
  One           1,794,970       241,583           - -           --     1,724,973        241,583    1,72 4,973       1,966,556  
Hawthorn        5,035,976       904,437           - -           --     3,767,097        904,437    3,76 7,097       4,671,534  
Highwoods 
  North         1,851,720     1,554,732           - -           --        48,892      1,554,732       4 8,892       1,603,624  
Highwoods 
  South         4,057,240     2,746,136           - -    $(249,225)           --      2,496,911           --       2,496,911  
Highwoods 
  Tower        17,000,000       203,419           - -           --    16,574,375        203,419   16,57 4,375      16,777,794  
Ironwood/ 
 Leatherwood    2,802,433       531,609   $2,126,43 5           --        68,611        531,609    2,19 5,046       2,726,655  
Kaiser          5,035,976       133,126           - -           --     3,564,301        133,126    3,56 4,301       3,697,427  
Rexwoods II     1,599,416       354,735           - -           --     1,773,567        354,735    1,77 3,567       2,128,302  
Rexwoods III    3,572,377       885,598           - -           --     2,709,598        885,598    2,70 9,598       3,595,196  
Rexwoods 
  Center        4,452,026       775,408           - -           --     3,243,234        775,408    3,24 3,234       4,018,642  
Riverbirch      4,739,742       448,314           - -           --     3,861,035        448,314    3,86 1,035       4,309,349  
              $63,858,823   $ 9,737,841   $2,126,43 5    $(249,225)  $48,014,784    $ 9,488,616  $50,14 1,219    $ 59,629,835  
                                             Life o n 
                                              Which  
              Accumulated     Date of      Deprecia tion 
Description   Depreciation  Construction   is Compu ted 
Blue Ridge 
  II          $  262,871        1988        5-40 yr s. 
Cape 
Fear/Catawba   1,660,012        1980        5-40 yr s. 
CompuChem      1,402,874        1980        5-40 yr s. 
Expressway 
  One            156,031        1990        5-40 yr s. 
Hawthorn       1,298,151        1987        5-40 yr s. 
Highwoods 
  North            7,566        1983        5-40 yr s. 
Highwoods 
  South               --        1983              N /A 
Highwoods 
  Tower        1,181,907        1991        5-40 yr s. 
Ironwood/ 
 Leatherwood       8,355          (B)       5-40 yr s. 
Kaiser           798,539        1988        5-40 yr s. 
Rexwoods II        9,615        1993        5-40 yr s. 
Rexwoods III     188,277        1992        5-40 yr s. 
Rexwoods 
  Center         468,538        1990        5-40 yr s. 
Riverbirch       597,156        1987        5-40 yr s. 
              $8,039,892 



HIGHWOODS GROUP  
SCHEDULE III -- REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECI ATION (CONTINUED)  

June 13, 1994  

The changes in the Highwoods Group for the period from January 1, 1994 to June 13, 1994 and for the three years ended December 31, 1993 
are as follows:  

 

(1) Land was acquired from related parties for $142,284 in 1993 and $888,854 in 1991. The changes in accumulated depreciation for the period 
from January 1, 1994 to June 13, 1994 and for the three years ending December 31, 1993 are as follows:  
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                                                    Period from 
                                                 Ja nuary 1, 1994 to 
                                                   June 13, 1994           1993          1992           1991 
Real estate balance at beginning of period....      $ 59,629,835       $ 53,478,294   $50,324,176    $ 34,218,255 
Properties developed (1)......................                --          2,128,302       686,918     15,680,331 
Properties acquired...........................                --          2,658,044            --             -- 
Improvements..................................         2,025,410          1,365,195     2,479,315        686,376 
Disposals.....................................                --                 --       (12,115)      (260,786)  
Balance at end of period......................      $ 61,655,245       $ 59,629,835   $53,478,294    $ 50,324,176 

                                                        Period from 
                                                     January 1, 1994 to 
                                                       June 13, 1994          1993          1992          1991 
Balance at beginning of period....................       $8,039,892        $ 6,852,176   $5,769,702    $4,928,759 
  Depreciation for period.........................          639,541          1,187,716    1,082,474       851,566 
  Disposals.......................................               --                 --           --       (10,623)  
Balance at end of period..........................       $8,679,433        $ 8,039,892   $6,852,176    $5,769,702 



SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Raleigh, State of North Carolina, on June 18, 1996.  

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.  
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                                          By: /s/        RONALD P. GIBSON 
                                               Ronald P. Gibson, President and 
                                                   Chief Executive Officer 
     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has 
been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates 
indicated. 

            Signature                                        Title                        Date 
/s/           O. TEMPLE SLOAN, JR.            Chair man of the Board of Directors     June 18, 1996  
       O. Temple Sloan, Jr. 
 /s/             RONALD P. GIBSON             Presi dent, Chief Executive Officer     June 18, 1996  
                                                and  Director 
         Ronald P. Gibson 
/s/           WILLIAM T. WILSON III           Execu tive Vice President, Chief        June 18, 1996  
                                                Ope rating Officer and Director 
      William T. Wilson III 
  /s/              JOHN L. TURNER             Vice Chairman of the Board and Chief 
                                                Inv estment Officer                   June 18, 1996  
          John L. Turner 
                                              Vice President and Director 
          John W. Eakin 
                                              Vice President and Director 
         Thomas S. Smith 
  /s/             THOMAS W. ADLER             Direc tor                               June 18, 1996  
         Thomas W. Adler 
/s/          WILLIAM E. GRAHAM, JR.           Direc tor                               June 18, 1996  
      William E. Graham, Jr. 
 /s/              ROBERT L. KIRBY             Direc tor                               June 18, 1996  
         Robert L. Kirby 
 /s/             L. GLENN ORR, JR.            Direc tor                               June 18, 1996  
        L. Glenn Orr, Jr. 
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           Signature                                        Title                        Date 
                                             Direct or 
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 /s/               STEPHEN TIMKO             Direct or                               June 18, 1996  
         Stephen Timko 
/s/             CARMAN J. LIUZZO             Chief Financial Officer (Principal     June 18, 1996  
                                               Fina ncial Officer and Principal 
        Carman J. Liuzzo                       Acco unting Officer) 


